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The year was characterized by increased 
and more widespread use of smart phones 
and tablet computers. Our websites 
have seen an impressive growth in traffic 
volumes for their mobile services, and for 
our media houses it is positive to see that 
VG and Aftonbladet are well ahead in this 
area. We want to become even better at 
mobile services in all areas; that is to say 
news, advertising formats and classified 
services. A growing number of our readers 
and users want to engage with us via their 
mobile phones – and we must make sure 
that we take best possible advantage of 
this trend.

There were other trends that also came to 
the fore in 2011. Digital revenues continued 
to rise. The media houses witnessed the 
continued structural trend of declining  
circulation figures for print. The uncertainty 
in the global economy curbed development 
of our key advertising markets.

Our response to these challenges is to  
continue our commitment to quality content 
combined with close attention to costs and 
collaboration across the group wherever 
it is natural to do so. The establishment 
of Schibsted Norge, where we gathered 
VG, Media Norge and Schisted Forlag, will 
be an important contribution to this end. 
We believe that closer collaboration will 
strengthen these companies in a period of 
radical change in our industry – and at a 
faster rate than ever before.

Quality journalism cannot be financed by 
advertising revenues alone; to be able to 
continue providing valuable journalism in 
the future, we must expand our revenue 
base by finding ways of also charging users 
for news on our digital platforms. The 
development of models to this end has 
high priority at Schibsted. One step in our 
work on making users’ digital everyday life 
as simple as possible is the creation of a 
common payment solution for all of  
Schibsted’s products and services. Whether 
they want to place an advertisement on 
Finn.no or gain access to premium content 
in Aftonbladet, we want to make it as easy 
as possible for our readers and customers 
by creating one common system for logging 
in and performing payment transactions. 
We have therefore established Schibsted 
Payment. This is one of several examples 
where collaboration across the group will 
contribute to making us stronger together.

In 2011 Schibsted Classified Media intens-
ified its work on establishing the Blocket 
model in other countries. Our traditional 
market leaders, such as Finn, Blocket and 
Leboncoin, continue to experience steady 
growth, and we now see that several of the 
launches we undertook in recent years are 
now really gaining momentum. Our invest-
ments in Italy and Austria are proof of this; 
they made profits in the fourth quarter of 
2011, and they open 2012 as the leading 
players in their markets. We are optimistic 
that other countries will soon follow suit. 
Successes like these confirm our belief 

that this is an area in which we excel and in 
which we have the capacity to take leading 
positions. Our modern, digital marketplaces 
make everyday life easier for people and 
lend themselves to increased reuse.  
We know that this is valued. We have 
therefore set ourselves the goal of becoming 
a worldwide leader in online classifieds in 
the course of the next three to five years. 
This is a demanding goal to achieve, but I 
am convinced that we have what it takes 
to succeed in the form of good products 
and our extremely high level of employee 
competence.

We are pleased to note that the heavy 
traffic volumes on our websites are also 
providing a valuable boost to our portfolio 
of new and promising growth companies 
such as our consumer services Prisjakt and 
Let’sDeal. Services like these are growing 
in terms of both sales and importance. 
In Sweden the growth companies are 
gathered under Schibsted Tillväxtmedier, 
while in Norway they are gathered under 
Norge Schibsted Vekst. This is yet another 
example of intra-group collaboration  
making us stronger. 

In 2011 the work on Schibsted’s new vision 
was completed. This vision will serve as a 
guide and remind us of what we want to 
accomplish in the years ahead. Throughout 
our long and proud history we have been 
driven by an urge to challenge the  
established, to think in new directions and 
to do so swiftly and effectively. We want 

Schibsted Media Group delivered good financial results for 2011. Our established activities in online classifieds 
are experiencing dramatic growth in revenues and margins. The media houses have seen steady trends 
based on quality journalism, strong products on multiple platforms, and good cost control. More than a third 
of our revenues are derived from digital sources. Schibsted is well poised to face a new year in which  
technology development – particularly in mobile – will accelerate at an even faster rate.

strENgth IN 
COllabOratION
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to play a defining role in creating our own 
future. We want to shape the media of 
tomorrow. Today. This is our vision, and it 
is something we will always aim for.

The way in which we are perceived by the 
society in which we operate is influenced by 
the way we present and conduct ourselves. 
This will in turn have a bearing on our 
results and on whether or not we achieve 
our goals. Schibsted’s core values are: We 
have Integrity. We are Innovative. We are 
a Team. We are here to Win. I am proud 
of the work that has been accomplished, 
and am convinced that our vision, mission 
and values will provide us with the right 
guidelines in the time ahead.

In a knowledge enterprise like Schibsted 
Media Group, our people represent our 
most important resource. This may be a 
cliché, but it is nonetheless true, and it 
was borne out by the events that unfolded 
in the aftermath of the horrifying terrorist 
attacks on Oslo and Utøya Island on 22 
July. Our people in VG, Aftenposten, Finn 
and Schibsted ASA had to evacuate their 
buildings. Despite this, VG and Aftenposten 
managed to sustain a high quality in their 
print and online news coverage during 

those dramatic hours and days. Despite 
numerous challenges, our social mission 
was fulfilled in the best possible way. All 
our people who were involved made ex-
traordinary efforts when Oslo was struck 
by terrorism. The concern and kindness we 
were shown by other parts of the group 
outside Norway served as a reminder 
of the solidarity that is emerging within 
Schibsted Media Group. We are grateful that 
none of our colleagues came to physical 
harm, but we share the grief and horror of 
the numerous people who were directly 
or indirectly affected. These atrocities will 
leave their mark on Norwegian society for 
a long time to come. 

Rapid technological changes have placed 
the media industry in a far-reaching and 
demanding phase of reorganization. Yes, 
the print circulations figures are declining, 
but with the new digital platforms we are 
reaching more readers and users than ever 
before. Change should not, therefore, be 
something to be regarded with fear.  
With assertive thinking and high-level  
competence, we now have a unique  
opportunity to have a say in shaping the 
media of tomorrow. Today.

rOlv ErIK 
ryssDal

Konsernsjef
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(MNOK) 2011 2010 2009
Operating revenues 14,378 13,768 12,745

Operating expenses (12,232) (11,605) (11,184)

share of profit (loss) from associated companies 39 36 (67)

Gross operating profit (loss) (EBITDA) 2,185 2,199 1,494

Depreciation and amortisation (505) (588) (662)

Impairment loss (191) (110) (161)

Other revenues and expenses (50) 1,909 (236)

Operating profit (loss) 1,439 3,410 435

Profit (loss) before taxes 1,331 3,399 279

gross operating margin EbItDa (%) 15 16 12

Equity ratio (%) 41 42 35

Net interestbearing debt/EbItDa 0.8 0.8 1.7

Earnings per share (NOK) 7.00 27.04 4.74

Diluted earnings per share (NOK) 6.99 27.01 4.74

Cashflow from operating activities per share (NOK) 15.24 18.78 11.77

MEDIA HOUSES SCANDINAVIA   

Operating revenues 9,991 9,771 8,657

gross operating profit (EbItDa) 1,275 1,324 755

gross operating margin (EbItDa) (%) 13 14 9

MEDIA HOUSES INTERNATIONAL   

Operating revenues 1,004 1, 009 1, 074

gross operating profit (EbItDa) 38 60 10

gross operating margin (EbItDa) (%) 4 6 1

ONLINE CLASSIFIEDS   

Operating revenues 3,495 2, 938 2, 627

gross operating profit (EbItDa) 1,076 972 803

gross operating margin (EbItDa) (%) 31 33 31

CIRCULATION 2011 2010 2009

aftenposten morning edition, weekdays 235,795 239,831 243,188

aften, afternoon edition 101,754 105,012 111,566

aftenposten, sunday edition 206,645 210,608 212,835

bergens tidende, weekday edition 79,497 82,432 83,086

bergens tidende, sunday edition 78,371 80,971 80,235

stavanger aftenblad, weekday edition 63,283 63,988 65,298

Fædrelandsvennen, weekday edition 36,603 37,541 39,454

verdens gang, weekday edition 211,588 233,295 262,374

verdens gang, sunday edition 198,105 206,646 221,349

svenska Dagbladet, weekday edition 185,600 192,000 195,400

svenska Dagbladet, sunday edition 188,900 196,610 204,900

DEFINITIONS
EBITDA margin  Gross operating profit (loss) /Operating revenues
Equity ratio Equity / Total assets.
Earnings per share   Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the parent / Average number of shares outstanding.

KEy FIgurEs
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schibsted is a scandinavian 
media group with approximately  
7,400 employees in 27 countries. 
schibsted’s strategy comprises 
two main objectives: further 
development of our media 
houses and establishment of 
online classifieds.

Our objective is to develop our business 
activities so that we can offer our users 
a wide range of services, irrespective of 
which channels they choose to use.  
The diversity of Schibsted’s product  
range is closely aligned with our strong 
tradition of editorial freedom and our 
ability to adapt to a media market that is 
constantly undergoing rapid change.

MEDIA HOUSES
Strong media houses form the foundation 
for our business. Our strategy for growth 
is based on close cooperation between the 
variuos media channels.

Several of our media houses are among 
Europe’s leading online newspapers and 
pioneers in the fields of web TV, mobile 
and paid online services. The industry 
know-how our media houses possess 
about the interaction between established 
and new media forms much of the basis 
for our ambitions for future growth.

Media Houses Scandinavia
• Media Norge 
• Schibsted Sverige
• VG
• Schibsted Forlag

Media Houses International
• 20 Minutes (France)
• 20 Minutos (Spain)
• Eesti Meedia Group

ONLINE CLASSIFIEDS
In recent years we have been systematically 
expanding our online classifieds business, 
both through acquisitions and organic 
growth. The online classifieds segment is a 
long-standing part of our business model, 
and these transformations will ensure that 
it continues to be so for a long time to come.

• Finn.no
• Schibsted Classified Media
• Hitta.se

sChIbstED 
MEDIa grOup
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• Strong growth in digital media. Rapid growth in mobile.
• Positive trend in advertising sales. Decline in the circulation for 

the print newspaper. 
• Schibsted acquires all the shares in Media Norge.

MEDIA HOUSES SCANDINAVIA (MNOK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 9,991 9,711

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 1,275 1,324

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 13 % 14 %

Media Houses Scandinavia showed a positive trend for advertising sales in 2011, a slightly 
weaker trend for print, and a decline in circulation revenues. The underlying growth in  
operating revenues was two per cent and is equivalent to the growth in reported revenues.

Included in this business area are the media houses in Media Norge, VG, Schibsted Sverige, 
and the group’s publishing operations.

MEDIa hOusEs
sCaNDINavIa
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• good growth for the online newspapers and stronger investment 
in digital development.

• Slightly weaker circulation (-2%). Growth for print advertising.
• Media Norge wholly owned by Schibsted ASA from May 2011.

MEDIA NORGE MEDIA HOUSES ex. FINN (MNOK) 2011 2010
advertising revenues, print 2,129 2,136

Circulation revenues, print 1,365 1,331

Online revenues 231 187

Other revenues 890 818

Operating revenues 4,615 4,472

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 619 588

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 13 % 13 %

Media Norge comprise four media houses: Aftenposten, Bergens Tidende, Stavanger 
Aftenblad and Fædrelandsvennen. Finn.no is organizationally part of Media Norge but is 
reported as part of the online classifieds business area. 2011 was the first full year of  
operation for Media Norge Trykk, which comprise five operative printing entities in Oslo, 
Bergen (2), Stavanger and Kristiansand.

In 2011 Aftenposten, Bergens Tidende and Stavanger Aftenblad improved their operating  
profits as a result of efficient cost control and increased advertising and other operating 
revenues. Fædrelandsvennen increased the operating revenues in 2011 but also had higher 
costs. At the same time the results for the online newspapers continued to improve, both 
financially and in terms of readership.

In May 2011 the merger between Schibsted ASA and Media Norge was completed in order to  
consolidate the vital work on developing the group and the media houses.

MEASURES IMPLEMENTED
• New editorial system put into production 

in all the media houses.
• Ongoing project in advertisement  

production and sales.
• The printing group Media Norge Trykk AS 

was established.

MEDIa NOrgE 
- MEDIA HOUSES
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• Online and mobile increased, which means that the media 
house’s total readership remained stable. 

• The morning edition maintained its position as Norway’s largest 
print newspaper measured in paid circulation, but the number of 
print readers fell (6-7 per cent).

• Quite a high number of readers used Aftenposten’s digital  
products after 22 July, and this has contributed to a lasting 
increase in the number of users.

AFTENPOSTEN (MNOK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 2,138 2,094

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  277 204
profit (loss) from associated companies

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 13 % 10 %

Aftenposten’s core business is the publication of newpapers and the sale of brand and 
classified advertising on print and digital platforms. 

The positive trend in advertising revenues throughout 2010 continued in the first half of 
2011 but then levelled off. The turbulence in the international financial markets is affecting  
advertisers, and uncertainty remains as to how the situation will develop in the time 
ahead. The weaker trend for the second half of 2011, compared to 2010, mainly pertained 
to the recruitment, brand and commercial markets. 

Circulation revenues showed a positive trend. Circulation for the morning edition, including 
eAvis, was 235,795 copies (-1.7%) at year-end. Accumulated for 2011, Aftenposten had an 
average of 1,240,000 unique users every week online, representing a growth of 14 per cent. 
For mobile the number of unique users was 191,000, representing a growth of 138 per cent.

Aftenposten Forlag’s magazines showed positive trends. Innsikt experienced solid growth 
in subscriptions, and the new monthly cultural magazine, Aftenposten K, got off to a  
promising start. The niche magazines are key elements in the company’s strategy of  
offering both existing and new customers more products.

Close monitoring of costs contributed to a positive trend in profit for the Group. The print 
products accounted for most of the profit. Activities on digital platforms showed a  
marginal positive result.

Sondre Gravir is the new CEO of Aftenposten as of 1 January 2012.

PRODUCT CHANGES
• iPad application with two daily editions, 

and a separate solution for A-magasinet.
• Launched the cultural magazines K and 

the food magazine Mat fra Norge.
• Launch of the digital subscription 

package consisting of Aftenposten and 
A-magasinet on iPad and the morning 
edition and Aften as e-papers.

• In September, Aftenposten and MSN 
launched Nyhetene24.no to reach more 
readers with the media house’s quality 
content.

• A new editorial production system and 
new design for the morning edition and  
Aftenposten.no. New design for the 
weekend newspapers.

AMBITIONS
• Develop digital products for online, tablet 

and mobile so that brand position and 
coverage in the core area are improved.

• Boost the strength of digital advertising 
sales by showcasing target groups and 
the impact to advertisers.

• Intensify efforts in the reader market to 
ensure a continued stable position for the 
morning newspaper in the core area.

• Increase sales for digital paid products.
• Cross-selling of the newspapers, the 

magazines and the digital products.

aFtENpOstEN
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• Strong growth in the number of users on digital platforms.  
record figures for online and mobile.

• New Sunday newspaper offering more in-depth, insight and  
commentaries. 

• Launch of the fitness service Sprek. 
• Most-awarded media house in European Newspaper Design and 

most-awarded in the Picture of the Year competition.

BERGENS TIDENDE (MNOK) *) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 947 886

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  145 133
profit (loss) from associated companies

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 15 % 15 %

*) ex. printing plants

Bergens Tidende media house is now Western Norway’s leading media enterprise.  
The core business is the publication of the Bergens Tidende newspaper, which has a daily 
readership of a quarter of a million. BT has online, mobile and tablet editions, and is a digital 
media leader through bt.no. BT also operates extensive distribution activities and owns 
several local newspapers. 

The positive trend from 2010 continued in 2011. The media house has consolidated its leading 
position in its media channels within its circulation area, and has won new market shares. 
Growth in digital media has been quite positive, with a record traffic volume in November of 
more than 600,000 unique users per week for bt.no. 2011 was also the year when mobile 
traffic exploded. BT mobile showed a growth of 150 per cent for the year.

At the start of the year BT experienced the power of social media. Editor-in-Chief Trine  
Eilertsen’s commentary “Lærer Bjørndals metode” [Teacher Bjørndal’s method] had over 
200,000 page views on bt.no and was shared with more than 60,000 times on Facebook.

Advertising revenues for print were on same level as previous year, while online revenues 
grew sharply. The demand for advertising in the online newspaper and mobile edition 
is growing steadily. All the categories on bt.no have grown, and online recruitment has 
shown a particularly positive trend.

The circulation figure for the main newspaper Bergens Tidende was 79,467 (- 3.6 %) for 
weekday editions, while the local newspapers had a total circulation of 25,852.

PRODUCT CHANGES
• New Sunday newspaper offering more 

in-depth, insight and commentaries.
• “Preik”, a new online commentary and 

debate section, has become one of the 
most-read sections of bt.no.

• Digitization of “Døden på veiene” [Death  
on the Roads], which won the Norwegian 
Online News Association’s NONA Award 
and the Schibsted Journalism Award for 
Best Innovative Entry.

• Launch of the service entitled “Sprek” 
with a corporate competition in the  
autumn of 2011 resulted in 6,500 users.

• The advertising service BTNyttig, aimed 
at small enterprises and launched in the 
autumn of 2011, has proved successful.

AMBITIONS
• Improve editorial quality and reader  

satisfaction. 
• Achieve satisfied customers, revenue 

growth and growth in new channels. 
• Step up the pace of innovation to  

generate new revenues and expand the 
product portfolio. 

• Develop a future-oriented organization 
with committed employees and  
continuous performance and process 
improvements. 

bErgENs
tIDENDE
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• Strong growth in revenues for aftenbladet.no. A doubling in the 
number of users on the mobile platform.

• Digital business delivered positive results.
• Circulation for the print newspaper was down 1.1 per cent.
• In 2011 Aftenbladet was the metropolitan newspaper in  

Norway with the highest revenues per user online and per 
reader print. 

• Lars Helle is the new Editor-in-Chief as of 1 January 2012.

STAVANGER AFTENBLAD (MNOK) *) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 638 617

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  94 69
profit (loss) from associated companies

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 15 % 11 %

*) ex. printing plant

Stavanger Aftenblad media house publishes the Stavanger Aftenbladet newspaper and 
operates the Aftenbladet.no website.

Aftenbladet was one of the few newspapers that increased its readership between the 
autumn of 2010 and the autumn of 2011. The readership grew by 3,000 in one year.

Aftenbladet total advertising revenues were on the same level as previous year, with a 
significant improvement for aftenbladet.no.

Circulation revenues increased. Average newspaper circulation for Stavanger Aftenblad 
was  63,283 (-1,1%).

Aftenbladet Distribusjon has improved on quality measured by the number of complaints.

PRODUCT CHANGES
• The print newspaper was extensively  

redesigned in the spring of 2011, at the 
same time as a new production system 
and a new framework for the online  
edition were introduced. 

• Aftenbladet.no mobile edition and news 
app were redesigned in May.

stavaNgEr
aFtENblaD
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• Large-scale project to prepare for the payment of online products. 
• Fædrelandsvennen will be the pilot for a paid e-services concept 

in Media Norge.
• Increased commitment to web TV.

FæDRELANDSVENNEN (MNOK) *) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 413 400

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  27 39
profit (loss) from associated companies

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 7 % 10 %

*) ex. printing plant

Fædrelandsvennen is the leading media house in Southern Norway. The principal business 
activities comprise the publication of the newspaper Fædrelandsvennen and the online 
newspaper fvn.no.

Advertising revenues for print weakened slightly, while online revenues grew sharply. 
Circulation revenues amounted to NOK 114 million (2.7%). The average newspaper circulation 
was 36,603 copies (-2.5%).

A project to examine the payment of products available online resulted in extraordinary 
expenses in 2011. 

PRODUCT CHANGES
• Strengthened news coverage through 

a clearer division of responsibilities for 
politics and finance, among others. 

• More content published on fvn.no. This 
has contributed to significant growth in 
the online traffic.

• Increased commitment to web TV.  
Live transmission of several large-scale 
events.

FÆDrElaNDsvENNEN
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• strong digital growth. aftonbladet’s advertising revenues for online 
were higher than for print several months during the year.

• Svenska Dagbladet was awarded Digital Newspaper of the 
year by the swedish newspaper publishing association  
tidningsutgivarna (tu). 

• Tillväxtmedier launched the in-house developed services 
suredo.se, and elpriser.se as an important part of the focus on 
financial services.

SCHIBSTED SVERIGE MEDIA HOUSES (MSEK) ex. HITTA 2011 2010
advertising revenues, print 931 962

Circulation revenues, print 1,842 2,006

Online revenues 1,145 944

Other revenues 2 (12)

Operating revenues 3,920 3,900

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 429 453

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 11 % 12 %

Schibsted Sverige comprises three main business areas: Aftonbladet (single-copy print 
newspaper and online newspaper), Svenska Dagbladet (morning print newspaper and 
online newspaper) and Schibsted Tillväxtmedier (internet-based growth companies). While 
Hitta.se is organizationally part of Schibsted Tillväxtmedier, it is reported as part of Online 
classifieds.

sChIbstED
svErIgE
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• New traffic records for www.aftonbladet.se during the tsunami, 
the meltdown of the nuclear power plant in Japan (Fukushima) 
and the dramatic developments in libya. 6.1 million unique users 
in week 11.

• At the start of 2012 Aftonbladet had 700,000 daily users on the 
mobile platform; a clear leader in the swedish market.

• The number of paying subscribers online grew to 134,000 during 
the year.

• At the start of 2012 Aftonbladet had approximately 100,000 
daily users via ipad.

• Advertising revenues online were higher than for print in several 
of the months during the year.

AFTONBLADET (MSEK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 2,239 2,443

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  310 333
profit (loss) from associated companies

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 14 % 14 %

Aftonbladet is Sweden’s largest news source with 2,500,000 daily users; approximately one 
million more than the closest competitor.

Aftonbladet is the leading news media in all channels: print, web, mobile and web TV.

Aftonbladet is leading the way in developing the media industry’s structural reorganization 
and is focusing the efforts on responding to the readers’ new media habits. Soon two out of 
three readers will be online, on the web and mobile.

In 2011 Aftonbladet won several prestigious awards for the journalism.

PRODUCT CHANGES
• Shifted focus from circulation figures to 

reach and from print to online for both 
the journalistic product and the revenue 
streams. Major reorganization in the 
autumn of 2011 was part of this process.

• Systematic and targeted work on the 
payment service Plus to increase the 
number of subscribers online. 

• Continuous development of the mobile 
version of Aftonbladet.se. Traffic on the 
mobile platform now represents  
approximately 25 per cent of  
Aftonbladet’s Internet traffic.

• Carried out strategically important 
projects for redesigning both the web and 
print editions.

AMBITIONS
• Continuing the development of payment 

for online services, editoially as well as 
commercially.

• Develop new methods of investigative 
journalism based on the digital channels.

• Develop business models for all channels.

aFtONblaDEt
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• Svenska Dagbladet was awarded Digital Newspaper of the 
year by the swedish newspaper publishing association  
tidningsutgivarna (tu). 

• Awarded Guldspaden for the best investigative journalism.
• Strong growth for www.svd.se in terms of both traffic and  

advertising revenues.
• Good progress for the new SvD Näringsliv and the iPad  

magazine svD Insikt.
• Launched a completely new digital package for subscribers.

SVENSKA DAGBLADET (MSEK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 1,148 1,144

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  87 105
profit (loss) from associated companies

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 8 % 9 %

Svenska Dagbladet is a Swedish subscription-based, national newspaper with a  
particularly strong position in the Stockholm region.

Advertising revenues for print remained at the same level as for 2010.

Weekday circulation for the newspaper was 185,600 copies (-3.3 %). Circulation revenues 
grew by 2 per cent from 2010 to 2011.

Svenska Dagbladet is continuosly improving, resulting in the Swedish Newspaper Publishing  
Association’s (Tidningsutgivernas) awarded both the newspaper and the company the Digital 
Newspaper of the Year. The justification states that SvD had “dared to swim against the 
tide and create something new and visionary”. 

PRODUCT CHANGES
• Extensive redesign of www.svd.se, with a 

new structure for updating news.
• Extensive reorganization of the financial 

supplement SvD Näringsliv.
• Launch of the monthly magazine SvD 

Insikt for iPad.
• Launch of a subscription package for 

digital products.

MEASURES IMPLEMENTED
• Rationalization of the editorial tasks.
• Increased focus on planned production 

with new editorial staff and agenda-
setting journalism.

• Continued focus on pricing and customer 
strategies that have resulted in increased 
circulation revenues despite a slight drop 
in circulation.

AMBITIONS
• The new editorial organization will be 

more active in setting the agenda for 
Swedish news through interaction with 
the readers.

• Continue the successful trend in mobile 
services. 

• Win market shares in the advertising 
market with new and creative solutions.

• Further growth in traffic and page views 
for the new www.svd.se website.

svENsKa
DagblaDEt
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• Launched the in-house developed services suredo.se and  
elpriser.se as an important part of the focus on financial services.

• Acquisition of Servicefinder.se and Klart.se as part of the  
strategy of reaching the local advertising markets.

• Continued development of the existing portfolio.

SCHIBSTED TILLVäxTMEDIER (MSEK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 635 451

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  38 16
profit (loss) from associated companies

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 6 % 4 %

Schibsted Tillväxtmedier owns a number of growing Swedish internet companies. The 
company’s digital marketplaces and consumer services hold a very strong position. While 
Hitta.se is owned by Schibsted Tillväxtmedier, it is reported as part of the online classifieds 
business area.

Tillväxtmedier has acknowledged the importance on developing the company’s strategy. 
The goal is that Tillväxtmedier should consolidate and strengthen the national, Swedish 
position on the Internet. Many companies have continued their favourable trends through-
out 2011. The companies have mostly succeeded in increasing their market shares in a 
highly competitive and complex market in rapid growth. Total sales grew by 41 per cent 
from 2010 and profits were more than doubled. This year has also been used to consolidate 
and refine the portfolio; Hard Hat, E24 and Jobb24 were removed from Tillväxtmedier.

Schibsted Media Group’s position gives Tillväxtmedier good opportunities to make interesting 
investments in the most exciting companies in the market. Acquisitions made during the 
year were Servicefinder.se, an online marketplace, and Klart.se, a weather service.

Most of the companies exceeded their own targets, both in terms of sales, profits and 
market shares. 

AMBITIONS 
• Continue the development of the  

acquisition strategy.
• Refining the portfolio.
• Continue to focus on the company’s  

earnings.

sChIbstED
tIllvÄXtMEDIEr
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• Total media house coverage (print, web, mobile): of more than 
two million people.

• Strong growth in traffic and revenues for mobile; the users are 
moving to mobile devices.

• New platform for paid services on VG Nett.
• Breakthrough for live TV on the web, and VGTV established as 

an important news channel.
• Launch of several paid services.

VG  MEDIA HOUSE (MNOK) 2011 2010
advertising revenues, print 360 418

Circulation revenues, print 1,115 1,143

Online revenues 365 328

Other revenues 66 20

Operating revenues 1,906 1,909

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 310 338

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 16 % 18 %

The VG media house publishes VG, Norway’s largest single-copy newspaper, vg.no, 
Norway’s largest website, touch.vg for mobile devices, and Dine Penger, Norway’s largest 
personal finance magazine. The media house operates E24, Norway’s most-visited business 
and financial news website, and the online tender service Mittanbud.no.

The decline in print circulation was partly compensated for by a price increase. Advertising 
revenues for the VG media house increased in 2011.

The average newspaper circulation (weekdays) was 211,588 copies (-9.3 %). The fall in 
circulation remained at the same level as for the recent years.

Total advertising revenues for the VG media house increased by 2 per cent compared to 
2010. Advertising revenues for VG print fell, while online revenues rose.

There was also a focus on profitability measures in 2011. The IT and finance staff functions 
were coordinated within Schibsted.

In a market undergoing rapid change, the VG media house is strongly committed to digital 
products. During 2011 many of VG’s users made the transition to VG’s digital products on 
mobile phones and tablets. Cooperation with Schibsted’s other online services has been 

vg MEDIa
hOusE
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consolidated during the course of the year. The media house can develop and offer adver-
tisers exciting and attractive solutions that combine print, web, web TV, tablet and mobile.

VG Nett holds a firm position as Norway’s largest and most important news website, and 
the number of visitors per day to VG Nett continued to grow in 2011. The average number 
of daily users was 5 per cent higher than in 2010, despite the closure of Nettby at the turn 
of 2010/2011.

VG’s web TV venture, VGTV, also reported good growth in 2011. The number of weekly 
users grew by 41 per cent, while the number of page views grew by 27 per cent compared 
to previous year.

VG mobile achieved impressive growth. The number of weekly users grew by 109 per cent, 
while the number of page views grew by as much as 144 per cent when looking at week 
52 in 2011 compared with the same period in 2010.

2011 was an extreme year in terms of news. The events in Japan, North Africa and not 
least, in Norway on 22 July, presented immense journalistic and technical/operational 
challenges for VG. As well as the expected growth on the web, these events accelerated 
the transition to mobile platforms. 

PRODUCT CHANGES
• VGTV established as a news channel, and 

the breakthrough for live TV on the web.
• Launch of various apps to boost mobile 

traffic and accessibility.
• Several new advertising formats for print, 

web, web TV and mobile.

AMBITIONS
• VG will challenge, amaze, delight, engage 

and help, and we shall never be boring.
• VG will have the expertise to shape the 

everyday media of the future.
• VG will be Norway’s most attractive and 

innovative media house.
• VG will be a media house with good  

profitability.
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• Increased sale sof books in 2011.
• Increased distribution through the grocery chains.
• Actively engaged in the development of e-books.

SCHIBSTED FORLAG (MNOK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 241 240

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 14 16

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 6 % 7 %

The dominant part of the publishing house’s businesses is the sale of books. Revenues 
from these activities increased by 5 per cent in 2011. Earnings were marginally lower than 
for 2010. This was mainly due to higher distribution and warehousing costs.

The smaller magazine and cartoon series activities showed a fall in revenues of 4 per cent, 
resulting in a considerably weaker contribution than last year.

Schibsted Forlag is the country’s second-largest publisher of Norwegian fiction series and 
light fiction series in the book format. As well as marketing through the traditional bookstore 
chains, in 2011 Schibsted Forlag participated in a large-scale introduction of new categories 
of literature for sale through the grocery chains. 

The publishing house is actively engaged in developing e-book sales for Norwegian readers, 
and is looking at all potential suppliers of e-book distribution services. The sale of e-books 
in the categories distributed by Schibsted Forlag is currently not that significant. 

sChIbstED
FOrlag
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• Successful expansion in France; new revenue record for 20 
Minutes.

• The results in Spain were adversely impacted due to the  
financial crisis.

MEDIA HOUSES INTERNATIONAL (MNOK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 1,004 1,009

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 38 60

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 4 % 6 %

Schibsted Media Group’s media houses outside of Norway and Sweden are located in 
Spain, France, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. 

The operating margin (EBITDA) fell slightly due to the focus on increased distribution in 
France and the weak results for the Spanish operation. Spain has a very difficult macro-
economic situation and no solution in sight. The result was charged with costs for the 
successful investments in product development.

In 2011 the international media houses had an underlying growth in operating revenues of 
two per cent.

MEDIa hOusEs
INtErNatIONal
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• Consolidated the leading position in terms of circulation figures, 
readership and traffic for the online edition, despite strong  
competition. 

• Strengthened its business model with a positive operating profit 
for the fourth consecutive year.

• Successful expansion through the launch of a national edition in 
20 new cities in 2011 gave strong growth in revenues (+16%).

20 MINUTES (France) (MEUR) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 60.6 52.4

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 2.5 3.6

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 4 % 7 %

As of January 2012, the newspaper 20 Minutes is published in the 40 largest cities in France 
and has a weekday readership of 2.8 million. Schibsted’s ownership is 50 per cent.

Despite a difficult advertising market, 20 Minutes increased its market share. Revenues rose 
by 16 per cent, which made 2011 the best year so far in the history of the newspaper in terms 
of revenues.

20 Minutes consolidated its position as France’s most-read newspaper, well ahead of its rivals 
Metro, L’Equipe (sports newspaper), Le Parisien, Le Monde and Direct Matin.

20minutes.fr
20minutes.fr is 20 Minutes’ website in France. The position as France’s third-most-visited 
online news site has contributed to enhanced brand awareness throughout France.

Traffic on the online news site 20minutes.fr continued to rise in 2011, and the site had more 
than 6 million unique visitors in each of the final months of 2011. This consolidated 20minutes.
fr’s position as France’s third-most popular online news site.

• More than one million downloaded applications for smart phones/iPad.
• Completed several successful launches on new media platforms.

E24.fr is the French version of Schibsted’s online business and financial news site. The website 
is operated by the business and finance editorial staff of 20minutes.fr. 

AMBITIONS
• Continued expansion of the print edition 

of 20 Minutes.
• Strengthen its position as one of the 

three leading players in digital publishing 
in France on all platforms. 

20 MINutEs
(FraNCE)
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• 20 Minutos and 20minutos.es consolidated their leading 
positions in the market. 

• the financial crisis in spain has had a negative impact on revenues.

20 MINUTOS (Spain) (MEUR) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 22.3 26.0

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) (3.6) 0.4

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) (16 %) 2 %

20 Minutos is Spain’s most-read general newspaper, with a weekday readership of 2.1 
million. The newspaper is published in 15 different local editions and covers the largest 
cities in Spain. 

Its rival, ADN, closed down in December 2011 after six years of operations. The remaining 
free newspaper competitor is Que.

20minutos.es
• 20minutos.es has increased traffic and gained a stronger position in 2011.
• 20minutos.es is the world’s third most visited Spanish-language online news site.  

The growth continues in Spain, Latin America and the USA. At the end of 2011 the  
website had more than 17 million unique users per month.

AMBITIONS
• Strengthen the leading positions.
• Continue product development of new 

services for readers and users.

20 MINutOs
(spaIN)
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• Establishment in Latvia through acquisition of the news portal 
tvnet.lv.

• Strong growth in the traffic strengthened the market positions 
for the online news sites postimees.ee and 15min.lt.

• Record profits for Kroonpress printing house.
• Leading position in TV, with a broad offering of channels.

EESTI MEEDIA (MEUR) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 75.6 72.2

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 7.5 6.2

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 10 % 9 %

Eesti Meedia Group is the holding company for all of Schibsted’s activities in the Baltic states: 
Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. The economy showed signs of improvement in 2011, but the 
prevailing uncertainty in Europe means that the rate of growth still is modest. 

Despite difficult market conditions in 2011, the operating margin and market shares increased 
compared to previous year.

Eesti Meedia Group is the leading media house in Estonia, and owns the country’s largest TV 
company comprising Kanal 2, Kanal 11 and Kanal 12, the national newspapers Postimees and 
Õhtuleht, and Kroonpress printing house. The local newspaper Ühinenud Ajalehed and the 
magazine Ajakirjade Kirjastus is also in the portfolio.

The media house is leading the market for online news sites, with postimees.ee and several 
local news sites, and is now winning market shares in the online classifieds through soov.ee. 

The Lithuanian operation includes the magazine publisher ZLG, the news portal 15min.lt, 
the free newspaper 15min and the classified services Autoplius.lt and Plius.lt.

AMBITIONS
• Become the leading supplier of online 

news in the Baltic states.
• Become the leading company in online 

classifieds in all markets.
• Retain leading positions in print media 

and TV.

EEstI MEEDIa 
grOup
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EDItOrIal 
aCtIvItIEs

Postimees
Postimees is one of Estonia’s largest media 
companies, with operations in newspaper 
and online news activities. Postimees’ main 
edition in Estonian has a circulation of 
60,000. The Russian-language edition in 
Russian has a circulation of 10,000.  
Postimees also publishes a weekly news-
paper in Russian.

The online news site postimees.ee continues 
to grow, and is currently the second-largest 
in Estonia with 850,000 unique users 
per week. New niche channels are being 
launched on the back of the traffic of  
postimees.ee.

Õhtuleht
The tabloid newspaper Õhtuleht is the 
second-largest newspaper in Estonia, with 
a circulation of 50,000, and the third-
largest online news site, with 350,000 
unique users per week. The company also 
publishes the free newspaper Linnaleht.

Ühinenud Ajalehed
Ühinenud Ajalehed publishes five local 
newspapers in Estonia: Pärnu Postimees, 
Sakala, Virumaa Teataja, Järva Teataja 
and Valgamaalane, representing a total  
circulation of 35,000. All the newspapers 
have local online news sites which,  
combined with the print editions, make 
them the dominant news agency in their 
respective regions.

Kanal 2
Kanal 2 is the largest TV channel in Estonia, 
with an audience share of 16 per cent. In 
conjunction with the transition to digital 
transmissions, two niche channels were 
launched, one aimed at women (Kanal 11), 
the other aimed at men (Kanal 12). 

Ajakirjade Kirjastus
Ajakirjade Kirjastus is the leading weekly 
press publisher in Estonia. Kroonika is the 
largest magazine. 

15 minuciu
The free newspaper 15 minuciu has been 
operating the online news site 15min.lt 
in Lithuania since 2008. This is now the 
second-largest new site in the country, 
with more than 700,000 unique users per 
week. Plans to turn the newspaper into a 
weekly publication are underway.

ZLG
With its five magazine products, Zurnalu 
leidybos grupe (ZLG) is the largest pub-
lisher of weekly magazines in Lithuania. 
120,000 copies of Žmones, the largest 
magazine, are printed every week. The 
online site zmones24.lt was established on 
the back of the traffic of 15min.lt.

TVNET.lv
TVNET.lv is Eesti Meedia’s first venture in 
Latvia, and is the result of an acquisition. 
The news portal originated in a TV station, 
and is today the second-largest online 
news site in Latvia, with 550,000 unique 
users per month.  

ONlINE ClassIFIEDs  
WEbsItEs

Soov.ee
Based on the Blocket concept, Soov.ee is 
the fastest-growing website for classifieds 
in Estonia. The ambition is to become the 
market leader by developing new services 
and capitalizing on the market position 
held by Eesti Meedia in Estonia.

Plius.lt
The main product is autoplius.lt, a profitable 
market leader in classifieds for used cars 
in Lithuania. The real estate portal  
Domoplius.lt and the general classifieds 
site Plius.lt are being established.

prINtINg hOusEs

Kroonpress
Kroonpress is a modern, efficient printing 
plant producing all of Eesti Media’s news-
papers and magazines in Estonia and  
Lithuania. The printing plant is also winning 
market shares outside the Baltic states, in 
Sweden and Norway in particular.

COMpaNIEs IN 
EEstI MEEDIa grOup
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• Leboncoin is the leading online classifieds website in France 
and the third-largest in Europe.

• Finn achieved more than NOK 1 billion in sales and  
NOK 500 million in EbItDa. 

• High growth rate. 21 per cent underlying revenue growth.
• Increased operating margin for Established businesses.
• Intensified investment in new international businesses based 

on the blocket concept.
• Ambitions for continued strong growth.

ONLINE RUBRIKK (MNOK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 3,495 2,938

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 1,076 972

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 31 % 33 %

Schibsted holds strong and profitable market positions in online classifieds in Norway, 
Sweden, France, Spain and Ireland. The business area also includes a portfolio of websites 
in the investment phase in several different markets.

2011 saw positive trends for online classifieds in all markets. This business area showed 
underlying growth in operating revenues (adjusted for currency fluctuations, closure and 
acquisitions and disposals) of 21 per cent.

Online classified businesses, with the exception of those in the investment phase, had an 
EBITDA margin of 43 per cent (41%).

ONlINE
ClassIFIEDs
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• 4.1 million advertisements were published on Finn.no in 2011, 
representing an increase of 16 per cent compared to 2010. 

• For the first time, Finn.no became Norway’s second-largest 
website in terms of unique users per week.

• Finn was awarded Norway’s best workplace in the Great Place 
to Work survey.

• Investment in new product areas, and at year-end Finn.no was 
Norway’s second-largest marketplace for buying and selling 
skilled trade services.

FINN.NO (MNOK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 1,135 948

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  536 429
profit (loss) from associated companies

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 47 % 45 %

Finn.no is Norway’s definitive market leader in online classifieds, the core markets being 
Auto, Boat, Property, Recruitment, Marketplace, Travel, and Trades and Services.

Finn.no continues the positive trend, and the company delivered strong results through-
out the whole of 2011. The profitability trends in Finn’s key markets have been positive in 
2011. Recruitment and Auto grew by 36 and 21 per cent respectively. The growth in Jobs 
is due to new additional products and to optimization of classifieds rates and agreements. 
The growth in Auto is due to a positive trend in volumes for classifieds and increased  
market shares in display-based advertising. 

During most of 2011 Finn.no was Norway’s second-largest website in terms of unique 
users and was the largest throughout the whole year in terms of page views. Finn.no also 
retained the leading position in online brand advertising in Norway.

PRODUCT CHANGES
• Finn Oppdrag, a marketplace for buying 

skilled trades and services, was launched 
commercially in 2011.

• Penger.no, a tender service for home 
loans, was launched in September 2011 
in cooperation with Dine Penger.

• An app for Torget (Buy and Sell) was 
launched for iPhone and iPad and resulted 
in more than 100,000 downloads. It won 
the Most Useful App of the Year award 
(Årets nytteapp).

• A new web-based mobile solution was 
launched. At year-end, around 15 per 
cent of Finn’s total traffic volume came 
from mobile devices.

MEASURES IMPLEMENTED
• In competition with 550 projects from 

more than 30 countries, Finn won a gold 
medal in the Marketing Campaign with 
the Best Results category for its  
FINNland campaign.

• Feriehus (Holiday Homes) and Hytter (Cabins) 
were relaunched on Finn Reise (Travel).

AMBITIONS
• Continue to develop mobile solutions that 

will secure the same strong position for 
mobile devices as for PCs.

• Consolidate the position as Norway’s largest  
online brand advertising company and win 
the same position in mobile brand  
advertising.

• Retain our position as Norway’s best 
workplace in the Great Place to Work 
rankings and remain among the top ten in 
Universum’s rankings of the most attrac-
tive workplace for graduate technologists.

• Become the market leader with Finn  
Oppdrag (Trades and Services).

FINN.NO
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• Continued strong growth in revenues and traffic.
• The Blocket concept was launched in several new countries, 

including brazil.
• Two businesses in the investment phase, Subito and Willaben, 

are market leaders in Italy and austria, respectively. they have 
achieved stable profitability and will from the first quarter of 
2012 be categorized as Established businesses.

• In 2011 SCM acquired DoneDeal and Tocmai, which hold top 
positions in Ireland and romania respectively.

SCHIBSTED CLASSIFIED MEDIA (MEUR) 2011 2010
sweden 76.4 65.2

International 163.1 128.3

Investment phase 22.4 15.3

print 4.7 5.8

Other (2.5) (0.9)

Operating revenues 264.1 213.7

sweden 43.6 39.9

International 75.1 51.7

Investment phase (52.9) (28.1)

print 0.9 0.7

Other (7.9) (6.5)

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 58.8 57.7

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 22 % 27 %

Schibsted Classified Media owns all of the Group’s online classified businesses outside 
of Norway. The company has established top positions through good growth and high 
profitability in several markets. New businesses are also established in several countries 
(investment phase).

In 2011, Schibsted Classified Media strenghtend or retained all its number-one positions.  
A number of markets with businesses in the Investment phase also showed good progress.

sChIbstED 
ClassIFIED MEDIa 
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• New records for classifieds.
• Growth for display-based advertising.
• Launched Blocket Jobb (Jobs) and Blocket Bostad (Property).
• Growth for Blocket Shopping (e-commerce). 

BLOCKET/BYT BIL (MSEK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 691 621

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 382 373

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 55 % 60 %

Blocket is spending resources on developing new revenue models, and has launched products 
in both the property and jobs segments. These products have been positively received by 
the market, but burdened the EBITDA in the start-up phase.

Blocket
2011 proved to be a good year for Blocket in terms of revenues from both classifieds and 
display-based advertising.

The number of classifieds continued to grow during the course of 2011. The strong growth in 
auto advertisements from private advertisers had a positive impact on revenues.

Blocket Jobb (Jobs) was launched in August 2011. The website got off to a good start, 
and already by October it was one of the three largest websites for job seekers in terms of 
unique users and number of advertisements.

In September Blocket Bostad (Property) launched a new section for advertisements from 
estate agents. This section accommodates needs and requests from estate agents, buyers 
and sellers.

The investments in the job and property markets are contributing in the reduction of the 
EBITDA margin in Blocket in 2011. 

Blocket Shopping (formerly Blocket e-handel) continues to show a positive trend. A new 
section for clothing launched in November was well received.

The use of mobile devices underwent a rapid growth in Sweden in 2011 and has had a 
significant impact on Blocket. Historically, mobile has accounted for a mere fraction of the 
traffic volumes, but this situation changed in 2011. Today, traffic from mobile devices  
accounts for a significant share of the website’s total traffic volume.

BLOCKET’S AMBITIONS
• Continue to consolidate our position as 

the simplest, safest and most effective 
online marketplace in Sweden.

• Strengthen the positions of Blocket Jobb 
(Jobs) and Blocket Bostad (Property).

• Develop Blocket Shopping and launch 
more categories.

• Develop and improve mobile platforms 
and start the sale of display-based  
advertisements.

sCM sWEDEN  
(blOCKEt/byt bIl) 
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Byt Bil 
Bytbil.com was established in 1997 and has since built and developed its business model:

• to provide a fast and efficient marketplace for the auto industry.
• Develop and operate web-based systems for dealers.

Bytbil.com offers vehicles for both transport of passengers and goods, caravans, motor 
homes, and motorcycles from 2,350 dealers. Bytbil’s services are web-based in the form 
of an ASP (Application Service Provider). Operation, support and training are included in 
the service, which is sold as a subscription.

Bytbil also sells display-based advertisements and integrated advertising solutions. Bytbil 
will continue to develop and offer web-based services such as mobile solutions to import-
ers and dealers.
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• Continued high growth rate and improved margins for  
established businesses.

• Favourable trends in traffic and advertising volumes.
• Strong growth in both traffic and revenues for Leboncoin.fr.
• InfoJobs (Spain) is consolidating the position as the market 

leader and is maintaining revenues in a market with more than  
20 per cent unemployment.

SCM INTERNASJONAL (MEUR) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 163.1 128.3

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 75.1 51.7

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 46 % 40 %

Operating revenues for SCM International increased by 27 per cent. Both Leboncoin in 
France and Anuntis Segundamano in Spain showed favourable revenue growth in 2011.

Leboncoin.fr (France)
Leboncoin.fr started on the basis of a simple idea: the best offer is just around the corner! 
In four years the concept made Leboncoin.fr the market leader in France.

Traditionally, Leboncoin.fr’s strength has been the sale of used items between private  
individuals, and this continues to be the case. But Leboncoin.fr is also France’s largest 
website for cars and property, and is showing strong growth in other segments such as 
jobs and holiday home rentals.

Leboncoin.fr has strong growth in both traffic and revenues, as well as improved margins. 
Measured in traffic volumes, Leboncoin.fr is far ahead of its rival Ebay.fr, and the gap  
continues to grow (source: Doubleclick AdPlanner).
• Leboncoin.fr is the leading online classifieds website in France and the third-largest 

online classifieds and auction website in Europe.
• Up to 500,000 advertisements are placed every day. The database contains roughly  

17 million advertisements for items for sale.
• According to AdPlanner, Leboncoin.fr is the third-largest website in France in terms of 

page views, with approximately 6 billion page views per month.  The website has  
approximately 4 million users per day.

• Leboncoin.fr provides additional services to its professional customers in the auto and 
property sectors so as to be able to increase its market shares within these verticals.

• Private advertisements are free of charge, but additional paid services have been developed 
to offer private customers more efficient advertising solutions.

sCM
INtErNatIONal 



34

LEBONCOIN (MEUR) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 64.1 36.5

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 44.8 22.1

Operating margin (EBITDA) 70 % 61 %

Segundamano.es (Spain)
Segundamano.es is Schibsted’s classifieds website in Spain, and is based on the same 
technical platform as Blocket in Sweden. In 2011 efforts were focused on consolidating 
the brand through TV campaigns and by strengthening the position among private  
advertisers by offering free advertising, among other things. 

InfoJobs.(Spain) and InfoJobs.IT (Italy)  
In recent years InfoJobs.net has has been affected by the difficult conditions in the Spanish 
economy in general and in the job market in particular. The company has shown no sign 
of improvement in 2011. Unemployment is still very high, a situation which has had an 
adverse impact on online classified services. Fewer job advertisements have a negative 
impact on advertising volumes, and the revenues have therefore remained at the same 
level as for 2010. Despite this, Infojobs.net has retained its position as the definitive  
market leader in online recruitment in the Spanish job market. 

Infojobs.net in Spain owns 74 per cent of the equivalent website in Italy. Infojobs.it is based 
on the same concept and technology, and was launched in 2004. InfoJobs in Italy has 
shown favourable trends in the number of customers and advertisements in 2011, and is 
among the country’s leading job websites, measured in traffic volume.

Fotocasa.es (Spain)
Fotocasa.es is the property portal in Spain and, together with its main competitor Idealista, 
holds a leading position in the property vertical. These two rivals have been competing for 
the market leader position for several years. In 2011 Fotocasa.es ran branding campaigns to 
protect its market position. The company continues to work towards the target of becoming 
the clear market leader in the Spanish property market.

Coches.net (Spain)
Coches.net is the auto classifieds service in Spain. The website has shown a positive trend 
throughout 2011, and Auto seems to be the vertical least affected by the negative trends in 
the Spanish economy. Coches is the definitive market leader and has consolidated its position.

DoneDeal (Ireland) 
In September 2011, Schibsted Classified Media acquired a majority stake share in DoneDeal, 
the leading classifieds website in Ireland. This website has many features in common with 
the Blocket concept. DoneDeal is a strong brand in Ireland and the definitive market leader 
in the generalist market. The company was established in 2005. The founders will remain 
in the company’s management and continue to be shareholders.
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• The websites in Italy (Subito.it), Austria (Willhaben.at) and  
Malaysia (Mudah.my) are market leaders in their respective 
countries, and all of them were profitable at the end of 2011. 

• Schibsted considers Brazil to be an interesting market, based 
both on the perspective of economic growth and the competitive 
situation on the internet. In the third quarter of 2011 investment 
in brazil was intensified by, among other things, the launch of the 
blocket concept under the name of bomnegócio.com.

SCM INVESTMENT PHASE (MEUR) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 22.4 15.3

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) (52.9) (28.1)

Schibsted Classified Media has a definite goal of building a platform for future growth 
by establishing itself in new markets. This is being done by establishing businesses based 
primarily on the successful Swedish concept Blocket.se. Experiences from successful 
establishments in the core markets serve as the basis for investing in classified services in 
new markets.

Schibsted Classified Media’s businesses in the investment phase include activities in a 
total of 27 countries. The web concept is launced without local organization in 13 of these 
countries.

The businesses are concentrated in Europe, but SCM is also established is Latin America 
and in some markets in Asia. The investment in Asia is a 50-50 joint venture with Singapore 
Press Holdings.

Schibsted Classified Media increased investments in new businesses in 2011. Negative 
EBITDA from the businesses in the Investment phase totalled EUR –52,9 million (EUR –28.1 
million). The businesses had operating revenues of EUR 22.4 million (EUR 15.3 million).

In the third quarter of 2011, the Brazilian marketplace Bomnegócio.com was launched at 
the same time as the investment in InfoJobs.com.br was stepped up, which mostly explains 
the significant increase in investment compared to 2010. The predominant form of the 
investments is marketing.

sCM INvEstMENt
phasE
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EurOpa
Subito.it (Italy)
A website for buying and selling all kinds of 
items, launched in 2007 and based on the 
Blocket concept and technology. Subito has 
shown favourable growth in 2011 in both 
traffic and revenues. Several branding cam-
paigns, including TV advertising, were carried 
out during the year, and Subito has gained 
a stronger foothold in the Italian classifieds 
market. Early on in 2011, Subito pulled ahead 
of eBay in terms of page views, and has since 
topped the Italian classifieds market. Subito.
it achieved profitability towards the end of 
2011, and from 2012 it will be reported as an 
Established business in SCM.

Willhaben.at (Austria)
Launched in January 2006, based on the 
same concept and technology as Finn.no.  
The Austrian classifieds website is a joint 
venture between SCM and Styria Medien AG. 
The classifieds website has its own verticals 
for Auto, Property, Jobs and Buy and Sell. 
Willhaben showed a strong trend in 2011 
and is now the market leader in the property 
segment and the clear market leader in the 
general segment (Buy and Sell). In 2011  
Willhaben pulled ahead of eBay in terms of 
page views. Subito.it achieved profitability 
towards the end of 2011, and from 2012 it 
will be reported as an Established business 
in SCM.

Kapaza! (Belgium)
The company was established in 2003 by two 
entrepreneurs and was acquired by Schibsted 
in May 2008. Kapaza is a large player in the 
online classifieds market in Belgium and is 
particularly strong in the Buy and Sell and 
Auto segments. Kapaza migrated to the 
Blocket platform in June 2010. The website 
is vying for leadership of the general segment 
in Belgium, and in 2011 it introduced a series 
of product improvements.

Tocmai (Romania) 
In June 2011, Schibsted acquired a majority 
share in Tocmai.ro, a classifieds website in  
Romania. This website has many features in 
common with the Blocket concept. Since the 
launch in the summer of 2009 Tocmai has 
had a strong growth in traffic and has now 
gained a leading position in the Romanian  
market. The company’s founder remains in 
the management and as a shareholder.

CustoJusto.pt (Portugal)
CustoJusto.pt was started in the final quarter 
of 2008 and is part of the Blocket family. In 
2011 CustoJusto.pt has progresed well in 
respect to its competitors and has taken the 
lead in the general segment in terms of page 
views.

Tori.fi (Finland)  
Tori is the Finnish version of Blocket, 
launched in December 2009. The website 
continued the good growth trend throughout 
the whole of 2011, and has gone far in closing 
the gap to the market leaders.

Tutti.ch (Switzerland) 
Tutti is the Swiss version of Blocket, launched 
in January 2010. The Swiss market is  
characterized by intense competition, but 
Tutti made progress in terms of traffic.

Jófogás.hu (Hungary) 
Jofogas, launched in January 2010, is one of 
the latest Blocket clones and is also the one 
that has shown the fastest growth in 2011. 
The website is well on its way to taking the 
leading position in the Hungarian market.

asIa
In collaboration with Singapore Press Holdings, 
SCM has established a joint venture to launch 
versions of the Blocket concept in the region.

Mudah.my (Malaysia)
Mudah.my (the name means “simple” and 
“practical”), launched in Malaysia in December 

2007, was the first Blocket venture outside 
Europe. Today Mudah is the most-used local 
website in Malaysia and the largest classi-
fieds website.

AyosDito.ph (Philippines)
AyosDito.ph was launched in the summer of 
2009 and is now one of two leaders in the 
classifieds market in the Philippines.
Berniaga.com (Indonesia) Berniaga was 
launched in December 2009 and is a fast-
growing website in a large and exciting market.

latIN aMErICa
Bomnegócio (Brazil) 
Balcão, a website for general classifieds in  
Brazil, was transformed into the Blocket 
concept in July 2011 and was launched as 
Bomnegócio.com. The website has had a 
promising start in terms of traffic volumes. 
Nonetheless, this is a long-term project that 
will require considerable investments over 
the next few years. Brazil is a market with a 
fast-growing economy, a large and growing 
number of internet users, stable growth in 
the number of broadband connections and a 
good cultural understanding of online  
classified advertisements.

Yapo (Chile)
The Blocket concept in Chile was launched 
in 2010 under the name of Yapo.cl. After an 
initial positive trend, a more aggressive  
strategy was adopted towards the end of 
2011, through local management and a 
higher level of investment.

InfoJobs.com.br (Brazil)
InfoJobs.com.br is a jobs website in Brazil, 
based on the same concept as the Spanish 
and Italian InfoJob websites. Radical changes 
to the website and a new pricing strategy 
were implemented in the middle of 2011. As a 
result, the level of market activities increased 
during the second half of the year.
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• Consolidated the lead to the main competitor in terms of traffic 
on both pC and mobile.

• Increased the mobile traffic to more than half a million unique  
users per week.

• Secured its position as the simplest alternative when searching 
for businesses, people and addresses.

HITTA.SE (MSEK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 343 342

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  97 104
profit (loss) from associated companies 

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 28 % 30 %

In 2011, Hitta.se retained its market-leading position in terms of online traffic with more 
than half a million more unique users per week than the main competitor. The mobile 
traffic increased by more than 150 per cent, and at the start of 2012, hitta.se had twice as 
many unique users as its main competitor.

Customer surveys show that hitta.se is perceived as the simplest alternative when searching 
for businesses, people and addresses on both PC and mobile.

Superbrands ranked hitta.se as Sweden’s third-strongest B2B brand in the services category. 

Hitta.se’s mobile services are recommended by several channels and recieved the  
“Rekommendarar” (Recommended) award by the journal Mobil.

In 2011 Hitta.se began selling advertising solutions for mobile devices. This product has 
been well received.

Hitta appointed a new CEO in the autumn of 2011, an internal recruitment from Webtraffic. 
2011 has been characterized by work on strengthening the organization and the  
company’s products.

hItta.sE
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One of Schibsted’s primary social respon-
sibilties is to ensure editorial freedom and 
independence. Schibsted has long publishing 
traditions which stretch back to the establish- 
ment of the Chr. Schibsted Forlag in1839 and 
the launch of the Christiania Adresseblad 
(Aftenposten) i 1860. Schibsted aims to be 
a group that contributes to democracy and 
diversity through its integrity and editorial 
independence. Free media play a leading role 
in underpinning strong, living democracies. 

Three key concepts are of central impor-
tance to a media organisation such as 
Schibsted: Trustworthiness, responsibility, 
and quality. This applies both to the readers 
and users of our media services and also to 
our customers, employees, shareholders 
and the society we operate within.

The group’s publications must strive for 
quality, and trustworthiness and should 

uphold values such as religious freedom, 
tolerance, human rights and democratic 
principles. The requirement for editorial 
freedom and integrity forms the guiding  
principle for all media and publications 
provided by the Group’s Norwegian and 
international companies. In 2011 the  
Schibsted editors’ forum adopted a frame-
work for editorial governance for the group’s  
publishing businesses. The principle of 
editorial freedom is enshrined in this 
framework.

Schibsted is a major player in the market 
for recycled products through our online 
classifieds. Our marketplaces help extend 
the life of a range of products and thus 
reduce the need to manufacture new  
products. Over the past few years,  
Schibsted has also launched new services 
that contribute to increased transparency 
regarding terms for insurances and loans.

Schibsted’s social responsibility also 
encompasses important principles relating 
to human rights, employee rights, environ-
ment and anti-corruption. The starting 
point for the Group’s involvement in these 
areas is that Schibsted supports the 
UN’s policy initiative for business, Global 
Compact. Global Compact promotes ten 
principles in the areas of human rights, 
standards in working life, environment and 
anti-corruption. 

A healthy corporate culture and integrity 
are essential to building and maintaining  
trust both internally and externally.  
Schibsted’s Group Board prepared a set of 
key ethical principles in 2011. The finalised 
ethical guidelines are intended to help 
increase awareness of and promote a 
continuing commitment to ethical  
requirements among the Group’s staff.

sOCIal rEspONsIbIlIty IN 
sChIbstED MEDIa grOup
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EDItOrIal 
gOvErNaNCE

Schibsted’s media reflect a wide range of 
diverse opinion. So they also provide different 
ways of looking at issues and views on 
important questions in current debates on 
social affairs.

Schibsted will ensure editorial independ-
ence and uphold freedom of expression in 
the newspaper and media houses we own. 
Free media play a leading role in underpinning 
strong, living democracies. Schibsted’s  
core values rest on this foundation, which 
is firmly enshrined in the Group’s statutes. 
Schibsted will never seek ownerhip of  
opinion forming media which do not promote  
a democratic view of society.

Schibsted respects the fact that different 
media are based on different journalistic and 
political viewpoints and have diverse charact-
eristics. The editorial work in Schibsted’s 
media houses is based on national law and 
ethical regulations in every country in which 
we have a presence. This is how we meet our 
responsibility as a player in the media sphere.

Editorial quality and trustworthiness are 
foundations of the group’s journalistic 
activities and these, together with the  
individual company’s statutes, form the 
basis for the editors’ work.

The establishment of the Schibsted Editors’ 
Forum in the autumn of 2007 was an  
important milestone in the work to strength-
en the group’s publishing activities. By means 
of this editors’ forum Schibsted has created 
a European network in which the leading 
editors in our media companies can debate 
common challenges, exchange ideas and 

experiences or discuss important questions 
relating to their activities both in individual 
countries and across borders. The forum 
can also represent pan-European editorial 
views to Schibsted’s group management 
and governing bodies.

In 2011 the Schibsted editors’ forum adopted 
a framework for editorial governance for 
the group’s publishing businesses. This 
enshrines the principle of editorial freedom 
and so explicity defines it for the benefit of 
Schibsted’s companies in those countries 
where this principle is not embodied in local 
law. It follows from this that the responsible 
editor must take full personal responsibility 
for the content of the publication and this 
responsibility extends to providing ethical 
guidelines and procedures for the journalists. 
Schibsted’s publishing businesses prepare 
editorial accounts and their reports are 
available on the group’s website. The editors 
give an annual briefing to the Board on the 
editorial business based on the editorial  
accounts. In addition, the head of Schibsted’s 
editorial forum gives an annual summary 
of the editorial accounts to Schibsted’s 
Group Board. The presentations will be for 
the Board’s information only and will not 
form the basis of any sort of board  
resolution.

The editor’s forum has identified eight gen-
eral principles which will apply as a com-
mon framework for all editors of Schibsted 
publications:
• Schibsted editors must promote freedom of 

expression and uphold democratic values 
• Schibsted editors must take full respons-

ibility for all content in the publications 
they publish 

• Schibsted editors must play a free and 
independent role 

• Schibsted editors must ensure that the 
journalism creates a clear difference in 
the eyes of the reader between  
information, facts and editorial opinion

• Schibsted editors must make a clear 
difference between independent editorial 
content and marketing

• Schibsted editors must focus fully on 
editorial quality and trustworthiness and 
establish ethical and journalistic  
standards in line with this aim.

• Schibsted editors must protect freedom 
of expression, press freedom and the 
principle of access to public documents 

• Schibsted editors will regard it as an 
important task for the press to protect 
individuals and groups against injustice 
and to expose issues of critical social 
importance.
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thE tINIus trust
The Tinius Trust was founded by Schibsted’s 
previous largest owner, Tinius  
Nagell-Erichsen. “The ownership must 
uphold the freedom and independence of 
Schibsted’s media services”, said Tinius 
Nagell-Erichsen. His justification for setting 
up the trust was to consolidate his owner-
ship interest in the Schibsted group so that 
the ownership can create confidence that 
Schibsted’s newspapers and other media 
outlets would always be able to maintain 
their position as free, independent outlets. 
Tinius wanted to use his influence to 
protect Schibsted as a group with free and 
indpendent editors, characterised by trust-
worthiness and quality in conjunction with 
and a long-term and healthy financial  
development. He also wanted to ensure 
that the group’s publications would uphold 
values such as freedom of religion, tolerance, 
human rights and democratic principles. This 
is also embedded in the objectives of the 
trust set out in its  regulations.

Blommenholm Industrier AS owns  
28 188 589 shares, representing 26.1 % 
of the shares in Schibsted ASA and is the 

company’s largest shareholder.  
Blommenholm Industrier AS is represented 
on the board of Schibsted ASA by the 
chairman Ole Jacob Sunde.  
Tinius Nagell-Erichsen transferred  
Blommenholm Industriers’ only voting 
share to the Tinius Trust in May 2006.  
This means that the Tinius Trust has a 
controlling interest in Blommenholm 
Industrier AS. The Tinius Trust’s board 
consists of Ole Jacob Sunde (chairman), Per 
Egil Hegge and John Rein (board members).

Changes to Schibsted ASA’s articles of as-
sociation require a three-quarters majority. 
The company’s statutes also provide that 
no shareholder may own or vote on behalf 
of more than 30 per cent of the shares. 
Schibsted ASA’s articles of association 
also ensure that important decisions by 
the group’s subsidiaries require a three-
quarters majority at the general meeting 
of Schibsted ASA. As long as the 26.1 per 
cent shareholding is kept together, these 
provisions give considerable influence over 
the ownership of Schibsted.

More information about the Tinius Trust can 
be found here: http://www.tinius.com/

INtErNatIONal 
guIDElINEs
As a starting point for the group’s engage-
ment in the area of sustainable development, 
sustainable value creation and corporate 
social responsibility, Schibsted supports 
the UN’s policy initiative for business,  
Global Compact. Global Compact promotes 
ten principles in the areas of human rights, 
standards in working life, environment and 
anti-corruption. Schibsted has also  
committed itself to comply with the OECD’s 
guidelines for multi-national companies 
which contain voluntary principles covering 
a variety of issues affecting companies’ 
social responsibilities. 

Sustainable value creation means that 
Schibsted and its subsidiaries will create 
economic, environmental and social assets in 
a sustainable way. The companies’ interests 
must also be promoted in a responsible 
way. Several group subsidiary companies 
are involved in social responsibility initiatives 
closely associated with their own operations. 

huMaN rIghts
Schibsted supports and values international 
human rights principles and is working to 
ensure that the group is not involved in 
anything associated with a breach of  
human rights. An important element in this 
is the right to freedom of expression. 

Schibsted’s publishing media are grounded 
in important values such as religious free-
dom, tolerance, human rights and demo-
cratic principles. Schibsted will ensure 
editorial independence and uphold freedom 
of expression in the newspaper and media 
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houses we own. Free media play a leading 
role in underpinning strong, living demo-
cracies. Schibsted’s core values rest on 
this foundation, which is firmly enshrined 
in the Group’s statutes. Schibsted will not 
seek ownerhip of opinion forming media 
which do not stand for a democratic view 
of society.

thE ENvIrONMENt 
In 2010 and 2011 Schibsted carried out a 
survey of emissions of greenhouse gases in 
our principle subsidiaries within the Media 
Houses Scandinavia business area. The 
result of these surveys formed the basis of 
a report to the Carbon Disclosure Project 
in2010 and 2011. The Carbon Disclosure 
Project is an international co-operation 
between institutional investors which to-
gether administer assets of more than $78 
billion. Schibsted has also begun measuring 
environmental emissions in 2012 with the 
intention of reporting the results to the 
Carbon Disclosure Project in 2012.

All companies in the Schibsted group 
operate within the scope of applicable 
environmental regulations. The group’s 
newspapers are produced at Media Norge’s 
printing facilities in Bergen, Stavanger, 
Kristiansand and Oslo and at Kroonpress 
in Estland. Production is a digital process 
through to the printing stage, and this has 
little effect on the outside environment. A 
newspaper printing works has a relatively 
neutral effect on the environment, and the 
chemicals used to produce the newspapers 
are dealt with as hazardous waste and 
recycled in so far as possible. Agreements 
with approved transport companies ensure 
that hazardous waste is collected safely. 

The quantity of waste has been significantly 
reduced and consists mainly of waste proof 
sheets, cardboard, left overs from rolls of 
paper and undistributed newspapers. In 
Norway and Sweden systematic collection 
of unsold papers for recycling is undertaken.

Normal operations do not involve any danger 
of harmful emissions from the printing 
plants. All the printing works Schibsted 
owns in Norway are licensed under the 
Nordic Ecolabel scheme to use the Swan 
ecolabel on all printed matter produced. 
The swan ecolabel is the best known and 
most frequently used labeling ecolabelling 
scheme in the Nordic countries.

In Sweden large numbers of our newspapers 
are printed by the printer V-TAB. V-TAB 
operates a system for environmental and 

quality control and most its printing works 
are certified under ISO 14001:2004 and 
ISO 9001:2000. Most installations are 
swan-marked. 

All Schibsted’s operations in Stockholm 
have moved to new premises at Schibsted-
huset (Kungsbrohuset) in central Stockholm, 
one of the world’s most advanced office 
buildings so far as energy efficient solutions  
and materials are concerned. Energy 
consumption is a third of what is usual 
for equivalent buildings. Surplus energy is 
obtained by recovering excess body heat 
produced by the 200,000 commuters that 
pass by the Central Railway Station every 
day. Cooling comes from Lake Klara  
(a canal in central Stockholm).
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EMplOyEE rIghts 
Schibsted Media Group recognises inter-
national and national employee rights. 
Employees have the right to participate in 
employee organisations and collective  
bargaining. Employee representatives to the 
board are freely elected by the employees.
 
To develop Schibsted in line with our ambit- 
ions we are working systematically to develop 
the organization, including identifying and 
developing skills in all companies. Leadership 
development, continuous improvement, sales 
and market knowledge are key elements in 
the group’s development of expertise.

Schibsted is a knowledge company and 
skilled managers and other employees are 
a vital part of its business. The work of  
attracting talented people, developing 
good managers and creating competent 
organisations is given high priority by the 
senior management of the Group and its 
subsidiaries. Competitive terms of employ-
ment and a stimulating working environment 
with good opportunities for personal and 
professional development form part of that 
strategy. By fostering a workplace culture 
characterised by employee well-being and 
good working relationships with colleagues 
we ensure that competent employees are 
interested in pursuing a career with us. 
Since 2006 Schibsted has taken part in the 
annual working environment survey  
organised by Great Place to Work. The 
results of the survey are studied in detail 
and action is taken where required.

The companies’ working environment 
committees are continuously striving to 
promote a good working environment and 
so to minimise the chance of discrimination 
among employees in the workplace. 

The Group’s clear goal is to ensure that 
women and men have equally good develop- 
ment opportunities. Half of the companies’ 
customers and readers are women. This 
distribution should be reflected at manage-
ment level in the group companies for the 
benefit of the working environment and 
the companies’ products. For this reason, 
a long-term, compulsory programme to 
achieve a better gender balance in manage- 
ment is in progress. When recruiting  
personnel both within the company and 
from outside, and when taking on new 
trainees, emphasis is placed on finding well 
qualified women and giving them career 
opportunities in the group. This is a process 
is most advanced in the Scandinavian media 
houses and experience gained here is regulary 
passed on to subsidiaries in other countries.

Schibsted has had two full time employee 
representatives since autumn 2007. At 
the moment these are Marianne Falk from 
Sweden, a journalist and project leader at 
Svenska Dagbladet and Morten Lia from 
Norway, a typographer at Fædrelandsvennen  
and former member of Media Norge’s 
works council. Their function is laid down 
in the central Norwegian agreements. The 
employee representatives should uphold 
the interests of all employees, both union-
ised and non-unionised, in cases which are 
dealt with at the group level. One of the 
group employee representatives must be 
elected in Norway, the other in the country 
which has the most central importance to 
the Schibsted at the relevant time outside 
Norway. This is currently Sweden. The two 
employee representatives are elligible to 
be voted onto the board.

Schibsted’s works council, a European 
Works Council, established in 2004 in  
accordance with EU guidelines. The works 

council is intended to be a forum for infor-
mation, dialogue and consultation between 
employees and management. The importance 
of regular contact between employees 
across borders is emphasised. The Council 
meets twice a year. The meetings take place 
over three days with the group chairman and 
some other members of group management 
present on the second day. 

The Council currently consists of 34 rep-
resen-tatives from eight countries, elected 
by the employees from among themselves. 
The leader of the Council is Marianne Falk, 
employee representative from Schibsted in 
Sweden.

EthICal guIDElINEs
Schibsted recognises the UN’s convention  
against corruption. In 2011 Schibsted joined 
the organisation Transparency International 
Norway. The association’s aim is to combat all 
forms of corruption and misuse of influence 
and position and to promote transparency,  
responsibility and integrity both in the pri-
vate and public sectors and in civil society.

A healthy corporate culture and integrity are 
essential to building and maintaining trust 
both internally and externally. Schibsted’s 
Group Board prepared a set of key ethical 
principles in 2011. The adopted ethical guide-
lines are intended to help increase awareness 
of and promote a continuing commitment 
to ethical requirements among the Group’s 
staff. The ethical guidelines and a new 
whistleblower line with external reporting 
(Schibsted SpeakUp) was launched at the 
beginning of 2012. The Group’s ethical 
guidelines are available on the Group’s 
website. 
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OlE JaCOb 
suNDE
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
Board member since May 2000. Chairman 
of the Board since May 2002. Chairman of 
the Compensation Committee since it was 
established in 2004. The founder and chair-
man of the board of Formuesforvaltning 
ASA (2000). Established Industrifinans 
Forvaltning ASA in 1983 and was managing 
director until 2000. Former consultant in 
McKinsey & Co. (1980-83). Various other 
directorships, including chairman of the 
board of The Tinius Trust and member 
of the board of Blommenholm Industrier 
AS. MBA (Université de Fribourg, Sveits) 
1976 and Kellogg School of Management, 
Northwestern University (USA)  
(with distinction) 1980.

KARL-CHRISTIAN 
agErup
Elected as a deputy board member in 
Schibsted in May 2004. Board member 

since May 2008. Forskningsparken AS, 
Managing director (2010 - d.d.) Northzone 
Ventures, Founder and partner (1994-2009). 
HU GIN AS, Founder and managing director 
(1995-1999). McKinsey & Co, Associate 
(1991-93), Engagement Manager (1993-94). 
Millipore Corp, Boston, USA, Corporate 
Planner (1990-91). Vice Chairman of the 
board of Norfund. Massachusetts Institute 
of Technology (MIT) – Alfred P Sloan 
School of Management, Master of Science 
in Management (1990). The Copenhagen 
School of Business and Administration. 
MBA/HA (1988). Personal deputy for Ole 
Jacob Sunde in the Tinius Trust.

MONICa
CaNEMaN
Board member in Schibsted since May 
2003. Former vice CEO of SE-Banken 
(1997-2001), employed in SE-Banken from 
1977. Chairman of the board in Linkmed 
AB, Arion Bank hf, Frösunda LSS AB, SOS 
International AS and Fjärde APFonden 
in addition to being member of the board 
at Poolia AB, Orexo AB, Investment AB 
Öresund, Schibsted Sverige AB, SAS AB, 
Point International AB, SPP AB, Intermail 
AS ogMy Safety AB. Educated at the 
Stockholm School of Business and Admin-
istration (1976).

MarIE
EhrlINg
Board member in Schibsted since May 2008. 
Vice chairman in Nordea AB, member of  
the board at Securitas AB, Loomis AB,  
Oriflame Cosmetics SA, Safegate AB,  
Centre for Advanced Studies of Leadership  
(CASL) at the Stockholm School of  
Business and Administration, Business 
Executive Council IVA and for the World 
Childhood Foundation. Marie Ehrling was 
CEO of TeliaSonera AB from 2003 to 2006. 
From 1982 until 2002 she worked for the 
SAS Group, among others as Vice CEO in 
SAS AB and CEO for SAS Scandinavian 
Airlines (2001-2002) and as CEO for SAS 
Ground Services (1997-2001). Head of 
Information at the Swedish Ministry of 
Finance (1980-82) and the Swedish Ministry 
of Education (1979- 1980), Financial  
Analysist in Fourth Swedish National  
Pension Fund (1977-1979). Bachelor of 
Science Business Administration and 
Economics from Stockholm School of 
Business and Administration (1977).

MEMbErs OF 
thE bOarD
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Eva 
bErNEKE
Board member in Schibsted since May 2010. 
CEO of Wholesale at TDC AS Denmark. 
Appointed to the Executive Committee 
in 2007. MSc in Mechanical Engineering 
Technical University of Denmark, 1992, 
and MBA, INSEAD (Executive Management 
Training Program)1995. Member of Board 
of Directors of Copenhagen Business 
School. Member of the Danish Council for 
Technology and Innovation under the Danish 
Ministry of Science, Technology & Innovation. 
Member of the Board of Directors of the 
Industrialization Fund for Development and 
Eastern Countries (IFU,IØ).

ChrIstIaN
rINgNEs
Deputy board member in Schibsted from 
May 2002 to 2005. Elected as ordinary 
board member in May 2005. Managing 
director and major owner in Eiendomsspar 
AS/Victoria Eiendom AS (1984- ). McKinsey 

& Company, INC -Scandinavia, consultant 
(1981/82) and project manager (1983/84), 
Manufactures Hanover Trust Company, 
Assistant to Area Manager, Nordic Countries 
(1978/79). Chairman of the board in  
NSV-Invest AS, Sundt AS, Dermanor AS, 
Oslo Flaggfabrikk and Mini Bottle Gallery 
AS. Board member in Thor Corporation AS 
and Oslo’s Council for City Architecture. 
Harvard Business School, Boston, USA 
(1979-81), Master of Business Administration. 
Ecole des Hautes Estudes Commerciales, 
Universite de Lausanne (1975-78), MBA.

guNNar
KaggE
Gunnar Kagge (1960) has worked at  
Aftenposten since 1997. Formerly employed 
at NTB and the Norwegian Confederation 
of Business and Industry (NHO). He has 
mainly been writing about politics and 
economy, covering negotiations between 
employers and unions, trends in the work-
place and the big organizations. Elected 
leader of the local journalist union  
2007-2010. Board member of SKUP, NJ 
Schibsted and deputy board member of 
NJ. He is educated with a degree in history 
from the University of Oslo.  
All through school and studies he worked 
as a freelancer at Aftenposten, from 1975 
and onwards.

aNNE lIsE 
vON DEr FEhr
Board member of Schibsted since May 
2009. Reporter and subeditor at VG since 
April 2002. Elected leader of the board of 
the local journalist union in VG (2007-2010). 
Member of the European Work Council, 
Schibsted (2008-2010). Leader of Norwegian 
Journalists’ local union within Schibsted 
(2008-2010). Deputy member of the 
board of VG AS (2007-2009). Reporter 
and subeditor Asker og Bærum Budstikke 
(2000-2002). Researcher at Holmgang, 
TV2 (1999-2000). Board member of the 
Foundation of Asker and Bærum Budstikke 
(2009-), deputy member (2007-2009). 
She holds a masters degree in Political 
Science from the University of Oslo, has 
studied History of Literature and has an 
International Diploma in Journalism from 
England.
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Composition of the Group’s Board until 
this year’s Annual General Meeting
For the period of 2011-2012, the Board is 
comprised of eight Directors: six share-
holder-elected directors and two directors 
elected from among the employees of 
the Group’s Norwegian companies. No 
alternate directors have been elected for 
the shareholder-elected directors. The 
employees have elected four alternate  
directors. The two union representatives for 
the employees of the Group has observer 
status at the Board’s meetings Directors. 

New Board representation arrangement 
for the Group’s Board beginning with the 
Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012.
A Board representation agreement has been 
entered into with the employees involving 
a proposal at this year’s Annual General 
Meeting that seven shareholder-elected 
directors be elected. In consequence of this, 
the employees will receive the right to elect 
three directors, of which one member must 
be elected from the Group’s employees 
in Sweden (at present) and two members 
from the Group’s employees in Norway. 

The employees may elect up to 2 alternate 
directors, one from Norway and one from 
Sweden (at present). The observer status 
of the two union representatives for the 
Group is being ended, however the union 
representatives are electable as directors 
and alternate directors. Alternate directors 
attend the meetings only in the event of an 
absence. No election of alternate directors 
by the shareholders is being proposed.
Work of the Nomination Committee with 

recruitment for the Board 
The Board’s shareholder-elected directors 
are up for election each year. The Nomination 
Committee is thus continuously working 
on the recruitment of new directors for the 
Board and evaluating the Board’s work.

The Nomination Committee has held 5 
meetings during the present election period.  

The Nomination Committee makes efforts 
to ensure that recruitment to Schibsted’s 
Board has a sufficient balance between 
considerations of continuity and renewal, 
respectively, and that the Board as a whole 
has expertise in and experience of the 
Group’s operations both inside and outside 
Scandinavia. In addition, the Norwegian 
Public Limited Companies Act’s gender 
balance requirements must be complied 
with. As a basis for the work with recruitment 
for the Board, the Nomination Committee 
will receive the Board’s own self-evaluation 
each year. During 2011, the Nomination 
Committee held meetings with the Board 
Chairman and Schibsted’s Group CEO.

In recent years, the Nomination Committee 
has worked in a goal-oriented manner with 
a long-term focus on internationalising the 
Board of the Schibsted Group. The new 
Board representation arrangement sets 
up the conditions for an increase in the 
number of shareholder-elected directors 
from six to seven members and further 
internationalisation of the Board beyond its 
present composition of Scandinavian directors.  
The Nomination Committee is thus very 
satisfied with being able to propose two inter-

national candidates for directors at this year’s 
Annual General Meeting. The Nomination 
Committee has utilised an external recruitment 
bureau to support the recruitment process. 

The Nomination Committee’s recommen-
dations for the election of shareholder-
elected directors is as follows:
• Ole Jacob Sunde (Board Chairman,  

Norwegian)
• Karl-Christian Agerup (Norwegian)
• Eva Berneke (Danish)
• Marie Ehrling (Swedish)
• Arnaud de Puyfontaine (NEW, French),
• Christian Ringnes (Norwegian)
• Eugenie van Wiechen (NEW, Dutch).
A more detailed presentation of the candi- 
dates is available at Schibsted’s Web pages.

The Nomination Committee has considered 
whether there should be a ballot for each 
individual director instead of for the entire 
Board. The Nomination Committee proposes  
one ballot for the entire Board. In the 
Norwegian Recommendation for Corporate 
Governance, it is recommended that there be 
one ballot for each individual director. Some 
shareholders have previously also pointed 
this out to the Board and the Nomination 
Committee. The Nomination Committee 
still believes that the entire board should be 
elected as one body because an individual 
candidate’s expertise and experience must be 
seen in connection with the board’s overall 
expertise and requirements. In addition, 
the requirement of a gender balance on 
the Board makes voting on each individual 
candidate difficult.

The directors’ independence 
Information on the directors’ business 
relationships with shareholders or others 
with links to such or with Schibsted is pro-
vided under “Corporate Governance”.  The 
representation on the Group Board reflects 

thE NOMINatION  
COMMIttEE’s rEpOrt 2011

the Nomination Committee consists of John a rein (chair), gunn Wærsted 
and Nils bastiansen. the Nomination Committee is chosen for two years at 
a time and is up for election at the annual general Meeting on 11 May 2012.
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the ownership shares in Schibsted and the 
right to elect directors, which, according to 
Schibsted’s Articles of Association, belongs 
to shareholders who own more than 25 
per cent of the shares.  The Nomination 
Committee is of the opinion that Ole Jacob 
Sunde’s links with Blommenholm Industrier 
and the Tinius Trust and Karl-Christian 
Agerup’s links with the Tinius Trust, in that 
he has been chosen as Ole Jacob Sunde’s 
personal alternate member, mean that 
these two, in relation to this assessment, 
are not considered to be independent 
directors.  The Nomination Committee 
is assessing the other directors as being 
independent, such that five of the seven 
shareholder-elected Board members will 
be deemed to be independent after this 
year’s Annual General Meeting.

Group Board members’ directorships 
for subsidiaries
The Nomination Committee is aware that 
some of the Group Board’s members are also  
on the boards of the Group’s subsidiaries.  
The Nomination Committee does not believe 
that the Group Board members are less 
independent as Group directors due to their 
directorships in subsidiaries. When consider-

ing this practice, the Nomination Committee 
has also placed an emphasis on the fact that 
the majority of the subsidiaries’ directors 
are not members of the Group Board. The 
Nomination Committee therefore considers 
this practice to be useful when key issues 
are to be discussed, and has no objections 
to it continuing.

The Group Board’s Compensation  
Committee and Audit Committee 
The Group Board’s Compensation Committee  
and Audit Committee are bodies that  
prepare issues for the Group Board.  

In the annual evaluations of the Board’s 
work, the Committees’ work is pointed out as 
being positive and important when compli-
cated issues within the committees’ spheres 
are to be discussed by the Group Board. 

The Nomination Committee sees a need 
for the Group Board to be able to prepare 
complicated issues in committees, but also 
underlines the Board’s overall responsi-
bility for the assessments and decisions 
made, including those relating to the 
issues prepared by the Committees. The 
Nomination Committee wishes to draw 

attention to this matter since it makes 
demands on how the Committees prepare 
and present the issues to the Group Board.

Fees
All fees payable to Schibsted’s corporate 
bodies are determined in advance for one 
year at a time at the Annual General  
Meeting. The fees set at the Annual General 
Meeting on 11 May 2012 will apply for the 
May 2012 – May 2013 period.

In principle, the Nomination Committee is 
of the opinion that the fees should normally 
be adjusted annually in order to achieve 
a more steady increase in the fees and 
follow the general wage growth in society.  
No adjustment of the fees was performed 
for the period of May 2011 – May 2012. The 
Nomination Committee is proposing that 
an adjustment be made to the fees for the 
directors for the period of May 2012 – May 
2013. The proposal must be viewed in the 
context of the general wage growth in  
society. In consequence of an increased work- 
load in the Committees, the Nomination 
Committee is proposing a somewhat larger 
percentage increase of the fees for  
members of the Committees. 

All figures in NOK 2012-13 2011-12
a) Fees for directors  

Chair of the board 730 000 700 000

Other directors 315 000 300 000

alternate directors 16 000 16 000

b) Fees payable to members of the Group Board’s Compensation Committee  

Comittee chair 85 000 70 000

Other committee members 55 000 41 000

(c) Fees payable to members of the Group Board’s Audit Committee    

Comittee chair 125 000 107 000

Other committee members 80 000 65 000

(d) Fees payable to members of the Nomination Committee  

Comittee chair, per meeting 16 000 16 000

Other committee members, per meeting 11 000 11 000

The supplemental fee that can be granted to  
directors who reside outside Oslo may be up to NOK 
100,000. Decisions on the award of supplemental 
fees will be made by the Nomination Committee. For 
the period of May 2011 – May 2012 the supplemental 
fees will be established in arrears. Beginning with 
this year’s Annual General Meeting, the supplemental 
fees will be established in advance. The fees will be 
disbursed at the end of the election period.

The Nomination Committee has decided that supple-
mental fees for the period May 2011 - May 2012 will 
be set to NOK 50,000 for Eva Berneke and Marie 
Ehrling, and to NOK 75,000 for Monica Caneman. 
Supplemental fees for the period of May 2012 – May 
2013 will be set to NOK 50,000 for those residing  
outside Oslo but in the Nordic countries and to NOK  
100,000 for those residing outside the Nordic countries.  
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1.
COrpOratE  
gOvErNaNCE  
rEpOrt

Good corporate governance is an important 
prerequisite for realising Schibsted’s vision 
and implementing our strategy and should 
lay a sound foundation for the Group’s long 
term value creation. It establishes a frame-
work for all Schibsted’s business activities 
and clarifies the roles and responsibilities 
of Schibsted’s governing bodies. Good  
corporate governance involves trans-
parency and interaction between diverse 
interests based on trust.

Schibsted Media Group is a quoted 
company and established guidelines for 
corporate governance accord with the 
Norwegian Corporate Governance Board 
(NCBG) Code of Practice. The Code of 
Practice is available on NCBG’s website.  
The Group Board’s statement on corporate 
governance follows the structure of the 
Code and addresses each point in turn. The 
statement also includes an item 16 which 
describes other key functions within the 
Group. Information on corporate governance 
which Schibsted is required to provide in its 
annual report 2011 by the Accounting Act, 
Section 3-3b is taken into account in this 
statement.

Key values and guidelines on ethics  
and social responsibility
Schibsted’s primary social responsibilty is 
to ensure editorial freedom. Our principles 
of corporate governance are based on our 
publishing tradition. Schibsted aims to be a 
Group that contributes to democracy and 
diversity through its integrity and editorial 
independence. Free media play a leading role  
in underpinning strong, living democracies.  
Schibsted’s core values rest on this 
foundation, which is firmly enshrined in the 
Group’s statutes. 

Schibsted respects the fact that different 
media are based on different publishing 
viewpoints and have diverse characteristics.  
The Group’s publications strive to achieve 
quality and trustworthiness and they shall 
uphold values such as religious freedom, 
tolerance, human rights and democratic 
principles. The requirement for editorial 
freedom and integrity forms the guiding 
principle for all media and publications 
provided by the Group’s Norwegian and 
international companies. 

The editorial work in Schibsted’s media 
houses takes place in accordance with  
national law and ethical regulations in single 
country in which we have a presence.  
This is how we meet our responsibility 
as a player in the media sphere. In 2011 
Schibsted’s editorial forum, consisting of 
members from all our leading newspapers 
in Norway and internationally, adopted a 
framework for editorial governance which 
is to apply to the Group’s publishing busi-
nesses. This enshrines the principle of 
editorial freedom and so explicity defines 
it for the benefit of those countries where 
this principle is not embodied in local law. 
Each responsible editor must take full 
personal responsibility for the content 
published and this responsibility extends to 
providing ethical guidelines and procedures 
for the journalists.Schibsted’s publishing 
businesses prepare editorial accounts and 
their reports are available on the Group’s 
website and in hard copy. The editors will 
annually present the editorial accounts to 
the local Boards. Additionally the head of 
the editorial forum will present an annual 
summary of the editorial accounts to 
Schibsted’s Group Board. The presentations 
will be for the Board’s information only and 

statEMENt ON  
COrpOratE gOvErNaNCE
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will not form the basis of any sort of board 
resolution. 

Schibsted’s social responsibility also 
encompasses important principles relating 
to human rights, employee rights, environ-
ment and anti-corruption. The starting 
point for the Group’s involvement in these 
areas is that Schibsted supports the 
UN’s policy initiative for business, Global 
Compact. Global Compact promotes ten 
principles in the areas of human rights, 
standards in working life, environment and 
anti-corruption. Schibsted has also  
committed itself to comply with the OECD’s 
guidelines for multi-national companies 
which contain voluntary principles covering 
a variety of issues affecting companies’ 
social responsibilities. The Group Board 
works further on crafting a strategy for 
how our companies may contribute to social 
responsibility in a broader perspective. 
It has started several initiatives in social 
responsibility that are integrated into the 
company’s service products.

A healthy corporate culture and integrity 
are essential to building and maintaining  
trust both internally and externally.  
Schibsted’s Group Board prepared a set of 
key ethical principles in 2011. The finalised 
ethical guidelines are intended to help 
increase awareness of and promote a  
continuing commitment to ethical require- 
ments among the Group’s staff. 
The ethical guidelines and a new whistle-
blower line with external reporting 
(Schibsted SpeakUp) was launched at the 
beginning of 2012. The Group’s ethical 
guidelines  are available on the Group’s 
website.
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2.
busINEss
aCtIvItIEs 

Schibsted’s statutory objective reads as 
follows: The purpose of the company is 
to engage in the information business, as 
well as related business activities. The 
shareholders shall enable the company to 
operate its information business in such 
a way that editorial freedom and integrity 
are fully ensured. The requirement for 
editorial freedom and integrity shall apply 
to all media and publications encompassed 
by the Norwegian and international  
activities of the Schibsted Group.

The Articles of Association are shown in 
full here.

The Schibsted Media Group is an inter-
national media group headquartered in Oslo 
built on a long tradition for independent 
news journalism and safe market places. 
The Group operates in 27 countries. 
Schibsted’s vision is “Shaping the media 
of tomorrow. Today.” Belief in the value 
of the content and services which the 
Group offers its readers and customers 
is fundamental to all our businesses. The 
values credibility and confidence are of 
fundamental importance for us as a media 
company – our users must be able to rely 
on our news and services. 

Schibsted has organised its activities in 
two strategic areas. One is the large media 
houses which Schibsted has established in 
its core markets. These have sound positions 
and strong brands in diverse delivery  
channels. We started as pure newspaper 
publishers, but now our editorial teams also 
deliver content to the new digital channels 
such as the internet, mobiles and tablets.

The second strategic area is our online 
market-places and classified ads. Schibsted 
has market-leading, profitable operations 
in a number of sectors in Norway, Sweden, 
Spain and France. Our experiences of building 
successful businesses in core markets 
form the basis for investment in online 
classified advertising in new markets.

Schibsted is also working to exploit the 
traffic from our Internet sites to develop 
new business opportunities in the form of 
digital consumer services. This area  
continues to increase in significance and 
volume. So far, business has been estab-
lished in Sweden and Norway, while  
analysis is ongoing in other countries in 
which Schibsted sees large volumes of 
traffic.

For further information about the Group’s 
business, aims and core strategies,  
see here.
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3.
EQUITY AND 
DIvIDEND 

Equity
As at 31.12.11, the Group had equity of 
NOK 6,659 million, equal to an equity ratio 
of 41 per cent.

Dividend policy
Schibsted Media Group is a listed company. 
We want our shares to be perceived as an 
attractive investment option. A competitive 
return must be based on healthy finances. 
The goal is to ensure a competitive return 
through long-term growth in the share 
price and dividend.

The Group’s dividend policy is described in 
more detail in  the Shareholder information.

Purchase of own shares
In order to have flexible capital manage-
ment, the Group Board has requested 
the General Meeting for authorisation to 
repurchase the Group’s own shares. Such 
an authorisation is granted by the General 
Meeting for one year at a time. At the  

Annual General Meeting in 2011, the Group 
Board was authorised to repurchase own 
shares in accordance with the Norwegian 
Public Limited Companies Act. The  
authorisation states certain terms and  
conditions regarding the total nominal 
value of the shares bought, as well as the 
price that may be paid for the shares. The 
authorisation makes it clear that the Group 
Board is free to determine the method of 
acquisition and any later sale of the shares, 
and that the authorisation may also be 
used to buy and sell shares in take-over 
situations. For further comments on the 
authorisation, refer to item 14 of this report.

For information on how the authorisation  
has been used, refer to Shareholder  
information.



52

4.
EQUAL TREATMENT OF 
sharEhOlDErs aND 
traNsaCtIONs WIth 
ClOsE assOCIatEs 

Schibsted has one class of shares, with 
equal rights linked to each share.

Restrictions on ownership and voting rights
Based on Schibsted’s publishing responsi-
bilities and role in society as a media 
company, Schibsted’s independence and 
integrity are ensured through restrictions 
on ownership and voting rights stated in 
the Articles of Association. Article 6 states 
that no shareholder may own or vote at 
the general meetings in respect of more 
than 30 per cent of the shares.

Article 7 states that important decisions 
relating to the Group’s key companies are to 
be submitted to Schibsted’s shareholders for 
their approval. According to the wording of 
this provision, any amendments to the  
Articles of Association or any sales of shares 
or operations or corresponding transactions 
in any subsidiary are to be submitted to 
Schibsted’s General Meeting for approval, 
provided these are not intercompany trans-
actions, which are exempt in their entirety. 
Through annual resolutions, the General 
Meeting can authorise the Group Board 
to manage further specified parts of the 
protection which is inherent in this provision. 
Such an authorisation was granted at the 
2011 Annual General Meeting and it will be 
proposed that this authorisation be renewed 
at this year’s Annual General Meeting. In 
total, the proposed authorisation means 
that major transactions will not be covered 
by the Group Board’s authorisation and 
must therefore be submitted to Schibsted’s 
General Meeting.  The proposal is explained 
in further detail in the notice calling the 
General Meeting.

Transactions involving own shares
The acquisition of own shares, in accord-
ance with the Group Board’s authorisa-
tion referred to in item 3 of this report, is 
to take place in the market at the stock 

exchange price and in accordance with 
generally accepted Norwegian stock ex-
change practices. The disposal of acquired 
shares should be performed in the market, 
as settlement for the purchase of opera-
tions, to general share schemes for the 
Group’s employees and to the Group’s 
long-term incentive (LTI) programme for 
selected Group managers. The Group’s LTI 
programme is described in further detail 
in the Board’s declaration regarding the 
determination of salary and other remune- 
ration to the management (the Management  
Remuneration Declaration) and in the 
notice calling the General Meeting.

Transactions with close associates
Blommenholm Industrier is Schibsted’s larg-
est shareholder. The Board of Blommenholm 
Industrier consists of John A. Rein (chair), 
Ole Jacob Sunde and Per Egil Hegge. 
The Tinius Trust controls Blommenholm 
Industrier. The Tinius Trust board consists 
of Ole Jacob Sunde (chair), John A. Rein 
and Per Egil Hegge. Schibsted director 
Karl-Christian Agerup has been elected 
as Ole Jacob Sunde’s personal alternate 
member on the boards of the Tinius Trust 
and Blommenholm Industrier. Ole Jacob 
Sunde is the chair of Schibsted’s Group 
Board. John A, Rein is the leader of the 
Nomination Committee.

Further information on the Tinius Trust 
may be found here, in the trust’s own  
annual report or on the trust’s website 
www.tinius.com.

Formuesforvaltning, in which Ole Jacob 
Sunde is a major shareholder, has a  
management agreement with  
Blommenholm Industrier.

Director Christian Ringnes controls the 
company that rents offices to Schibsted’s 
subsidiary Eesti Meedia in Tallinn.
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5.
FrEEly 
NEgOtIablE 
sharEs 

Schibsted’s shares are freely negotiable  
subject to the restrictions stated in Article 
6 of the Articles of Association. Article 6 
states that no shareholder may own or vote 
at the general meetings in respect of more 
than 30 per cent of the shares.
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6.
gENEral
MEEtINgs 

Through the General Meeting, the share-
holders exercise the supreme authority of 
the company. The general meetings deal 
with and decide on issues which are  
important for Schibsted in a way that 
reflects the shareholders’ views.

An Annual General Meeting must be held 
within six months after the end of each 
financial year. Extraordinary general  
meetings are to be held as required in  
accordance with the Articles of Association  
or Public Limited Companies Act or if 
required by at least five per cent of the 
shareholders.

Notice
The Annual General Meeting for this year 
will take place on 11 May 2012. The notice 
calling the general meetings and the 
documents to be considered at the general 
meetings, are to be made available on 
Schibsted’s website at the latest 21 days 
before such meetings. Shareholders that 
are not registered as electronic recipients 
will receive the notice in the post along 
with a reference to the fact that docu-
ments to be considered at the meeting 
are to be found on our website. Emphasis 
is placed on the supporting documents 
containing all the necessary information 
so that shareholders can decide on all the 
issues to be dealt with. The deadline for 
registration is two working days before the 
general meetings.

Participation
Representatives of the Group Board, at 
least one representative of the Nomination 
Committee and the external auditor are to 
attend the Annual General Meeting. As a 
minimum, the Group’s CEO and CFO are to 

attend the meeting as representatives of 
the management.

Shareholders that cannot attend the 
general meetings but wish to exercise their 
voting rights may authorise a proxy by the 
deadline for registration. An authorisation 
containing voting instructions may also be 
given to the chair of the Group Board. The 
authorisation form to be used is enclosed 
in the notice calling the meeting. Further 
information on the use of an authorisation 
and a shareholder’s right to have issues 
dealt with by the General Meeting is stated 
both in the notice calling the general  
meetings and on Schibsted’s website.

Agenda
The agenda is to be set by the Group Board 
and the main matters are to be in comp-
liance with Article 10 of the Articles of 
Association.

The entire Board is to be elected by the 
General Meeting. This deviates from item 
6 of the Code of Practice stating that the 
General Meeting should be allowed to 
choose each candidate. For information on 
the reason for this deviation, refer to the 
Nomination Comitee’s Report.
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7.
NOMINatION
COMMIttEE 

The Nomination Committee is laid down  
in Article 10 of Schibsted’s Articles of  
Association, which also states the  
Nomination Committee’s main mandate.

The Nomination Committee’s work
The Nomination Committee prepares a 
recommendation to the General Meeting 
regarding the election of the shareholders’ 
representatives and their alternate 
representatives to the Group Board. The 
Nomination Committee’s most important 
task is to ensure a continuous evaluation 
of the Group Board’s overall expertise and 
experience in relation to the challenges 
facing the Group at any time.

The Nomination Committee also proposes 
the remuneration payable to the Group 
Board’s members at the Annual General 
Meeting.

The composition of the Nomination 
Committee
The Nomination Committee is elected by 
the General Meeting for two years at a 
time and consists of three members. The 
General Meeting elects the chair of the 

Nomination Committee. The majority of 
the Nomination Committee is independent 
of both the Group Board and Schibsted’s 
management. The CEO and chair of the 
Group Board attend Nomination Committee 
meetings as required, normally once or 
twice a year. Schibsted’s Head of Legal 
Affairs carries out the secretariat function 
for the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee consists of the 
following members: John A. Rein (chair), 
Gunn Wærsted and Nils Bastiansen.

For more information on the Nomination 
Committee’s work, refer to the the  
Nomination Comitee’s Report.
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8.
COrpOratE  
assEMbly aND  
bOarD OF DIrECtOrs: 
COMpOsItION aND  
INDEpENDENCE 

Schibsted is exempt from the rules con-
cerning the establishment of a corporate 
assembly. An agreement has been entered 
into with the employees regarding  
representation on the Group Board.

The composition of the Group Board
According to Article 8 of Schibsted’s 
Articles of Association, the Group Board 
should consist of six to eleven members 
plus any alternate members. The Group’s 
employees will be represented on the 
Group Board by a number of employees 
in accordance with prevailing agreements 
with the company (the Representation 
Agreement). Until the general meeting on 
11 May 2012 the Board will consist of eight 
members, of whom six are shareholder repre-
sentatives and two are employee representa-
tives. Two Group employee representatives 
and one person elected by and among the 
editors in Group companies  in Norway and 
abroad have the right to attend as observers.

The Representation Agreement was rene-
gotiated in 2011 and requires that after the 
general meeting on 11 May 2012 the Board 
will consist of seven shareholder members 
and three employee representatives. Two 
employee representatives are chosen from 
Norway and one from the country in which 
we have the most significant operations 
outside Norway, currently Sweden. The 
current arrangement with observers  
attending the Group Board will end.  
Number of members present before and 
after the change remains ten.

The Group Board’s shareholder members 
are elected for one year at a time while 
employee representatives are elected for 
two years at a time.

According to the Articles of Association 
any shareholder owning at least 25 per 
cent of the shares in the company is enti-
tled to appoint a Board member directly. 
Blommenholm Industrier AS, which owns 
26.1 per cent of the shares, is the only 
shareholder that has this right. There are 
three classes of shares in Blommenholm 
Industrier, four A-shares with voting rights 
representing 0.1 per cent of the share capi-
tal, 19.98 per cent B-shares without voting 
rights and 79.82 per cent C-shares which 
pay reduced dividents and carry no voting 
rights. The Tinius Trust owns the four 
A-shares with voting rights and 75 % of 
the C-shares, counting for a total of 60 per 
cent of shares outstanding in the company. 
The remaining shares are owned by  
the companies Beltenut, Faros Forvaltning, 
Odden Forvaltning and Alba Forvaltning 
which in turn are owned by the heirs after 
Tinius Nagell-Erichsen. The Tinius Trust 
is described in more detail in the report 
on corporate social responsibility, in the 
Trust’s own annual report and on the 
Trust’s website www.tinius.com.

The Group Board’s members in the election 
period 2011-2012 can be seen here.

The Group Board’s independence
The Group Board’s independence is de-
scribed in further detail in the Nomination 
Comitee’s report.

According to section 6-27 of the Public 
Limited Companies Act, a director may 
not take part in the discussions on or 
decision regarding an issue that is of 
such importance to the director or any 
of the director’s related parties, that the 
director must be regarded as having a 
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prominent personal or economic special 
interest in the matter. It is the individual 
director’s responsibility to continuously 
assess whether or not there are any such 
circumstances that are objectively likely 
to weaken the public’s confidence in the 
director’s independence or which may lead 
to conflicts of interest in connection with 
the Board’s handling of the matter. Such 
circumstances are to be brought to the 
attention of the chair of the Group Board. 
The Board’s instructions particularly deal 
with directors’ participation in competing 
enterprises.

The Directors’ shareholdings are disclosed 
in note 12 of Schibsted ASA’s annual 
report.

The independence of Group Board directors 
is referred to in further detail in item 4 of 
this report and in the Nomination  
Comitee’s report.

Group Board meetings in 2011
In 2011, the Group Board held a total 
of eight meetings, of which one was a 
strategy meeting lasting for two days. In 
addition, some issues were decided on in 
emails following discussions at meetings. 
The Board believes such a procedure may 
be justifiable when issues have previously 
been discussed at a Board meeting. The 
strategy meeting is held at the beginning  
of summer each year, normally in June, 
and forms the basis of the Group’s strategy- 
and budget processes. Very few of the  
directors are unable to attend the Board- 
or committee meetings. Meetings that 
are not on the meeting schedule may be 
attended by telephone.
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9.
thE WOrK OF thE 
bOarD OF DIrECtOrs 

The Group Board’s role
The Group Board monitors both the 
group’s day-to-day management as 
performed by the CEO and Schibsted’s 
general activities. Accordingly, the Group 
Board ensures that the businesses are 
properly organized and that they have 
implemented adequate governance and 
control systems. The Group Board also 
keeps informed of the group’s financial 
performance, establishes necessary guide-
lines, and adopts plans and budgets for the 
businesses. The Group Board appoints the 
CEO and prepares the job description and 
terms and conditions for the position. The 
Group Board also discusses issues  
pertaining to the succession of key  
positions within the group.

Board instructions
The Group Board has established internal  
rules of procedures that describe the 
Board’s responsibilities, duties and 
administrative procedures. The rules of 
procedure also state the CEO’s duties to 
the Board. The Board reviews the rules of 
procedure to the Board and general  
management each year.

Meeting structure
The Group Board works on the basis of an 
annual meeting schedule which is normally 
agreed to at the first meeting after the  
Annual General Meeting. The meeting 
schedule includes strategic planning, 
business issues and oversight activities. 
At the same meeting, the Board appoints 
the members of the Board’s Compensation 
Committee and Audit Committee. The 
company’s Head of Legal Affairs is the 
Group Board secretary.

The CEO, in consultation with the chair of 
the Group Board, prepares the issues that 
are to be dealt with by the Group Board. 
Emphasis is placed on issues being well 
prepared with documentation being sent 
out in advance so that the Group Board has 
a satisfactory basis for its work. The Board 
discussions are presided over by the chair 
of the Group Board.

The meeting schedule, board documents 
and other important documents linked to 
the board work (stock exchange manual, 
board instructions, mandates for the board 
and committees, stock exchange notices 
and press releases, etc), as well as general 
analyses and market information, are avail-
able to the directors through the Board 
Portal, which is a web-based reading tool 
for the directors. The Board Portal simpli-
fies the directors’ work and makes it more 
efficient, and gives the Board easier access 
to up-to-date information. It also allows 
the directors to study presentations given 
at meetings and the industry’s regulatory 
framework, market and competitive  
situation, etc.

The Group Board’s evaluation of  
its own work
The Group Board evaluates its own work 
each year, either itself or using external 
assistance. This forms the basis for the 
Nomination Committee’s annual board 
evaluation work. The Board considers itself 
to be well functioning, with directors whose 
expertice and experience complement each 
other. The frequency and location of the 
board meetings function well.
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Interaction with the company
The Board is regularly invited to selected 
seminars and conferences arranged by 
Schibsted – such as Schibsted’s annual 
“Journalism Award”.

Schibsted is a member of the Norwegian 
Institute of Directors, a membership society 
which gives directors an opportunity to 
participate in seminars and discussion 
groups that consider key issues which  
affect the Board’s work and the work of 
the Board’s committees.

In order to strengthen and utilise the 
directors’ expertise and experience relating 
to the Group’s operations, some Group 
directors are also directors of the Group’s 
subsidiaries. Of the shareholder-elected 
directors, these are currently Karl-Christian 
Agerup, a director of Aftenposten, and 
Monica Caneman, a director of Schibsted 
Sverige.

The Group Board’s use of committees
In accordance with Norwegian legislation 
Schibsted has established an Audit  
Committee and a Compensation Committee  
which are intended to contribute to  
thorough discussions on matters covered 
by the committees’ areas of work.

As Schibsted has gradually grown in  
size and extent and become more inter-
national, the Board’s scope of work and  
the complexity of the issues dealt with 
have increased. In the Board’s view, the 
establishment of a Compensation  
Committee and an Audit Committee has 
improved the Board’s preparatory work 
and discussions of complex cases relating 
to these committees’ areas of work. The 

committees function well and interact 
well with the Board as regards both the 
exchange of information and the division of 
responsibilities and work. The committees 
allow the Board to deal thoroughly with 
issues in important areas relating to  
corporate governance and internal controls, 
and give the Board more time to discuss 
fundamental and strategic issues. At the 
same time, the Group Board is aware that 
the creation of committees may lead to 
it having less responsibility for issues. 
Committees are therefore only used when 
the complexity and scope of an issue so 
require.

The Group Board’s Compensation 
Committee
The Compensation Committee is a sub-
committee to the Group Board and has no 
decision-making authority. The Compensation  
Committee is appointed by the Group 
Board for one year terms.

The Compensation Committee prepares 
matters relating to the Group CEO’s 
remuneration for the Board. In addition, the 
committee assists the Board by dealing 
with fundamental questions, guidelines 
and strategies linked to the overall  
remuneration paid to other members of the 
Group management and senior managers 
in key subsidiaries. 

The Committee monitors the use of long-
term incentives in the Group and makes 
preparations for the Board’s annual discus-
sions on the Group’s long-term incentives 
(the LTI programme) for selected managers. 
For further information, refer to item 12 of 
this report.

The CEO attends Committee meetings 
unless his own remuneration is to be 
discussed. The company’s Head of Legal 
Affairs is the secretary of the  
Compensation Committee.

The Committee was established in 2004.  
In 2010, the Committee consisted of the 
following members: Ole Jacob Sunde (chair), 
Marie Ehrling and Anne Lise von der Fehr.

The Group Board’s Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is a sub-committee 
of the Group Board and has no decision-
making authority. The Audit Committee is 
appointed by the Group Board for one year 
terms.

The Audit Committee prepares the Board’s 
quality assurance of the financial reports. 
In addition, the committee monitors the 
Group’s internal control system and risk 
management systems for financial report-
ing and assess and monitor the external 
auditor’s work and independence. As part 
of its work, the Audit Committee conducts 
reviews of the Group’s main activities 
in which representatives of the Group 
management and local management also 
participate.

The Group’s CFO and external auditor attend 
Audit Committee meetings on a regular 
basis. The company’s compliance officer is 
the secretary of the Audit Committee.

The Committee was established in 2007. 
In 2011, the Audit Committee consisted of 
the following members: Monica Caneman 
(chair), Christian Ringnes and  
Karl-Christian Agerup.
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10.
rIsK MaNagEMENt 
aND INtErNal  
CONtrOl 

The Board regards good corporate gover-
nance as an important premise for value 
creation, credibility and trust, as well as for 
access to capital.

Financial reporting
As a tool for managing the continuous 
follow-up and control of the Group’s opera-
tions, the Board receives a thorough report 
on the Group’s status from the manage-
ment. This includes the financial reporting 
of the Group’s main figures, the status 
of business matters, financial market 
information and a status report on each 
business area. The Board has established 
routines for following up and governing the 
Group’s ongoing projects. The establish-
ment of an Audit Committee has strength-
ened this function in the Group.

The Audit Committee’s main responsibility 
is to monitor the process prior to the closing 
of the financial statements and to follow 
up the internal controls over financial 
reporting. This takes place through reports 
from management and the external auditor. 
Schibsted’s quarterly financial reports are 
reviewed by the Group Board. Apart from 
the normal examination of the figures, 
emphasis is also placed on reviewing 
discretionary assessments and estimates 
in addition to any changes to accounting 
practices.

Schibsted’s Group Accounting prepares the 
Group’s financial reports and ensures they 
are in accordance with prevailing accounting 
standards and legislation. In connection 
with the quarterly reports, general controls 
on the reasonableness and more detailed 
reconciliation controls are carried out in 
connection with the quality assurance of 

figures reported by subsidiaries and  
of consolidated figures. Group Accounting  
provides subsidiaries with technical 
acounting expertise as required. Quarterly 
review meetings are also held with the 
largest companies in the business areas 
Media Houses Scandinavia, Media Houses 
International and Online Classifieds.

Schibsted’s Group Accounting has prepared 
financial and accounting manuals that 
are made available to all the subsidiaries 
via the group’s intranet. These manuals 
describe reporting requirements, content, 
guidelines and deadlines.

Monitoring of risk management and 
internal controls within the company
Each manager in the Group is responsible 
for risk management and internal controls 
within his/her area of responsibility. 
Schibsted is continuously implementing 
and further developing guidelines for all 
companies relating to their continuous 
follow-up of risk management and internal 
controls over financial reporting.

The compliance officer is responsible for 
initiating and monitoring the annual risk 
management and internal controls process 
in the Group on behalf of the Group’s CFO 
and CEO. The compliance officer reports 
functionally and administratively to the 
CFO. If necessary, the compliance officer 
reports directly to the Audit Committee.

A bottom-up and top-down risk assess-
ment of the largest companies in the 
business areas Media Houses Scandinavia 
and Online Classifieds were conducted in 
the autumn of 2011. The result of this risk 
assessment has been reviewed at  
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meetings with the Audit Committee and 
the Group Board.

Schibsted ASA is a Norwegian group of 
companies with considerable international 
shareholdings. Companies outside Norway 
have their own governing bodies in  
accordance with local legislation of each 
individual country. The internal controls 
over financial reporting are monitored by 
these governing bodies with assistance from 
the management’s day-to-day monitoring 
and the external auditor’s testing.

In the last two years Schibsted has 
increased the focus on internal control in 
its subsidiaries. In the course of 2010 and 
2011 a project to improve internal control 
has been implemented in most Group  
companies, documenting the most  
important processes in financial reporting 
and identifying key controls. 

To improve the quality of financial reporting  
in the Group, reduce vulnerability and 
streamline processes, two service centres 
were set up in 2010, one in Sweden and 
one in Norway. The service centres are 
intended to be skill centres, advisors and 
service providers within the finance, credit, 
invoicing and payroll functions and to  
support compliance with the laws and 
regulations which apply to the company 
relating to finance and tax. Most Norwegian 
and Swedish subsidiaries receive account-
ing services from the service centres. This 
arrangement using a common service 
centre has been successful over time.

For further information on the Group’s 
financial risk, refer to note 9 of the group’s 
annual financial statements.

Ethics and social responsibility
Issues related to ethics and social re-
sponsibility fall within the remit of the 
compliance officer and the Group’s legal 
department. A set of guidlines on ethics 
have been prepared and will be launched 
in 2012 together with a new whistleblower 
line with external reporting (Schibsted 
SpeakUp). The guidelines will be reviewed 
annually. The Group’s ethical guidelines 
are available on the group’s website.  
The Group Board works further on crafting 
a strategy for how our companies may 
contribute to social responsibility in a 
broader perspective. 

No special processes have been prepared 
for charting and monitoring the risk of 
violations of Schibsted’s ethical require-
ments by its suppliers. The need for 
special processes in this area is constantly 
under review. The compliance officer is re-
sponsible for ensuring that the Group has 
established good procedures at all stages in 
the procurement process. The subsidiaries’ 
management and control processes in this 
area were reviewed in 2011 and this work 
will continue in 2012.
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11.
rEMuNEratION OF 
thE bOarD OF 
DIrECtOrs 

The General Meeting determines the 
remuneration payable to the Group Board 
each year. The directors’ fees are decided in 
advance for one year at a time and are fixed 
amounts that do not depend on results or 
involve options.

If a payment has been made to directors in 
addition to the normal directors’ fees, this 
is disclosed in note 27 of the group’s annual 
financial statements.

For further information on remuneration to 
the Group Board, refer to the Nomination 
Comitee’s report and to note 27 of the group’s 
annual financial statements.
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12.
rEMuNEratION  
OF EXECutIvE 
pErsONNEl 

The Compensation Committee prepares 
matters for the Board concerning the 
Group CEO’s remuneration.  In addition, 
the Committee assists the Group Board in 
dealing with fundamental questions,  
guidelines and strategies linked to the 
overall remuneration for other members of 
the Group management and senior  
managers in key subsidiaries.

The company’s declaration regarding the 
determination of salary and other remu-
neration to the management of Schibsted, 

gives an account of the main principles of 
the company’s management remuneration 
policy, including the extent and arrangement 
of bonus and long-term incentive schemes. 
The Group Board’s declaration regarding  
the determination of salary and other  
remuneration to Schibsted’s management 
is discussed by the Annual General Meeting  
and made available to the shareholders 
on the company’s website when the notice 
calling the Annual General Meeting is  
sent out.
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13.
INFOrMatION aND 
COMMuNICatION 

Dialogue with shareholders and the 
financial market
Communication with the Norwegian and 
international stock markets is afforded 
a high priority at Schibsted. Schibsted’s 
dedicated and active management and 
investor relations departments work on 
a daily basis with the financial markets 
to make sure that relevant and sufficient 
information hits the market at the right 
time and provides a basis for a correct 
pricing of Schibsted shares. The goal is to 
increase knowledge about the company, 
build trust in Schibsted in the investment 
market, achieve improved liquidity for our 
shares and create the basis for the correct 
pricing of the share. Openness, accessibility 
and transparency are fundamental to good 
relationships with investors, analysts and 
other players in the financial market. The 
Group Board is regularly updated on these 
activities. 

The reporting of financial information
Schibsted aims to issue financial reports 
that investors can have confidence in. In 
accordance with its mandate, the Group 
Board’s Audit Committee monitors the 
work on the company’s financial reports.
Schibsted publishes its financial figures 
quarterly. In connection with the Group’s 
quarterly reports, open presentations to 
investors are arranged. At these presenta-
tions, the CEO and CFO review the results 
and comment on the market and outlook. 
The chair of the Group Board also attends 
thee presentations. Members of the Group 
management attend these presentations 
as required.

The presentations in connection with the 
quarterly results are made available on the 
company’s website. The complete annual 
financial statements and directors’ report 
are made available on the company’s 
website at least 21 days before the Annual 
General Meeting.  The company’s finan-
cial calendar is announced for one year 
at a time and published on the company’s 
website.

Other market information
In accordance with the Norwegian Securities  
Trading Act and Stock Exchange Act, 
notifications are distributed to the Oslo Stock 
Exchange and national and international 
news agencies and are published on  
Schibsteds website.

Schibsted regularly arranges a Capital 
Markets Day in order to present its strategy  
and other key development trends. 
Schibsted’s Capital Markets Day was last 
held February 28th 2012. A video webcast 
of the entire event and the presentation 
material are available on the company’s 
website.

For further information, refer to Shareholder 
information and the company’s website.
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14.
taKE OvErs

The Group Board has prepared principles 
and guidelines for handling any take-over 
bids. These principles were revised in 2011.

For more on this subject, please refer to 
the discussion of restrictions in the  
company’s statutes on ownership and  
voting rights attached to the shares in item 
4 of this statement.

As referred to in item  3 of this statement, 
the Group Board obtained continuing  
authority to buy back the group’s own 
shares in accordance with the Norwegian 
Public Limited Companies Act at the 
ordinary general meeting of the company 
in 2011. The authority stipulates that the 
Group Board is free to determine the method 
of acquisition and any later sale of the 

shares and that the authorisation may also 
be used to buy and sell shares in takeover 
situations. Section 6-17, second subsection 
of the Securities Trading Act allows the 
general meeting to grant the Board such 
authorisations. The Board’s use of such 
authorisations is, however, restricted under 
point 14 of the NCBG’s Code of Practice. 
The Group Board must consider the use 
of such authorisations in the context of 
the specific takeover situation. As referred 
to above, the Group Board has prepared 
guidelines for handling any take-over bids 
and the issue of using authorisations in 
company acquisition situations is high-
lighted as one of the Group Board’s most 
important tasks if a take-over situation 
should arise.
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15.
auDItOr  

Appointment of auditor
The external auditor is elected by the  
General Meeting. The Audit Committee  
presents a recommendation on the appoint- 
ment of an external auditor to the Group 
Board. The Group Board’s recommendation 
is then presented to the General Meeting, 
which makes the formal appointment of 
the Group’s external auditor. As a general 
rule, all Group companies are to use the 
same audit firm. Exceptions may be  
approved by the Group CFO.

Tenders for the Group’s external audit  
services as from the 2011 financial year 
were invited in the autumn of 2010. 
Following a thorough evaluation by  
management and the Audit Committee,  
it has been decided to continue with  
Ernst & Young as the company’s auditor.

The Group Board’s relationship with the 
external auditor
According to its mandate, the Audit  
Committee is responsible for ensuring that 
Schibsted is subject to an independent and 
effective external audit. The Audit Com-
mittee will evaluate the following factors 
relating to the external auditor each year:

• The audit firm’s independence
• The quality of the auditing services
• The estimated fee

The Audit Committee will submit a proposal 
to the Group Board and the Annual General 
Meeting regarding the approval of the  
external auditor’s fee. For information on 
the fees payable to the external auditor for 
the 2010 financial year, refer to note 27 of 
the group’s annual financial statements.
Ernst & Young is Schibsted’s external 

auditor. The external auditor presents a 
plan for the audit work each year. This plan is 
presented to the Audit Committee. The  
company’s external auditor is present when 
the management presents the preliminary 
consolidated financial statements to the 
Group Board, and also when the final results 
are presented if appropriate. The external 
auditor also conducts an annual review 
for the Audit Committee of the company’s 
internal controls, including identified weak-
nesses and proposed improvements. The 
external auditor regularly attends Audit 
Committee meetings and holds annual 
meetings with the Group Board at which 
the management is not present.

The external auditor attends the company’s 
General Meeting and comments on the 
auditor’s report.

The external auditor’s independence
The external auditor must under no cir-
cumstances perform advisory services or 
other services if these may affect or raise 
doubts about the auditor’s independence. 
The Group has prepared guidelines on the 
relationship with the external auditor.

In the Group Board’s view, the advisory 
services provided by the external auditor in 
2011 do not influence the auditor’s  
independence, but the Group Board is 
aware of the potential issues related to 
this. This issue is monitored by the Audit 
Committee. See note 27 for information on 
fees related to auditing and consulting.
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16.
OthEr KEy bODIEs  
IN thE grOup  

Group employee representatives
The Group has established a Group employee 
representative scheme that is intended to 
safeguard the employees’ interests in  
relation to the Group management in cases 
dealt with at Group level that may be of 
importance to the Group’s employees as a 
whole. One Group employee representative 
has been elected from Norway and one has 
been elected from Sweden.  

Editors’ Forum
The Group’s international editors’ forum is 
described in greater detail in the section on 
corporate social responsibility.

Schibsted’s Group Council
Schibsted’s Group Council was established 
in 2004 based on the rules stipulated 
concerning the Establishment of European 
Works Councils.

The Group Council’s objective is to promote 
development, motivation, co-responsibility 
and mutual trust between the management 
and the employees. 

The Group Council is intended to ensure 
active collaboration and to be a forum 
for information, discussion and dialogue in 
the Group. The Group Council cooperates 
closely with the two Group employee 
representatives. The Group Council is a 
supplement to the employees’  
representation in their own companies.

Importance is attached to continuous  
contact between employees across national 
boundaries. The Council convenes twice a 
year. The meetings last for three days and 
are attended by the CEO and management 
team the second day.

The Schibsted European Work Council 
currently comprises 34 representatives 
from seven countries who are elected by 
and among the employees. The Council is 
headed by Marianne Falk, Group Employee 
Representative from Schibsted Sverige.
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Schibsted Media Group is a listed company that intends its shares to be perceived as an 
attractive investment. A competitive return is to be based on a healthy economy. The goal 
is to ensure a competitive return through long-term growth in the share price and dividend. 
The company’s shares are as far as possible to achieve a price which reflects the company’s 
long-term profit-earning capacity.

The strategy and vision which Schibsted’s Board has agreed on implies the Group’s 
operations must adapt quickly and developed rapidly. Schibsted’s capital structure must 
be sufficiently robust so that we can maintain the desired freedom of action. A cornerstone 
of Schibsted is its positions in the online and print Scandinavian media markets. Some of 
these operations are exposed to advertising markets that are subject to cyclical fluctuations. 
Our media houses’ strong brands and market-leading positions help to ensure a stable, 
good cash flow. Online Classifieds operations in both Scandinavia and other countries 
contribute strong, profitable growth.

THE SCHIBSTED SHARE - KEY FIGURES

 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Highest share price (NOK) 182.70 172.80 132.30 189.70 245.50

Lowest share price (NOK)*) 120.00 119.10 27.66 51.17 177.75

Share price at year end (NOK)*) 167.40 172.00 130.10 66.16 187.71

Earnings per share 7.00 27.04 4.74 (13.95) 9.52

Earnings per share - adjusted 8.76 9.72 4.42 2.79 8.31

Dividend per share 3.50**) 3.00 1.50 0.00 6.00

Average number of  106,020,714 103,337,507 83,256,121 64,969,763 66,718,726
outstanding shares

Outstanding shares at  106,941,657 103,773,174 103,303,474 64,589,359 66,014,66
year end

*) Historical share price adjusted for the split out of subscription rights in connection with the rights issue in 2009.
**) Proposal.

sharEhOlDEr
INFOrMatION
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DIvIDEND aND buy baCKs OF sharEs 
The distribution of dividend and opportunity to buy back shares are regarded as suitable 
ways to adapt the capital structure. The Group’s dividend policy is to pay out 25-40 per 
cent of the Group’s cash flow per share. In periods of weak economic conditions, the  
dividend level is maintained as long as the group’s capital structure permits. Such a  
dividend level will mean that the return on dividend Schibsted’s shares is competitive in 
both the Norwegian market and among European media companies.

The Board has decided to propose to the General Meeting on 11 May 2012 to pay dividend 
for 2011 of NOK 3.50 per share. Depending on the general meeting’s decision, the dividend 
will be paid on 24 May 2012 to those registered as shareholders on the general meeting date.

The general meeting has authorised Schibsted’s Board to buy back up to 10 per cent of 
the company’s shares. The buy backs will take place in the market over time and must be 
seen in connection with Schibsted’s dividend policy, investment opportunities and long-
term views on its capital structure. The Board will ask the general meeting to allow the 
authorisation for the coming period to also be used in an acquisition situation. During 2011 
a total of 1,129,301 own shares were repurchased at an average price of NOK 145.4382.

sharEhOlDEr struCturE 
Blommenholm Industrier, which is in turn controlled by the Tinius Trust, is Schibsted’s 
largest shareholder, giving the Group long-term ownership stability.  A consequence of 
this is also that the number of issued shares will normally be stable for a long time. This 
means that the earnings from operations, combined with loans, will be the most important 
financing source for growth in the form of acquisitions or new focus areas. This indicates 
that Schibsted should safeguard its freedom of action by having a relatively high level of 
equity and low debt-to-equity ratio over time.  Financial independence and a strong financial 
position are also important for ensuring the public’s confidence and trust in our various media.

Schibsted’s shares are freely marketable. The Company’s Articles of Association are 
worded bearing in mind the Group’s publishing responsibilities and role in society as a  
media company. Schibsted’s independence and integrity are ensured through restrictions 
on ownership and voting rights in article 6 of the Articles of Association. No shareholder 
may own or vote at a general meeting for more than 30 per cent of the shares.

Any shareholder that owns 25 per cent or more of Schibsted ASA’s shares is entitled to 
appoint one director directly. Blommenholm Industrier, which owns 26.1 per cent of the 
shares, is currently the only shareholder that has this right. The four voting A shares in 
Blommenholm Industrier AS are owned by the Tinius Trust.
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rEturN
The Schibsted share is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange with the ticker code SCH. In 
2011, the Schibsted share produced a negative return for shareholders of 11.9 per cent, 
including dividend of NOK 3.00 per share. In comparison, the Oslo Stock Exchange  
Benchmark Index (OSEBX) produced a negative return of 12.5 per cent.

sharEhOlDErs
The number of Schibsted shareholders rose in 2011, from 4,899 to 5,275. Many new 
shareholders were enlisted as a result of the merger with Media Norge. At the end of 2011, 
48 per cent of the Schibsted shares were owned by foreign-resident shareholders. One year 
earlier, this share was 46 per cent. On average, around 288,000 Schibsted shares were traded 
per day on the Oslo Stock Exchange in 2011. This is two per cent fewer than in 2010. At the 
same time there is a clear trend for a larger amount of share trading, both in Schibsted and 
other companies, to occur in market places other than the Oslo Stock Exchange. 
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SHAREHOLDERS 2011 2010
Share of foreign-resident shareholders: 48 % 46 %

Number of shareholders: 5,275 4,899

Number of shares: 108,003,615 108,003,615

Number of own shares: 1,061,958 4,230,440

The 20 largest shareholders as at 04.01.2012: Number of shares Share in %
Blommenholm Industrier AS 28,188,589 26.1

Fidelity Investments 9,852,554 9.1

Folketrygdfondet 9,154,405 8.5

Tweedy Browne 4,611,891 4.3

NWT Media AS 4,545,815 4.2

Taube Hodson Stonex Partners 4,544,329 4.2

Handelsbanken Asset Management 2,865,798 2.7

Nordea Asset Management 1,712,285 1.6

Swedbank Robur 1,520,702 1.4

Rational Asset Management 1,315,217 1.2

People’s Bank of China 1,245,257 1.2

DnB NOR Asset Management 1,132,798 1.1

Amundi Asset Management 1,113,726 1.0

Schibsted ASA 1,061,958 1.0

KLP 1,024,823 1.0

Nordea Fonder (Sweden) 1,023,888 1.0

Franklin Templeton 946,678 0.9

Odin Fund Management 903,540 0.8

Danske Capital 878,288 0.8

Storebrand Investments 874,414 0.8

Sum 20 largest shareholders 78,516,955 72.7

For an overview of the 20 largest shareholders as at 31 December 2011 taken from the public VPS list, refer to the annual 
accounts for Schibsted ASA, note 12



72

the schibsted Media group is an international media group head-
quartered in Oslo. the group has operations in 27 countries.  
Our vision is “shaping the media of tomorrow. today.” We believe 
strongly in the value that our content and our services give to our 
readers and customers. We want this to be as far reaching as  
possible.

Schibsted has organised its operations in two strategic pillars. One pillar is the large media 
houses that Schibsted has established in its core markets. These have sound positions and 
strong brands in various channels. From previously being pure newspaper editors, the editorial 
environment now delivers content to the new digital channels such as the Internet, mobile 
phones and e-readers. Through increased distribution, the media houses are strengthening 
their position in relation to advertisers. 

The second pillar is the web-based market places and classified ads. Schibsted has market-
leading, profitable operations in a number of verticals in Norway, Sweden, Spain and France. 
Experiences from successful establishments in the core markets form the basis for invest-
ments in online classifieds in new markets. Schibsted is in the process of taking a leading and 
profitable position within digital classified ads in a number of new markets such as Austria 
and Italy.

Schibsted is also looking to exploit the high traffic to its Internet sites in order to develop 
new business opportunities in the form of digital consumer services. This is an area which is 
continually increasing in significance and revenue. So far, the concept has been established 
in Sweden and Norway, while assessments will be carried out in other countries in which 
Schibsted has substantial online traffic.

In order to develop Schibsted in line with our ambitions, we are systematically working to  
develop the organisation, including the mapping and further development of expertise within 
all companies. Management development, continuous improvements, sales and market 
insight are all key elements in the Group’s work on developing expertise.

bOarD OF DIrECtOrs’ 
rEpOrt 2011
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Schibsted Media Group has delivered good results for 2011. 

An increased rate of investment in 2011 linked to the rolling-out of the online classified  
business in new markets has adversely affected the profit. All costs related to launching 
new websites are expensed.

The online classified services did well in many countries in 2011 and Schibsted is focusing on 
creating further growth. Future growth will come through the development of new revenue 
streams for established operations and by rolling out established concepts in new markets. 

Developments in the advertising markets in Scandinavia were positive in the first half 
of 2011, followed by a somewhat weaker development in the second half of the year. 
Revenues from online advertising were good throughout the year. The trend for paper was 
somewhat weaker. 

New austerity measures have been implemented to reduce the cost base in the Media 
House Scandinavia business area.

 In May 2011 the merger between Schibsted ASA and Media Norge was closed.

The transition to digital media means a considerable decline in the circulation of the 
Group’s single-copy sales newspapers and efforts are continuously being made to develop 
products and new revenue streams together with at high focus on costs.

 2011 was characterised by the increased use and popularity of smart phones and e-readers. 
The online newspapers have seen a large growth in the traffic of the mobile services and 
several of the Group’s newspapers have been launched for Ipad. The development of  
user-payment models for digitally distributed editorial products is an important priority for 
the Group. 

The Board of Directors proposes allocating a dividend of NOK 3.50 (3.00) per share for 
the 2011 financial year.

hIghlIghts 
IN 2011



74

schibsted Media group presents the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial reporting 
standards (IFrs) that are approved by the Eu. 

SCHIBSTED MEDIA GROUP (MNOK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 14,378 13,768

Operating expenses (12,232) (11,605)

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share  2,146 2,163
profit (loss) from associated companies

share of profit (loss) from associated companies 39 36

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 2,185 2,199

Depreciation and amortisation (505) (588)

Impairment loss (191) (110)

Other revenues and expenses (50) 1,909

Operating profit 1,439 3,410

Operating revenues and operating margin (EBITDA) from 2005 to 2011:

Operating revenues reported for the Group increased by four per cent from 2010 to 2011. 
The underlying growth (adjusted for acquisitions and disposals of enterprises and currency 
fluctuations) is six per cent. The increase in revenue stems from good growth within the 
Group’s online classified advertising and improved advertising markets for digital media 
within the media houses. 

aNalysIs OF thE 
2011 FINaNCIal 
statEMENts

16 000

14 000

12 000

10 000

8 000

6 000

4 000

2 000

0

18%

16%

14%

12%

10%

8%

6%
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Revenues (MNOK)

Operating margin (EBITDA)(%)



75

The Online Classifieds business area had an underlying growth in operating revenues from 
2010 to 2011 of 21 per cent. The growth is driven by FINN, Blocket, Leboncoin and Anuntis. 
The established operations within Schibsted Classified Media have an underlying growth of 
25 per cent from 2010 to 2011.

Underlying growth in advertising revenues was nine per cent. Advertising revenues from print 
fell by an underlying two per cent. Digital online advertising had an underlying growth from 2010 
to 2011 of 18 per cent. Changes to readership habits and an acceleration in the transition to 
digital media have led to a considerable decline in the circulation of VG and Aftonbladet single-
copy newspapers. Total single-copy revenues fell by an underlying seven per cent, while the  
development of total advertising revenues improved with an underlying increase of four per cent.

The Group’s total operating expenses experienced an underlying increase of seven per 
cent. Schibsted is investing significant amounts in the launch of online classifieds in new 
markets based on the Blocket technology and the roll-out rate increased in 2011. The 
projects are characterised by a short development phase and active marketing in order to 
build market positions and future growth. In 2011, the consolidated financial statements 
were charged by an operating loss (EBITDA) of NOK 412 million (225 million) due to the 
portfolio of classified websites in the investment phase. Adjusted for the costs of these 
roll-outs, there is an underlying growth in costs of less than five per cent.

The number of full-time employees in the online businesses is 33 percent of total full-time 
employees in the Schibsted Media Group. For print operations, the number of full-time 
employees is 62 percent of the total.

Depreciation and amortisation in the Group were reduced as a result of down-sizing of 
operations and the impairment of non-current assets and intangible assets.

Other revenues and expenses in 2011 of NOK 50 million (NOK 1.9 billion) mainly consist 
of restructuring costs of NOK 202 million. This is a result of the implementation of the 
initiative to reduce the cost base in the Media House Scandinavia segment. These costs are 
mainly related to cuts to the workforce in Media Norge, VG and Schibsted Norge. 

Amendments to pension plans in certain subsidiaries have resulted in a gain of NOK 99 
million. The amendments comprise amendments to benefits in existing plans and change 
from unfunded benefit plans to insurance of disability benefits.

In relation to the ongoing downscaling of the operations in Sandrew Metronome, gains on 
sale of subsidiaries and gains on sale of intangible assets are recognised in 2011 by NOK 
10 million and NOK 33 million, respectively. Restructuring costs related to the  
ongoing downscaling of the operations amounted to NOK 28 million.

There was also a positive effect from recognising as income a provision related to a legal 
dispute settled in Sweden.
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EvENts aFtEr thE rEpOrtINg pErIOD 
Schibsted announced on 12 January 2012 an offer to the shareholders in Aspiro AB to 
acquire all the shares in Aspiro AB for SEK 1.65 in cash per share. Aspiro AB is a leading 
provider of streaming services for music and TV. The offer values the equity of Aspiro AB 
at approximately SEK 340 million. Schibsted has until 13 March 2012 acquired shares  
under the offer and outside the offer and Schibsted’s ownership interest is 74.3 per cent 
after these purchases. Schibsted has through the share purchases uptained control of  
Aspiro AB and Aspiro AB will thus be consolidated as a subsidiary from the acquisitiondate.

Schibsted has in February 2012, in order to increase the number of sources of financing 
and diversify the Group’s loan structure, issued NOK 800 million of new unsecured bonds 
in the Norwegian bond market. The issuance is split between a five year loan of  
NOK 500 million and a seven year loan of NOK 300 million.

thE balaNCE shEEt 
At the close of 2011, the Group had total balance sheet assets of NOK 16.3 billion (NOK 
16.5 billion). Non-current assets constitute the largest component at NOK 12.5 (NOK 12.8) 
billion. The carrying amount of the Group’s goodwill and other intangible assets was NOK 
9.6 billion (9.7 billion). 

The carrying amount of the goodwill and intangible assets not depreciated was valued as 
at 31 December 2011. In 2011 goodwill was impaired by NOK 121 million (NOK 77 million) 
and intangible assets by NOK 64 million (NOK 15 million).

Schibsted’s holding of treasury shares, acquired under the current authorisation from the  
Annual General Meeting to increase the number of treasury shares to 10,800,361 during  
a period of 12 months, is reduced from 4,230,440 shares to 1,061,958 shares during 
2011. Net purchase of treasury shares amounts to NOK 159 million (1,092,693 shares) in 
2011. 4,261,157 treasury shares are in addition used as part payment when increasing the 
ownership interest in Media Norge and as payment in connection with performance-based 
share purchase programme. Total value of treasury shares used for these purposes is 
NOK 693 million.

LIQUIDITY 
Schibsted’s net interest bearing debt was NOK 1.7 billion as at 31 December 2011, and is 
marginally lower than at the end of the previous year.
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Schibsted refinanced its loan facilities and issued bond loans in 2010, while at the beginning  
of 2011 a loan was taken out with the Norwegian Export Credit Agency. At the end of 
2011, Schibsted has a diversified loan portfolio in relation to both lenders and terms to 
maturity. Most of the Group’s borrowing and borrowing limits are long-term and mature in 
2013 and 2015.

Schibsted’s borrowing facilities and bank loans are subject to financial conditions linked 
to the ratio of net interest-bearing debt to gross operating profit (EBITDA). This ratio was 
0.75 at the end of 2011 and is well within the conditions set for the Group’s financial loans.

The Group’s liquidity reserve consisted of long-term unutilised borrowing limits and cash 
reserves, and amounted to NOK 4 billion at the end of the year. This gives a liquidity  
reserve of 28 per cent of annual revenues.

Cash FlOWs 
Net cash flows from operating activities in 2011 were NOK 1,616 million compared to 
NOK 1,941 million in 2010. Higher paid taxes and change in working capital are the main 
reasons for the reduction.

The net cash flows from investing activities amounted to NOK -330 million  
(NOK -724 million). The Group has invested NOK 354 million (NOK 427 million) in  
non-current assets and intangible assets.

The net cash flows from financing activities were NOK -1,158 million in 2011  
(NOK -1,819 million). Payment due to increase in ownership interests in subsidiaries 
amounts to NOK 596 million of which Media Norge accounted for NOK 561 million.

Negative cash flows from financing activities in 2010 were attributed to the down payment 
of interest-bearing liabilities (NOK 1,279 million), payment of dividends and payments 
related to the increase in shareholding in subsidiaries.

prOFItabIlIty prOgraMME 
At the end of 2011, Schibsted Media Group implemented measures to reduce the cost 
base in the Media House Scandinavia business area by NOK 190-210 million. Some of 
this effect relates to a reduction in the number of full-time employees by 160-200. These 
measures will be introduced during the period 2012-2014, with the majority during 2012. 
Restructuring costs of NOK 202 million are recognised as a consequence of implementation 
of measures to reduce the cost base. 
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The measures are aimed at operations in Media Norge and VG in Norway, as well as  
Schibsted’s operations in Sweden, primarily Aftonbladet.

Schibsted Media Group is continuously working on improvements in processes in order to 
be cost efficient.

rEsEarCh aND DEvElOpMENt aCtIvItIEs
All the Group’s companies are making continuous efforts to further develop existing products 
and to develop products that will provide new revenue streams. Expenditure related to  
development of intangible assets to be used in new markets will normally be expensed as 
the requirement to demonstrate probable future economic benefits will normally not be met.

Schibsted Media Group uses substantial resources in developing products for new platforms 
and markets.

aNalysIs OF MarKEt rIsK 
Schibsted’s advertising revenues are to a certain extent affected by the developments 
in real economy figures such as GDP growth and unemployment. Advertising revenues 
amounted to 59 per cent (56 per cent) of total revenues in 2011. Advertising revenues from 
the recruitment markets, and to some extent real estate, are the segments most subject to 
cyclical fluctuations. Especially the print newspapers in Media Norge, InfoJobs.net,  
Anuntis.es and parts of Finn.no have advertising revenues from these segments. The total 
advertising revenues from the recruitment and real estate segments came to 11 per cent 
of the Group’s overall revenues in 2011. Future growth is expected to a large extent to 
come from consumer-oriented classifieds services such as Blocket and Leboncoin. These 
revenues are not considered to be very cyclical. 

Schibsted uses Norwegian krone (NOK) as base currency but is exposed to exchange rate 
fluctuations from operations abroad, mainly the Euro and the Swedish krona (SEK). Schibsted 
has exchange rate risks due to both balance sheet monetary items and the currency 
translation of investments in foreign operations. The Group makes use of loans in foreign 
currencies, forward contracts and an interest-rate and currency swap to reduce its foreign 
exchange exposure. The loans in foreign currencies and forward contracts are managed 
actively in accordance with the Group’s strategy, in order to reduce the currency risk.

Exchange rate fluctuations may affect the ratio of net interest-bearing debt to gross  
operating profit (EBITDA). A general 10 per cent deterioration in NOK will increase the 
Group’s net interest-bearing debt by around NOK 118 million as at 31 December 2011 and 
weaken the ratio of net interest-bearing debt to EBITDA by around 0.05.



79

Virtually all of the Group’s debt as at 31 December 2011 was subject to a variable interest 
rate. The Group’s debt is affected by changes in the interest rate market. A change of one 
percentage point in the variable interest rate changes Schibsted’s interest expenses by 
approximately NOK 24 million. 

Schibsted uses newsprint and is therefore exposed to price changes in the paper market.  
A change of one percentage point in price alters the Group’s raw materials costs by around  
NOK 8 million per year. The price of newsprint in Norway, Sweden, the Baltics and Spain is 
negotiated with suppliers each year and is already fixed for 2012. 

At the end of 2011, the Group had limited exposure in the stock market and therefore less 
risk of losses. 

As many of the Group’s products are sold on the basis of advance payment (subscription  
sales), there is little credit risk associated with the Group’s circulation revenues. Deposit 
schemes and credit insurance policies have been established for parts of the Group’s 
advertising revenues. Many of the private online ads are paid for by credit card, or by phone  
when the ad is ordered.

In 2009, the Ministry of Culture nominated the Mediestøtteutvalget (Media Support 
Committee) with the mandate of carrying out a comprehensive assessment of the use of 
financial instruments in the media sector, including the direct press subsidy schemes and 
exemption from VAT. The committee made its recommendation in December 2010. The 
committee was split on the question of continuing the zero VAT rate for paper newspapers. 
The majority believed that the zero rate for newspapers should be continued, combined 
with a low VAT rate (8 per cent) for digital services, while a small minority suggested that 
the low rate (8 per cent) should be introduced for all types of media. The recommendation 
was being distributed for consultation during the first half of 2011. The case has since 
been frequently debated in Norwegian media circles and in the cultural-political environ-
ment. However, the Ministry has still not finished its deliberations and it is still not clear 
when a proposal will be presented to the Norwegian Parliament.

16 May 2011, the Norwegian Government appointed an expert group to examine the rules 
concerning media ownership. The great changes in the media, particularly within technology 
and ownership structure, means it is time for a full review of the media ownership rules.

Schibsted has submitted its opinions to the expert committee, and participated in a hearing. 
The Group has actively participated in the public debate on the matter. Schibsted continues 
to follow the ongoing process and debate on media ownership.
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ONlINE rubrIKK

ONLINE CLASSIFIEDS (MNOK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 3,495 2,938

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 1,077 972

Schibsted has strong, profitable positions in the Online Classifieds markets in Norway,
Sweden, France and Spain. This business area also includes a portfolio of classified ad
websites in an investment phase in a number of different markets.

Main features in 2011: 
• In 2011 there was a strong development in Online Classifieds.
• This business area had an underlying growth of 21 per cent in its operating revenues (after 

adjusting for exchange rate fluctuations and acquisitions and disposals of enterprises). 
• Excluding investment phase operations, Online Classifieds had an EBITDA margin of  

46 per cent (45 %), while investments in roll-outs in new markets had a negative  
effect on the margin.

FINN.NO

Finn.no is clearly the number one website for online classified ads in Norway. The company 
is the market leader in the field of car, real estate, recruitment and “marketplace” ads.

FINN.NO (MNOK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 1,135 948

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  536 429
profit (loss) from associated companies

Unique users/week Finn.no (million) 2.6 2.3

Main features in 2011:
• 2011 was a good year for all of Finn.no’s markets and the company achieved strong  

top-line growth of 23 per cent and made a record profit in 2011. 
• Real estate ads grew underlying by four per cent in 2011, while car ads and recruitment 

ads increased by 21 and 36 per cent respectively. Market place increased by 24 per cent 
and travel by 27 per cent. This growth was due to a combination of price and volume. 

• Operating costs increased by 15 per cent from 2010 to 2011. The increase in costs was due 
to a higher level of activity in 2011 and higher expenses because of the top-line growth. 

• Finn.no continues to be the largest website in Norway, measured by the number of page views.
• The number of ads on Finn.no shows a growth of 16 per cent in 2011 compared to 2010 

and that is the highest level ever.
 

busINEss arEa 
aNalysIs
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hItta.sE

Hitta.se is purely an online directory service, and is the largest online directory in Sweden 
measured in terms of traffic volume.

ONLINE RUBRIKK (MSEK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 343 342

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  97 104
profit (loss) from associated companies

Unique users/week  Hitta.se (million) 3.5 3.4

Main features in 2011:
• Hitta.se has experienced a flat trend in revenue during 2011. 
• Hitta.se has elearly maintained its position as the market leader within online catalogues 

in Sweden for 2011, measured in terms of traffic volume.

sChIbstED ClassIFIED MEDIa 

All the Group’s online classifieds operations outside of Norway are gathered under one  
management in Schibsted Classified Media (SCM). Schibsted is one of the world’s leading 
corporate groups for online classifieds and has achieved traffic records in several markets 
for 2011. SCM established number one positions in Sweden, Spain and France with good 
growth and high profitability. It has also established new operations in a number of countries. 
In 2011 SCM acquired Done Deal and Tocmai, which hold the number one positions in 
Ireland and Romania respectively. There has also been a strong focus on verticals with the 
launch of Schibsted’s own job and property verticals in Blocket.se.

New investments in Schibsted Classified Media are reported as operations in the investment 
phase until they have reported an operating profit (EBITDA) for at least four successive 
quarters. In 2012 Subito and Willhaben will be transferred to the established operations 
group. SCM strengthened its growth in new markets in 2011. The Blocket concept has 
been launched in several new countries, including Brazil.

Main features in 2011:
• SCM increased underlying revenues by 23 per cent compared to 2010.
• SCM is investing in further expansion and, as a result, experienced significant growth in 

investments in new operations (investment phase) in 2011. This amounts to a total of 
NOK -412 million in lower EBITDA (NOK -225 million)
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SCHIBSTED CLASSIFIED MEDIA (MEUR) 2011 2010
Operating revenues  

sweden 76.4 65.2

International 163.1 128.3

Investment phase 22.4 15.3

print 4.7 5.8

HQ and eliminations (2.5) (0.9)

Total revenues 264.1 213.7

Gross operating profit  (EBITDA)  

sweden 43.6 39.9

International 75.1 51.7

Investment phase (52.9) (28.1)

print 0.9 0.7

HQ and eliminations (7.9) (6.5)

Total gross operating profit (EBITDA) 58.8 57.7

ESTABLISHED PHASE
Sweden:
• Blocket’s/Bytbil’s operating revenues grew by 15 per cent in 2011, calculated in local currency.
• This growth was driven by volume, the development of new sources of revenue and  

positive developments in brand advertising.
• Operating profit increased by an underlying 12 per cent between 2010 to 2011 in local currency. 
• Blocket saw a marked increase in traffic volumes in 2011, with a strong contribution from 

mobile.
• Blocket Jobb was launched in August and Blocket Eiendom was launched in September, 

and both have developed positively. 
International:
• Operating revenues rose underlying by 28 per cent, and both Segundamano.es (Anuntis) 

and Leboncoin.fr increased their revenues sharply in 2011. 
• There were strong increases in both traffic and revenues for Leboncoin and improved margins. 
• Unemployment remains high in Spain, but InfoJobs.net still managed to achieve  

revenues in 2011 on par with 2010, and consolidate its position as the market leader. 

INVESTMENT PHASE
• SCM has a clearly stated goal for building the foundations of future growth by establishing  

itself in new markets. This is done by establishing operations primarily based on the  
successful Swedish Blocket.se concept. Experiences from successful establishments in core 
markets form the basis of investment in online classifieds in new markets.  

• Schibsted Classified Media’s investment phase operations include activities in a total of 27  
countries. The online concept was launched in 13 of these countries without a local organisation.

• The amounts invested increased in 2011 both through the establishment in new markets 
and as a result of increased marketing in established markets.

 

busINEss arEa 
aNalysIs
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MEDIa hOusEs sCaNDINavIa

MEDIA HOUSES SCANDINAVIA (MNOK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 9,991 9,771

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 1,275 1,324

Main features in 2011:
• Underlying growth in operating revenues in 2011 was just below two per cent. 
• Seen as a whole, there was a decline in circulation revenues. Subscription revenues  

increased by an underlying four per cent, although single-copy revenues fell underlying 
by seven per cent. 

• Advertising revenues from online increased by 18 per cent, while print advertising  
revenues fell by an underlying two per cent.

MEDIa NOrgE MEDIa hOusEs

Media Norge owns leading subscription-based newspapers in four of Norway’s largest cities: 
Oslo, Bergen, Stavanger and Kristiansand. Each newspaper also has online editions which are 
leaders in their markets.

MEDIA NORGE ex. Finn.no (MNOK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues  

advertising revenues 2,350 2,319

Circulation revenues 1,368 1,331

Other revenues 897 822

Total operating revenues 4,615 4,472

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  620 586
profit (loss) from associated companies

Circulation weekdays (copies) 1) 415,148 423,792

Adv. volume (column meters) 1) 132,762 132,741

1) Total Aftenposten, Bergens Tidende, Stavanger Aftenblad and Fædrelandsvennen.

Main features in 2011:
• In 2011, all of the four media houses achieved underlying success in comparable (printing  

excluded) operating profits as a result of better advertising development and good cost 
control. Fædrelandsvennen’s operating profit is affected by project costs that give a 
somewhat lower operating profit compared to 2010.

• An improvement in the advertising markets gave revenue growth of one per cent in 2011. There 
is a relatively weak development in print advertising revenues, as the market flattened out in 
the second half of the year, while digital advertising developed well. Advertising revenues from 
online ads and the weekend magazine in particular show good growth compared to 2010. 

• Circulation volumes fell slightly in 2011, down two per cent for weekday circulation. 
Circulation revenues rose by three per cent as a result of price increases.

• In 2011 Media Norge became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Schibsted ASA
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busINEss arEa 
aNalysIs

vErDENs gaNg 

Verdens Gang (VG) publishes Norway’s clear leader in single-copy newspapers. The online 
edition, VG.no, is the largest online newspaper in Norway and among the absolute biggest 
websites irrespective of category.

VERDENS GANG (MNOK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues  

print newspaper 1,498 1,580

Online 365 328

Other revenues 43 1

Total operating revenues 1,906 1,909

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  310 338
profit (loss) from associated companies

of which print 221 271

of which online 81 57

Circulation weekdays (copies) 211,588 233,295

Adv. volume (column meters) 11,529 12,010

Unique users VG.no (million per dag) 1.2 1.1

Main features in 2011: 
• Advertising revenues for VG Papir fell 11 per cent from 2010 to 2011. VG Nett (including 

Mobile, excluding Nettby) experienced good development and increased 20 per cent. 
• Circulation revenues fell in 2011 by two per cent compared to 2010. Weekday circulation 

fell by 10 per cent and Sunday circulation by four per cent. The price for the single-sale 
copy of the Friday edition was increased from NOK 15 to NOK 17 with effect from  
1 January 2011, and was increased again to NOK 20 on 7 October 2011.

• The total operating expenses for the print edition were reduced by 10 per cent as a result 
of good cost control and lower circulation volumes.

• VG Nett had a good year with increased operating revenues and good cost control,  
resulting in a strong profit.

• The position as Norway’s largest website measured in terms of traffic was maintained 
during the year.

• VG Mobil experienced a strong increase in traffic throughout the year and set new traffic 
records. 
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sChIbstED svErIgE

Schibsted Sverige consists of three key business areas: Aftonbladet (print-based single-copy 
sales and online newspaper), Svenska Dagbladet (print-based subscription and online news-
paper) and Schibsted Tillväxtmedier (web-based growth companies). In terms of ownership, 
Hitta.se is part of Schibsted Tillväxtmedier but is reported as part of the Online Classifieds 
business area.

aFtONblaDEt

Aftonbladet is a newspaper house with number one positions for both print and online  
sectors. Aftonbladet’s single-copy newspaper is Sweden’s largest newspaper, while  
Aftonbladet.se is the clear leader in online news.

AFTONBLADET (MSEK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 2,239 2,443

of which print newspaper 1,776 1,990

of which online newspaper 463 453

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  310 333
profit (loss) from associated companies

of which print newspaper 199 221

of which online newspaper 111 112

Adv. volume(column meters) 18,328 19,713

Unique useres/week Aftonbladet.se (million) 5.5 5.1

Main features in 2011:
• Aftonbladet’s print edition’s advertising revenues fell six per cent compared to 2010.
• Circulation revenues fell by 11 per cent as a result of a smaller paid circulation and lower 

volume of additional products. An increase in single-copy prices from Monday to  
Saturday from SEK 11 to SEK 12 from 16 May 2010 made a positive contribution. 

• The total operating expenses for the print edition were reduced by 11 per cent as a result 
of good cost control and lower circulation volumes. 

• Revenues from Aftonbladet Nya Medier increased by two per cent in 2011. 
• The volume of online traffic rose sharply in 2011 and Aftonbladet’s position as Sweden’s 

leading news website was reinforced.
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busINEss arEa 
aNalysIs

svENsKa DagblaDEt 

Svenska Dagbladet (SvD) is the third largest subscription-based newspaper in Sweden and 
has a particularly strong position in the Stockholm region.

SVENSKA DAGBLADET (MSEK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 1,148 1,144

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  87 105
profit (loss) from associated companies

Circulation weekdays (copies) 185,600 192,000

Adv. volume (column meters) 24,796 26,464

Unique users/week SvD.se (million) 1.1 0.9

Main features in 2011:
• The circulation volume for Svenska Dagbladet fell three per cent from 2010 to 2011. 

Circulation revenue increased by two per cent as a result of the price increase.
• Advertising revenues for the printed newspaper fell by one per cent in 2011. 
• The company has an efficient cost controll.

sChIbstED tIllvÄXtMEDIEr

Schibsted Tillväxtmedier consists of a portfolio of web-based growth companies. These 
companies benefit greatly from the strong traffic positions and brands of Schibsted’s 
established operations in Sweden.

TILLVäxTMEDIER ex Hitta (MSEK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 635 451

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) before share of  38 16
profit (loss) from associated companies

Main features in 2011:
• In 2011 there was a strong development for Lendo, among others, which operates within 

personal finance, the price comparison service Prisjakt.se, the TV.nu TV guide and the 
online voucher company Letsdeal.se. 

• Most of the portfolio’s operations experienced good growth and improvements in their 
results and overall this made a positive contribution to the operating profit
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MEDIa hOusEs INtErNatIONal

MEDIA HOUSES INTERNATIONAL (MNOK) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 1,004 1,009

Gross operating profit (EBITDA) 38 60

Media House International consists of the Group’s free newspapers, 20 Minutes, in Spain 
and France and the media house operations in the Baltic.

Main features in 2011: 
• This business area experienced underlying growth in its operating revenues of two per cent. 
• The reported growth is negative, down one per cent, primarily due to the effect of  

currency fluctuations. 
• The operating profit was adversely affected by the difficult macroeconomic situation in Spain, 

and therefore added to the weak EBITDA for 20 Minutos, Spain. Tougher competition in 
France resulted in higher circulation figures and a reduction in EBITDA for 20 Minutes, France.

20 MINutEs

20 Minutes is Schibsted’s concept for free newspapers. It is the most-read general  
newspaper in both France and Spain.

20 MINUTES (MEUR) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 52.6 52.2

Gross operating prodit (EBITDA) before share of  (2.4) 2.2
profit (loss) from associated companies

Main features in 2011:
• 20 Minutes France developed strongly within advertising, with 16 per cent growth in 2011. 
• Online activities had the first year of positive EBITDA and had an EBITDA margin of  

25 per cent.
• Printed newspapers have also experienced a positive EBITDA, but had an increased  

circulation. 
• There is strong competition in the French market. 20 Minutes launched the newspaper in 

20 new towns in 2011. One national and four regional editions were launched.
• Advertising revenue for 20 Minutos Spain fell by 15 per cent from 2010 to 2011. The macro- 

economic situation is extremely difficult and unemployment is approaching 23 per cent.
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busINEss arEa 
aNalysIs

EEstI MEEDIa grOup 

Eesti Meedia Group (Baltic States) is the holding company for all of Schibsted’s operations 
in the Baltic States. Eesti Meedia is the leading media house in Estonia, with number one 
positions for its newspapers, magazines and TV channels, and also holds a strong position in 
Lithuania and Latvia.

BALTICS (MEUR) 2011 2010
Operating revenues 75.6 72.2

Gross operating prodit (EBITDA) before share of  7.5 6.2
profit (loss) from associated companies

Main features in 2011:
• The market in the Baltics showed improvement during 2011, but the uncertainty in  

Europe has contributed to growth having been, and remaining, modest. 
• The companies have efficient cost controll. 
• Despite a difficult market situation in 2011, Eesti Media Group’s operating margin and 

market shares increased in comparison to the previous year.
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FuturE prOspECts

The global economic situation continues to cause significant uncertainty around the future 
development of the advertising markets in general. Traditional advertising markets will 
most probably be affected if the current instability continues. Development varies from 
one category to another.

Online advertisements will probably have an increased market share of the advertising  
market in total. Schibsted’s operations are perfectly positioned to benefit from such a develop- 
ment. A good rate of growth is expected for Online Classifieds. This type of business is less 
affected by economic cycles than traditional advertisement-based revenue models.

Continuing negative trends in the circulation of single-copy papers are considered probable 
as a result of the migration to digital platforms. For subscription newspapers, the trend 
in circulation is expected to be slightly declining. Investments are being made in product 
development and cost-efficiency initiatives in order to counteract this trend. Increased 
subscription and single-sale prices will make a positive contribution for Schibsted in 2012.

The Group expects to see good growth in traffic for online classified operations in a  
number of markets, and this business segment is expected to continue to develop and 
report good growth with high margins.

The Group is continuing to make targeted investments in online growth positions. The 
rolling-out of the project for Blocket concepts in new markets has given positive results.  
The growth initiatives in Italy (Subito.it) and Austria (Willhaben.at) will make a positive 
contribution to profitability for the group in 2012. 

The rolling-out of the online classifieds in new markets is expected to continue at a high 
pace in 2012. Total investment, which is charged to EBITDA, may be at the same or a 
slightly higher level in 2012 compared to 2011.

The work to strengthen and further develop number one positions for print and online 
newspapers and online services will continue. The Group is continuing to work on developing 
user-payment products and systems for online newspapers. Investment in consumer-
related online services will continue, and the interaction between online classifieds and 
the media houses will be strengthened as part of the growth strategy. Continued strong 
growth of mobile is expected.

Schibsted remains focused on costs and measures to increase profitability. Continuous 
improvement projects are being carried out in a number of operations in order to improve 
efficiency. Cost reductions with an effect of NOK 190-210 million have been decided for 
the newspaper businesses in Scandinavia. The impact of these reductions will be gradual 
during the period from 2012 to 2014, with the majority occurring in 2012. 
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Schibsted Norge will be established and will include VG, Schibsted Forlag and operations 
that are currently carried out by Media Norge. The main aim is to join forces in order to  
further develop digital media, strengthen the position in the advertising market and  
ensure more efficient operations and a simpler organisational structure.

gOINg CONCErN assuMptION

In accordance with section 3-3a of the Norwegian Accounting Act, the Board of Directors  
confirms that the Group is a going concern. The 2011 financial statements have been 
prepared based on this assumption. The assumption is based on the Group’s long-term 
strategy and forecasts. The Group’s economic and financial position is good.

statEMENt ON COrpOratE gOvErNaNCE

In accordance with Section 3-3b of the Norwegian Accounting Act, a statement on Corporate 
Governance has been prepared.  The statement is included as a separate document in the 
annual report.
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INFOrMatION ON 
thE ENvIrONMENt

WOrKINg ENvIrONMENt

Schibsted aims to be one of the leading corporate groups in Europe in terms of developing 
talent, managers and employees. The work of attracting talented people, developing good 
managers and creating competent organisations is given high priority by the senior  
management of the Group and its subsidiaries.

Offering competitive terms of employment and a stimulating working environment with 
good opportunities for personal and professional development form part of the strategy. 
At the year-end, Schibsted had approximately 7,400 (7,200) employees, around 4,200 
(4,000) of whom worked outside Norway. The Group’s sick leave rate was 4 per cent of the 
total working hours (4 %).

Of the Group’s companies, the operations of the printing companies in particular involve a 
certain risk of injury. At year-end, Schibsted owned five newspaper printing plants: Media 
Norge’s printing plants in Oslo, Bergen, Stavanger and Kristiansand in Norway and Kroonpress 
in Tartu, Estonia. Four (0) injuries involving employees’ absence were reported in 2011.  
In addition, there were four (16) minor personal injuries such as crushing injuries or cuts. 

The terrorist acts in Oslo and on Utøya must be given special mention. When the bomb 
was detonated in central Oslo in the afternoon of 22 July, VG, Aftenposten, Finn and 
Schibsted ASA had to evacuate their premises.

A news organisation also has a duty to report, analyse and comment when a catastrophe 
takes place in its own local area. Aftenposten and VG were both able to do this, under 
dramatic circumstances, from temporary premises and despite a number of practical 
and production-related challenges. The quality of the news reporting from the two media 
houses was maintained, both on paper and online. Aftenposten and VG thus carried out 
their civil duty in an inspirational manner in an extremely demanding work situation. 
All of the involved employees within the Group made extraordinary efforts when the  
terrorism hit Oslo. 

Schibsted is extremely grateful that none of our employees were physically injured, but we 
also have employees who were personally affected by the events. The atrocity will affect 
both our employees and Norwegian society for a long time to come.
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EXtErNal ENvIrONMENt

The production of the Group’s newspapers is a digital process until the printing stage, and 
has little impact on the external environment. A newspaper printing plant has a relatively 
neutral effect on the environment, and the chemicals used to produce the newspapers are 
dealt with as special waste and are recycled to the greatest extent possible. Agreements 
with approved transport companies ensure that the special waste is collected safely.  
Normal operations do not involve any danger of emissions from the printing plants.

The printing plants used 121 (116) thousand tonnes of paper, 2.7 (2.6) thousand tonnes of 
printing ink and 43.6 (40.8) GWh of electricity in 2011.

The Group’s newspaper companies in Norway and Sweden arrange for the unsold  
newspapers to be returned and resold for recycling.

The Group’s other operations only pollute the environment to a slight extent
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OrgaNIsatIONal 
DEvElOpMENt

Skilled employees and strong brands are the most valuable assets in the Schibsted Media  
Group. The best ideas are born in individuals’ minds, not in a corporate machine. Knowledge 
and experience, enthusiasm and a will to win - these are all qualities associated with the 
employees and the team. We therefore believe that the most certain road to further success is 
through development of our employees. In an ever-stronger competition for the best people, 
developing the talents we already have is also important to attract new talents. 

Schibsted Media Group’s vision is ‘Shaping the Media of Tomorrow. Today.’ The mission is 
‘Empowering people in their daily life’ and our four values are: ‘We have integrity. We are 
innovative. We are a team. We are here to win.’ The vision and the values are a result of an 
engaging process among the leaders of the Group. There are ongoing efforts to communicate 
the meaning of the values in the employees daily work. We want the values to live and be used 
both as a guide for individual behaviour and guiding when major decisions are to be taken. 

GENDER EQUALITY

Schibsted is a knowledge group and skilled managers and employees are a vital part of the 
business. The Group’s clear goal is to ensure that women and men have equal development 
opportunities.

There is focus on gender equality both within corporate management and in the subsidiaries. 
Half of the businesses’ customers and readers are women. This division should be reflected 
at management level in the Group’s companies, thus benefiting the working environment and 
the companies’ products. For this reason, long-term, binding work has been started in order to 
achieve a better gender balance at all management levels within the Group. As the Group  
becomes increasingly internationalised, importance has been given to ensuring that the  
relevant management groups and managers reflect this internationalism.

When recruiting internally or externally, and when appointing new trainees, importance if 
placed on ensuring women are offered good career opportunities within the Group. This is a 
process that has progressed the furthest in the Scandinavian media houses and experience 
gained here is continuously passed on to subsidiaries in other countries.

At the end of 2011, Schibsted’s corporate management team consisted of seven men and one 
woman (13 per cent women). Of the shareholder-elected directors on the Board of Directors 
for the Group, 50 per cent are women and 50 per cent are men. The distribution is the same if 
the employee-elected directors are included.

DIsCrIMINatION

The companies’ working environment committees are continuously striving to promote a good 
working environment and thus minimise the chance of discrimination among the employees in 
the workplace. Further measures to promote the objective stated in the Norwegian Anti-Dis-
crimination Act are not considered necessary. 
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DIvIDEND aND 
CapItal struCturE

Schibsted is a listed company that aims to provide a competitive rate of return based on 
healthy finances. Schibsted’s Board of Directors believes it is essential that the company’s 
shares are perceived to be an interesting investment alternative. One of the Board of Directors’ 
goals is therefore to maximise the shareholders’ return through long-term growth in the 
share price and the dividend. The Board will attempt to ensure that the price of the company’s 
shares reflects, to the greatest extent possible, the company’s long-term earnings ability.

One of Schibsted’s cornerstones is its positions in the online and print Scandinavian media 
markets. The media houses’ strong brands and market-leading positions help to ensure a 
stable, good cash flow. Online classified operations both in Scandinavia and internationally  
contribute strong, profitable growth. 2011 was a good year for Schibsted, with strong  
revenues and improvements in many of the markets in which the Group operates. As a result 
of this, the Group’s financial flexibility was strengthened during the year despite acquisitions 
being made. At the end of 2011, the Group had a strong balance sheet, good cash flow and 
healthy liquidity position.

The strategy and vision in which Schibsted’s Board of Directors has agreed to means the 
Group’s operations must adapt quickly and be highly developed. Schibsted’s capital structure 
must be sufficiently robust to maintain the desired freedom of action and to be able to exploit 
growth opportunities based on strict assessments relating to our allocation of capital. 

Schibsted will place emphasis on having a fixed dividend payout ratio which, over time, is to 
be 25-40 per cent of the Group’s normalised cash flow per share. In years when there is an 
economic slowdown, the company will try to pay a dividend at the upper part of the target 
range provided the Group’s capital structure allows this.

The Corporate Board will recommend to the General Meeting that a dividend of NOK 3.50 
per share is awarded for the 2011 financial year. The total number of shares is 108 million, 
and a dividend of NOK 3.50 per share means a payout of around NOK 374 million (adjusted 
for shares owned by Schibsted).
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sChIbstED asa

Schibsted ASA is the parent company of the Group. The Company’s financial statements 
have been presented in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally  
accepted accounting practices in Norway (NGAAP). 

Operating revenues were NOK 47 million (46 million). The ordinary operating expenses of  
NOK 260 million (234 million) relate to the Group administration services. The operating loss 
before write-downs and other revenues and expenses in 2011 was NOK -213 million  
(NOK -188 million). Net income from financial items was NOK 1,547 million (NOK 1,438 million). 
The financial items mainly consist of dividends of NOK 88 million received from Finn.no and 
group contributions of NOK 1,482 million received from the group companies. The profit before 
taxes was NOK 1,334 million (1,250 million). Schibsted ASA had distributable equity of  
NOK 5,788 million (4,495 million) at the end of 2011.

Schibsted ASA had 99 (90) employees at the close of the year, 24 (15) of whom were trainees 
seconded to the Group’s companies. The Group’s CEO is Schibsted ASA’s President and CEO.

The Board of Directors of Schibsted ASA proposes allocating the profit for the year as follows:

Profit of the year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  NOK 1 139 mill.

PROPOSED  ALLOCATION:
Allocated to dividend, NOK 3.50 per share  . .  NOK 374 mill.
Transferred to other equity  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  NOK 765 mill.
Group contributes to subsidiaries total NOK 803 mill.

OLE JACOB SUNDE
ChaIrMaN OF thE bOarD

KARL-CHRISTIAN AGERUP

MONICA CANEMAN

MARIE EHRLING

 EVA BERNEKE

CHRISTIAN RINGNES

ANNE LISE VON DER FEHR

GUNNAR KAGGE

ROLV ERIK RySSDAL, 
CEO

thE bOarD OF sChIbstED asa

Oslo, 29 March, 2012
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DEClaratION
ON MaNagEMENt
salary 

Declaration regarding the determination of salary and other remuneration to the  
management of Schibsted ASA

1. thE startINg pOINt FOr thE COMpaNy’s 
MaNagEMENt rEMuNEratION pOlICy
The Group Board of Schibsted ASA (“Schibsted”) views the employees as the Group’s most 
important resource and focuses on the Group offering competitive conditions in order to 
attract and retain skilled employees. The company’s human resource policy covers several 
factors, including the pay and pension conditions, working environment, various development 
programmes and more traditional employee benefits. The management remuneration 
policy is part of the company’s human resource policy.

2. WhO Is COvErED by thE guIDElINEs
The guidelines for determining the manager’s remuneration are decided on by the Group 
Board and apply to remuneration to managers. Schibsted’s Group CEO and Group  
management are directly covered by the guidelines. The guidelines are also normative for 
the remuneration of other senior managers and management groups in the Group’s core 
activities in Norway and abroad.

3. thE pErIOD FOr WhICh thE 
DEClaratION applIEs
The declaration applies for the coming financial year, cf section 6-16 a) (2) of the Norwe-
gian Public Limited Companies Act. The Group Board will base its work on this declaration 
following discussions at the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2012.

4. thE MaIN prINCIplEs OF thE COMpaNy’s 
MaNagEMENt rEMuNEratION pOlICy
The fixed salary of the Group’s managers is perceived to be moderate. This also forms 
the basis of the Group Board’s assessment of various additional benefits as parts of the 
managers’ total remuneration.
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The Group’s further growth and profitability depend on the employees’ efforts to ensure the 
continuous development of the operations and improvement in profitability. To motivate  
managers to make such efforts, variable pay and other incentive schemes are linked to factors 
that the managers themselves can influence. These schemes must appear reasonable in 
relation to the Group’s results and value creation for the shareholders that year.

4.1. FIxED SALARY
The fixed salary (the gross annual salary before tax and before variable pay and other  
additional benefits have been calculated) is to be an important part of the manager’s salary.

The increase in fixed salaries is expected to be moderate in 2012.

4.2. DIRECTORS’ FEES
Employees do not receive directors’ fees for Board appointments they accept as part of 
their work for the Group. Employee representatives are not covered by this rule.

4.3. BENEFITS IN KIND AND OTHER SPECIAL SCHEMES
Senior executives will normally be given the benefits in kind that are common in compara-
ble positions, i.e., telephone expenses, a laptop, free broadband connection and use, news-
papers, a company car or car allowance and free parking. There are no special restrictions 
on the type of other benefits that can be agreed on.

The Group’s manager-loan scheme was wound up in 2006 and has not been offered to new 
managers since then. This scheme entitled managers to a loan of NOK 400,000-800,000 
in return for a charge on the borrower’s home. Schibsted ASA has posted an unconditional 
guarantee of NOK 5m for the total loan portfolio, which currently represents approximately 
NOK 12m.

4.4. VARIABLE PAY AND OTHER INCENTIVE SCHEMES
Guidelines have been established for the use of variable pay and other incentive schemes 
in the Group. The Group Board believes there is a need to be able to offer various incentive 
schemes in order to ensure long-term value creation and entrepreneurship. Such incentive 
schemes may consist of short-term incentives (normally annual) and long-term incentives 
(normally three-year).

4.4.1. SHORT-TERM INCENTIVES
Senior executives take part in an annual variable pay programme which is linked to the 
attainment of targets each year. Other Group employees may also take part in such 
schemes. The variable pay is limited to a maximum of six months’ salary for the Group 
CEO and varies from four to six months’ salary for other members of the Group manage-
ment. For the top manager/editor in chief of larger units, the payment in one year is 
normally limited to four months’ salary. 
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For other employees that take part in short-term incentive schemes, the limit is normally 
three months’ salary.

The variable pay is to be in two parts, one which is to be linked to financial criteria and 
another which is to be linked to strategic and operational criteria. These criteria form part 
of an overall assessment.

The payment of variable pay to senior executives for the 2011 financial year is shown in 
note 27 to the financial statements.

4.4.2. LONG-TERM INCENTIVE SCHEMES
The objective of having multi-year incentive schemes is to promote long-term value crea-
tion in the companies by contributing to key Group managers owning more of the Group so 
that the management and shareholders share the same interests.

Schibsted’s options programme was replaced by an annually revolving three-year performance- 
based share purchase programme (the ”LTI programme”) in 2010. The introduction of an LTI 
programme for a large group of managers means that we have common rules for the use 
of incentive schemes in much of the Group, both in and outside Norway. The use of the LTI 
programme in a lot of the Group also leads to administrative savings and creates greater 
predictability and equal treatment in the Group. The LTI programme provides settlement in 
Schibsted shares, mainly based on the performance and target attainment of the individual 
participant’s company during the three-year period. The ownership of Schibsted shares 
promotes common goals and contributes to greater cooperation between the companies.

Dedicated incentive programmes may still be relevant for select companies in the Group, 
especially in growth and start-up companies. Such programmes will also be long-term, 
but may contain elements of cash settlements in addition to settlements in Schibsted 
shares.

THE MAIN ELEMENTS OF THE SCHIBSTED LTI PROGRAMME:
Schibsted’s LTI programme is divided into three participation levels. Level 1 is for the 
Group CEO, Level 2 is for members of the Group management, while Level 3 is for selected 
key personnel in the Group as well as the managers/management groups in important 
subsidiaries. For each level, the participants are given a defined “Basic Amount” that is 
calculated as a percentage of their fixed salary. The Group Board has stipulated guidelines 
for the percentage to be allocated to the various participant levels in order to ensure that 
managers are flexible and mobile while also taking into account individual pay differences 
and variations in the compensation schemes of companies in and outside Norway.

One third of the Basic Amount (the ”Share Purchase Amount”) is to be awarded when the 
programme starts in the form of Schibsted shares and this has a lock-in period until the 
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programme expires (3 years). If a level 1 or 2 participant leaves the company during the 
lock-in period, shares that were bought for the Share Purchase Amount are to be handed 
back. No corresponding restriction applies to level 3 participants.

The rest, i.e. 2/3 of the Basic Amount (the ”Performance Amount”) is linked to three-year 
performance criteria - profit targets. At the end of the three-year period, the participants 
receive settlement in Schibsted shares based on their goal attainment, and the number of 
shares is calculated based on the average price during the programme’s three-year period. 
The maximum settlement after three years will depend on the target achievement during 
the period. If the minimum target is not achieved during the three-year period, only the 
Share Purchase Amount will be paid at the end of the three-year programme.

The Group Board determines the allocation to the CEO. Other allocations are determined by 
the CEO within the programme’s frameworks and in compliance with the Board’s allocation 
guidelines. The CEO’s allocations are reported to the Board. Allocations under the  
programme take place subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting that year 
and thus normally by the end of the first half of the individual start-up year.

Guidelines apply to the adjustment of the profit targets during the measurement period. 
The final outcome of the LTI programme is determined by the Group Board.

There is not normally any partial accrual if a participant leaves the company during the 
accrual period. An exception applies to the Share Purchase Amount for level 3 participants 
and in general if a participant leaves the company due to illness, death, early retirement, 
normal retirement or other special reasons. In such cases, the right to partial accrual is 
granted.

Level 1 and 2 participants will not be able to sell their shares in the market until further 
defined requirements as to the minimum ownership of Schibsted shares are met. The 
minimum ownership requirements vary depending on the allocation level. The minimum 
ownership requirements do not apply to level 3 participants.

The final cost of the LTI programme in an individual year depends, among other things, on 
the number of participants, the individual participant’s salary on the allocation date, share 
price developments and the target achievement during the three-year period. The cost of the 
LTI programme in 2012, with 66 participants, is estimated to be around NOK 38.6 million if 
the expected target achievement takes place, excluding employers’ contributions.  
If the maximum outcome is achieved, the cost is estimated to be around NOK 63.5 million 
(excluding employers’ contributions). If the goal attainment is below the minimum requirement, 
the cost of the programme will only relate to the Share Purchase Payment and equal 
around NOK 12.9 million (excluding employers’ contributions).
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In addition to the overall framework for the current LTI detailed above, in 2012 Schibsted 
will evaluate whether to introduce a bespoke version of the LTI programme for managers 
in companies within Schibsted Classified Media. The adaptations in the LTI programme 
may include defining other performance criteria, which has the potential of significantly 
increasing each participant’s pay-out from the LTI programme. The goal of such a bespoke 
version of the LTI programme will be to ensure that Schibsted offers terms that are  
conducive to recruiting and retaining attractive managers in international communities in 
which there is stiff competition for workers.

5. pENsION sChEMEs
The Group Board regularly assesses the Group’s pension solutions to ensure that these are 
reasonable and well balanced. The pension solutions are assessed in light of the overall 
remuneration offered to Schibsted Group managers in the form of fixed salary, additional 
benefits, annual variable pay, participation in long-term incentive programmes and other 
benefits. The overall remuneration is to be competitive with that offered to managers in 
comparable jobs and functions in other companies with which the Schibsted Group wishes 
to compare itself.

The Group CEO and other senior executives in Norway are, like other employees, members 
of the Group’s company pension schemes, see note 21 to Schibsted’s consolidated financial 
statements.

The Group CEO and other senior executives in the Group have individual pension contracts 
which mainly entitle them to an early retirement pension from the age of 62 (early retirement  
pension) and thereafter a lifelong retirement pension as well as a disability pension, child 
pension and spouse/cohabitant pension in addition to those in the national insurance 
scheme. The pension costs linked to senior executives in Schibsted ASA are stated in note 
27 to the financial statements. During 2012, the Group’s pension scheme for new managers  
in Norway will be a defined-contribution scheme. This is considered to be in line with  
market developments and will over time contribute to reducing the Group’s pension costs.
The Group’s senior executives who are based in Sweden mainly have defined contribution 
pension insurances which ensure them benefits in line with those of Norwegian senior 
executives as from the age of 62 years. The Group Board is of the opinion that the current 
schemes for senior executives based in Sweden are adapted to the market and these 
schemes will be continued in 2012 without any major changes.

The pension level and solution for senior executives outside Norway and Sweden are to be 
viewed in connection with the individual manager’s overall salary and employment conditions 
and are intended to be comparable to the overall solution for managers in Norway and 
Sweden. Local rules linked to pension legislation, social security rights, tax, etc., are taken 
into account when shaping the individual pension contracts.



101

6. tErMINatION payMENt sChEMEs
The Group CEO is entitled to a termination payment equal to 18 months’ salary in addition 
to the six-month period of notice. The other Group management and senior executives 
are normally entitled to termination payments equal to 6-18 months’ salary, depending 
on their job level. A prohibition against competition and scaling down provisions normally 
apply during the termination payment period.

7. thE EFFECts ON thE COMpaNy aND  
sharEhOlDErs OF agrEEMENts ENtErED 
INtO Or aMENDED IN 2011
The Board believes that the guidelines for share-based remuneration promote value creation 
in the company/Group and that the effects on the company and shareholders are positive.
 

Oslo, 16.th April 2012
The Board of Schibsted ASA
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ConSolIDAteD InCoMe StAteMent  
For tHe YeAr enDeD 31 DeCeMBer
(noK million) note 2011 2010

operating revenues 7 14,378 13,768 

raw materials and finished goods 26 (1,159) (1,192)

personnel expenses 27 (4,960) (4,711)

other operating expenses 28 (6,113) (5,702)

Share of profit of associated companies 13 39 36

Gross operating profit (loss) 2,185 2,199 

depreciation and amortisation 11, 12 (505) (588)

Gross operating profit (loss) after depreciation and amortisation 1,680 1,611 

impairment loss 11, 12 (191) (110)

other revenues and expenses 8 (50) 1,909

operating profit (loss) 1,439 3,410 

Financial income 29 82 180 

Financial expenses 29 (190) (191)

profit (loss) before taxes 1,331 3,399 

taxes 30 (499) (468)

profit (loss) 832 2,931 

profit (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests 90 137 

profit (loss) attributable to owners of the parent 742 2,794 

earnings per share (noK) 31 7.00 27.04 

diluted earnings per share (noK) 31 6.99 27.01 

earnings per share – adjusted (noK) 31 8.76 9.72 

diluted earnings per share – adjusted (noK) 31 8.75 9.71 

ConSolIDAteD StAteMent  
oF CoMpreHenSIVe InCoMe  
For tHe YeAr enDeD 31 DeCeMBer
(noK million) 2011 2010

profit (loss) 832 2,931 

change in fair value of investments available for sale 14 94 (129)

translation differences (46) (247)

hedging of net investment in foreign operations 7 (4)

tax effect hedging of net investment in foreign operations (2) 1

comprehensive income 885 2,552 

comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests 92 141 

comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parent 793 2,411 
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ConSolIDAteD BAlAnCe SHeet  
AS At 31 DeCeMBer

(noK million) note 2011 2010

assets

intangible assets 11 9,611 9,728 

investment property 12 63 63 

property, plant and equipment 12 1,929 2,049 

investments in associated companies 13 492 465 

non-current financial assets 14 143 149 

deferred tax assets 30 58 102 

other non-current assets 15 213 234 

non-current assets 12,509 12,790 

inventories 16 143 139 

trade and other receivables 17 2,406 2,504 

current financial assets 14 500 426 

cash and cash equivalents 18 778 650 

current assets 3,827 3,719 

total assets 16,336 16,509 

eQuitY anD liaBilities

Share capital 19 108 108 

treasury shares 19 (1) (4)

other paid-in capital 1,440 1,426 

other equity 4,955 5,147 

equity attributable to owners of the parent 6,502 6,677 

non-controlling interests 157 329 

equity 6,659 7,006 

deferred tax liabilities 30 798 757 

pension liabilities 21 1,455 1,499 

non-current interest-bearing borrowings 22 1,907 1,906 

other non-current liabilities 23 339 277 

non-current liabilities 4,499 4,439 

current interest-bearing borrowings 22 523 572 

income tax payable 30 428 375 

other current liabilities 24 4,227 4,117 

current liabilities 5,178 5,064 

total equity and liabilities 16,336 16,509 

oslo, 29 March 2012
Schibsted ASA’s board of directors

ole Jacob Sunde
chairman of the board

eva berneke Anne lise von der Fehr Gunnar Kagge

christian ringnes

Monica caneman

Karl-christian Agerup Marie ehrling

rolv erik ryssdal 
ceo
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ConSolIDAteD StAteMent  
oF CASH FloWS  
For tHe YeAr enDeD 31 DeCeMBer
(noK million)       note 2011 2010

casH FloW From operatinG actiVities

profit (loss) before taxes 1,331 3,399

Gain from remeasurement of previously held equity interest in business combination achieved in stages - (1,518)

Share of profit of associated companies 13 (39) (36)

dividends received from associated companies 13 25 13

taxes paid (346) (111)

Sales losses / (gains) non-current assets (63) (581)

Amortisation and impairment losses intangible assets 11 396 346

depreciation and impairment losses property, plant and equipment 12 300 352

impairment losses financial instruments 29 - 8

change in working capital 12 69

net cash flow from operating activities 1,616 1,941

casH FloW From inVestinG actiVities

purchase of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 11, 12 (354) (427)

Acquisition of subsidiaries and joint ventures, net of cash acquired 33 (108) (1,614)

proceeds from sale of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 42 12

proceeds from sale of subsidiaries and joint ventures, net of cash sold 33 (1) 1,194

investments in / sale of other shares 92 109

other investments / sales (1) 2

net cash flow from investing activities (330) (724)

net cash flow before financing activities 1,286 1,217

casH FloW From FinancinG actiVities

new interest-bearing loans and borrowings 802 4,873

repayment of interest-bearing loans and borrowings (841) (6,152)

payment due to increase in ownership interests in subsidiaries (596) (255)

capital increase 21 1

purchase / sale of treasury shares (159) 70

dividends paid to owners of the parent 20 (324) (155)

dividends paid to non-controlling interests (61) (201)

net cash flow from financing activities (1,158) (1,819)

effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents - (3)

net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 128 (605)

cash and cash equivalents as at 1.1 650 1,255

cash and cash equivalents as at 31.12 18 778 650 
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ConSolIDAteD StAteMent  
oF CHAnGeS In eQuItY

(noK million)
share 

capital
treasury 

shares

share 
premium 

reserve
other paid-

in equity
retained 
earnings

Foreign 
currency 

transl. 
reserve

net 
 unrealised 

gains 
reserve total

non-
controlling 

interests total

as at 31.12.2009 108 (5) 1,289 127 3,270 (212) 260 4,837 437 5,274

profit (loss) 2010 - - - - 2,794 - - 2,794 137 2,931

change in fair value of investments 
 available for sale (note 14) - - - - - - (129) (129) - (129)

translation differences - - - - - (251) - (251) 4 (247)

hedging of net investment in foreign 
operations - - - - - (4) - (4) - (4)

tax effect hedging of net investment  
in foreign operations - - - - - 1 - 1 - 1

comprehensive income 2010 - - - - 2,794 (254) (129) 2,411 141 2,552

capital increase - - - - - - - - 1 1

Share-based payment (note 27) - - - 10 - - - 10 - 10

dividends (note 20) - - - - (155) - - (155) - (155)

dividends to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - (201) (201)

change in treasury shares (note 19) - 1 - - 69 - - 70 - 70

Additions, disposals and change in 
 ownership of subsidiaries - - - - (496) - - (496) (49) (545)

total transactions with the owners - 1 - 10 (582) - - (571) (249) (820)

as at 31.12.2010 108 (4) 1,289 137 5,482 (466) 131 6,677 329 7,006

profit (loss) 2011 - - - - 742 - - 742 90 832

change in fair value of investments 
 available for sale (note 14) - - - - - - 94 94 - 94

translation differences - - - - - (48) - (48) 2 (46)

hedging of net investment in foreign 
operations - - - - - 7 - 7 - 7

tax effect hedging of net investment  
in foreign operations - - - - - (2) - (2) - (2)

comprehensive income 2011 - - - - 742 (43) 94 793 92 885

capital increase - - - - - - - - 7 7

Share-based payment (note 27) - - - 14 - - - 14 - 14

dividends (note 20) - - - - (324) - - (324) - (324)

dividends to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - (61) (61)

change in treasury shares (note 19) - 3 - - 526 - - 529 - 529

Additions, disposals and change in 
 ownership of subsidiaries - - - - (1,187) - - (1,187) (210) (1,397)

total transactions with the owners - 3 - 14 (985) - - (968) (264) (1,232)

as at 31.12.2011 108 (1) 1,289 151 5,239 (509) 225 6,502 157 6,659
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tABle oF ContentS noteS to tHe  
SCHIBSteD Group ConSolIDAteD  
FInAnCIAl StAteMentS 2011
All amounts are in noK million unless otherwise stated.

note 1: companY inFormation
note 2: siGniFicant accountinG policies
note 3: use oF estimates
note 4: cHanGes in tHe composition oF tHe Group
note 5: Business comBinations
note 6: eVents aFter tHe reportinG perioD
note 7: Disclosure oF operatinG seGments
note 8: otHer reVenues anD expenses
note 9: Financial risK manaGement
note 10: Financial instruments BY cateGorY
note 11: intanGiBle assets
note 12:  propertY, plant anD eQuipment anD  

inVestment propertY
note 13: inVestments in associateD companies
note 14: Financial assets
note 15: otHer non-current assets
note 16: inVentories
note 17: traDe anD otHer receiVaBles
note 18: casH anD casH eQuiValents
note 19: numBer oF sHares
note 20: DiViDenDs
note 21: pension plans
note 22: interest-BearinG BorroWinGs
note 23: otHer non-current liaBilities
note 24: otHer current liaBilities
note 25: Financial liaBilities relateD to non- 

controllinG interests’ put options
note 26: raW materials, WorK in proGress anD  

FinisHeD GooDs
note 27: personnel expenses anD sHare-BaseD paYment
note 28: otHer operatinG expenses
note 29: Financial items
note 30: taxes
note 31: earninGs per sHare
note 32: Joint Ventures
note 33: supplemental inFormation to tHe consoliDateD 

statement oF casH FloWs
note 34: transactions WitH relateD parties
note 35: suBsiDiaries
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note 1 
CoMpAnY InForMAtIon

Schibsted ASA is domiciled in norway. the company’s head office is located 
at Apotekergaten 10, oslo. the company’s postal address is p.o. box 490 
Sentrum, 0105 oslo. the company is a public limited company that is listed on 
the oslo Stock exchange under ticker Sch. 

Schibsted Media Group is one of Scandinavia’s leading media groups. the 
major businesses are in norway, Sweden, estonia, Spain and France, but the 
Group also has operations in other countries in europe, Asia and latin America. 
Schibsted’s operations are divided in three operating segments: Media houses 
Scandinavia, Media houses international and online classifieds. Schibsted has 
a presence in printed newspapers, online newspapers, classifieds, directories 
and live pictures.

the financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 29 March 
2012 and will be proposed to the General Meeting 11 May 2012.

note 2  
SIGnIFICAnt ACCountInG 
 polICIeS

Basis For tHe preparation oF tHe Financial statements 
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
international Financial reporting Standards (iFrS), issued by international 
Accounting Standards board (iASb), eu-approved and in accordance with the 
norwegian Accounting Act § 3-9. the consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared based on a historical cost basis, with the exception of financial 
instruments in the categories Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss and Available-for-sale financial assets which are 
measured at fair value and loans and receivables and other financial liabilities 
which are measured at amortised cost.

in the consolidated income statement, expenses are presented using a 
classification based on the nature of the expenses.

determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities requires 
management to estimate the effects of uncertain future effects on those 
assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date. Key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the balance sheet date having a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are disclosed in note 3.

cHanGe in accountinG policies
Schibsted has implemented certain new standards and interpretations 
and amendments to certain existing standards and interpretations which 
are mandatory for the annual period 2011. none of these changes in 
accounting policies have any material effect on the consolidated  
financial statements.

Schibsted has in 2011 made an adjustment to the classification of expenditure 
incurred in ongoing development and upgrading of the Group’s web sites within 
Schibsted classified Media. this results in a somewhat larger share of the 
expenditure being recognised as an expense (maintenance) and a somewhat 
smaller part being recognised as assets (improvements). the change has an 
immaterial effect on the Group’s profit as the increase in operating expenses is 
matched by reduced amortisation.

consoliDation principles
the consolidated financial statements include the parent Schibsted ASA and 
all subsidiaries, presented as the financial statements of a single economic 
entity. intragroup balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated.

Subsidiaries are all entities that are controlled, directly or indirectly by 
Schibsted ASA. control is the power to govern the financial and operational 
policies of an entity and is normally achieved through ownership of more 
than half of the voting power of an entity or by virtue of an agreement with 
other investors. the existence and effect of potential voting rights that are 
currently exercisable or convertible, are considered when assessing whether 
control exists.

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date Schibsted ASA effectively obtains control of the subsidiary (acquisition 
date) and until the date Schibsted ASA ceases to control the subsidiary.

non-controlling interests is the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, 
directly or indirectly, to the parent Schibsted ASA. non-controlling interests 
are presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately 
from the equity of the owners of the parent. profit or loss and comprehensive 
income attributable to non-controlling interests are disclosed as allocations 
for the period of profit or loss and comprehensive income attributable to 
non-controlling interests and owners of the parent, respectively.

All business combinations in which Schibsted ASA or a subsidiary is the 
acquirer, i.e. the entity that obtains control of an other entity or business, are 
accounted for by applying the acquisition method. 

the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are measured at 
their acquisition-date fair values. Any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
is measured either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. the consideration transferred is measured at fair value. 
Any excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interests and the fair value of any previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree over the net of identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed, is recognised as goodwill. Acquisition-related costs 
incurred, except those related to debt or equity, are expensed.

the acquisition-date fair value of contingent consideration is recognised as 
part of the consideration transferred in exchange for the acquiree. Subsequent 
changes in the fair value of contingent consideration deemed to be a liability is 
recognised in profit or loss.

in business combinations achieved in stages, the previously held equity 
interest is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value with the resulting gain 
or loss recognised in profit or loss. 
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changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of 
control are accounted for as equity transactions. the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests is adjusted to reflect the change in their relative share in 
the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interests is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent.

When control of a subsidiary is lost, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary 
and the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests are derecognised. 
Any consideration received and any investment retained in the former 
subsidiary are recognised at their fair values. the difference between 
amounts recognised and derecognised is recognised as gain or loss in profit 
or loss. Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income related to the 
subsidiary are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to equity similarly 
as if the parent had disposed of the assets and liabilities directly. Amounts 
reclassified to profit or loss (including accumulated translation differences and 
accumulated fair value adjustments to financial assets available for sale) are 
included in gain or loss on loss of control of subsidiary in profit or loss.

interests in joint ventures
A joint venture is an economic activity which, based on a contractual 
agreement, is subject to joint control by two or more parties. A jointly 
controlled entity is an entity in which Schibsted holds an ownership interest, 
and where the entity is subject to joint control based on a contractual 
agreement between Schibsted and one or more other parties.

Schibsted recognises its share in jointly controlled entities using proportionate 
consolidation. Schibsted combines its share of each of the assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses of jointly controlled entities with similar items in the 
consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis.

When joint control is lost, the difference between the fair value of proceeds 
received and any retained investment and the carrying amount of the 
investment is recognised as gain or loss in profit or loss.

investments in associates
Associated companies are defined as companies in which Schibsted ASA, 
directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, does not have a controlling interest 
but exercise significant management influence. Significant influence is 
normally presumed to exist when Schibsted controls 20% or more of the 
voting power of the investee. 

Associated companies are accounted for applying the equity method of accounting 
and are initially recognised at cost. the Group’s investments in associates includes 
goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss. 
Schibsted recognises its share of the company’s profit (loss) and gains or losses 
on sale in a separate line item in the income statement within operating profit. 
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in 
the associate, the Group does not recognise further losses. in the balance sheet, 
the investment is carried at cost adjusted for the share of profit (loss), changes in 
equity not recognised in profit or loss and dividends received.

accrual, classiFication anD Valuation principles
classification – current / non-current distinction
cash and cash equivalents, assets included in the normal operating cycle and 
other financial assets expected to be realised within twelve months after the 

reporting period are classified as current assets. liabilities included in the 
normal operating cycle and liabilities due to be settled within twelve months 
after the reporting period are classified as current liabilities. other assets and 
liabilities are classified as non-current.

operating segments
the division into operating segments is based on the organization of the Group 
and corresponds to the internal management reporting to the chief operating 
decision maker, defined as the ceo.

revenue recognition
revenue from sale of goods is recognised when delivery has occurred and the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. 
revenue from the rendering of services is recognised by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction (the percentage of completion method) 
provided that the outcome of the transaction can be estimated reliably. 
discounts are recognised as a revenue reduction.

Advertising revenue in printed media is recognised when inserted. Subscription 
revenues for printed media are invoiced in advance and recognised upon 
delivery over the subscription period. revenue from other sales of goods, 
including casual sales, are recognised upon delivery, taking into account 
estimated future returns.

Advertising revenue from the internet is recognised when displayed. other 
revenues from the internet, including subscription based revenues, are 
recognised in the periods in which the service is rendered.

commissions related to sales of ads and casual sales are recognised as 
operating expenses.

When goods are sold or services rendered in exchange for dissimilar goods 
or services, revenue is recognised in accordance with the recognition policy 
related to relevant goods or services. revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the goods or services delivered or received, depending on which item that can 
be measured reliably.

interest income is recognised using the effective interest method and 
dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that 
the conditions attaching to them will be complied with, and that the grants will 
be received.

Government grants, including press subsidies, are recognised in profit or 
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the entity recognises as 
expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Financial instruments 
the Group initially recognises loans, receivables and deposits on the date that 
they are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities (including 
assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially 
on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.
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the Group classifies at initial recognition its financial instruments in one of 
the following categories: Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and receivables, Available-for-sale financial 
assets and other financial liabilities. the classification depends on the purpose 
for which the financial instruments were acquired.

Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
financial assets held for trading and acquired primarily with a view of selling 
in the near term. the category consists of financial derivatives unless they are 
designated and effective hedging instruments. Financial derivatives are included in 
the balance sheet items trade and other receivables and other current liabilities.

these financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value when 
recognised initially, and transaction costs are charged to expense as incurred. 
Subsequently, the instruments are measured at fair value, with changes in fair 
value, including interest income, recognised in profit or loss as financial income 
or financial expenses.

loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. the category 
is included in the balance sheet items other non-current assets, trade and 
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. loans and receivables are 
recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, reduced by any impairment loss. Short-term loans 
and receivables are for practical reasons not amortised. effective interest 
related to loans and receivables are recognised in income as Financial income.

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are 
designated as available for sale or which are not classified in any other category. 
carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets are included in the 
balance sheet items non-current financial assets and current financial assets.

these financial assets are measured initially at fair value plus directly 
attributable transaction costs. changes in fair value are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, except for impairment losses that are recognised in 
profit or loss. When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
is transferred to profit or loss under financial income or expenses. dividends 
are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Financial liabilities not included in any of the above categories are classified as 
other financial liabilities. the category other financial liabilities is included in the 
balance sheet items non-current interest-bearing borrowings, other non-current 
liabilities, current interest-bearing borrowings and other current liabilities. 
other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequently, other 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. effective interest is recognised in income as financial expenses. Short-
term financial liabilities are for practical reasons not amortised.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the financial asset expire and the Group has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the 
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. Any rights and obligations created or 
retained in such a transfer are recognised separately as assets or liabilities. 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 
balance sheet when the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and 

intends to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

the Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. in 
the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered 
an indicator that the securities are impaired. indications of impairment is 
evaluated separately for each investment, but normally will decline in value 
of more than 20% compared to cost be considered to be significant, and 
normally will a decline in value below cost lasting for more than 12 months 
be considered to be prolonged. For trade and other receivables, default in 
payments, significant financial difficulties of the debtor or probability that the 
debtor will enter bankruptcy or debt settlement negotiations are considered 
to be indicators that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original terms of the receivables. the carrying amount of 
the trade receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance account, 
and the amount of the loss is recognised as other operating expenses in the 
income statement, while impairment of other financial assets are recognised 
as financial expenses.

Fair value of financial instruments is based on quoted prices in an active 
market if such markets exist. if an active market does not exist, fair value 
is established by using valuation techniques that are expected to provide a 
reliable estimate of the fair value. the fair value of listed securities is based 
on current bid prices. the fair value of unlisted securities are based on cash 
flows discounted using an applicable risk free market interest rate and a risk 
premium specific to the unlisted securities. Fair value of forward contracts 
is estimated based on the difference between the spot forward price of the 
contracts and the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet. the forward 
rate addition and deduction is recognised as interest income or interest 
expense. Fair value of interest and currency swaps is estimated based on 
discounted cash flows, where future interest rates are derived from market 
based future rates.

treasury shares and transaction costs of equity transactions
own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury shares) are deducted 
from equity. no gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, 
sale, issue or cancellation of treasury shares. consideration paid or received is 
recognised directly in equity.

the transaction costs of issuing or acquiring own equity instruments are 
accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax benefit.

Foreign currency translation
each individual entity included in the consolidated financial statements 
measures its results and financial position using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which it operates (the functional currency). the 
consolidated financial statements are presented in noK which is Schibsted 
ASA’s functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the entity’s functional 
currency on initial recognition by using the spot exchange rate at the date of 
the transaction. At the balance sheet date, assets and liabilities are translated 
from foreign currency to the entity’s functional currency by
•	 translating monetary items using the exchange rate at the balance sheet date
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•	 translating non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost 
in a foreign currency using the exchange rate at the transaction date, and

•	 translating non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency using the exchange rate at the date when the fair value was determined.

exchange differences arising on the settlement of, or on translating monetary 
items not designated as hedging instruments, are recognised in profit or loss 
in the period in which they arise. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item 
is recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component of that 
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain 
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange 
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss.

on initial designation of a hedge, the Group formally documents the 
relationship between the hedging instrument(s) and hedged item(s), 
including risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge 
transaction, together with the methods that will be used to assess the 
effectiveness of the hedging relationship. the Group makes an assessment 
both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing 
basis, whether the hedging instruments are expected to be highly effective in 
offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows for the respective hedged 
items during the period for which the hedge is designated.

Gains or losses related to loans or currency derivatives in foreign currencies, 
designated as hedging instruments in a hedge of a net investment in a foreign 
operation, are recognised in other comprehensive income until disposal of the 
operation.

upon incorporation of a foreign operation into the consolidated financial 
statements by consolidation, proportionate consolidation or the equity method, 
the results and financial position is translated from the functional currency of 
the foreign operation into noK (the presentation currency) by using the step-
by-step method of consolidation. Assets and liabilities are translated at the 
closing rate at the balance sheet date and income and expenses are translated 
at average rates for the period. resulting exchange differences are recognised 
in other comprehensive income until the disposal of the foreign operation.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation, is treated as 
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation. thus they are expressed in the 
functional currency of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate 
at the balance sheet date.

property, plant and equipment
property, plant and equipment are measured at its cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

the depreciable amount (cost less residual value) of property, plant and 
equipment is allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life. each part 
of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in 
relation to the total cost of the item, is depreciated separately.

costs of repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
cost of replacements and improvements are recognised in the carrying 
amount of the asset.

the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised on disposal or when no economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Gain or loss arising from derecognition is included in profit or 
loss when the item is derecognised.

investment property
property that is not owner-occupied, but held to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation, is classified as investment property. investment property is 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

intangible assets
intangible assets are measured at its cost less accumulated amortisations and 
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of intangible assets with a finite 
useful life is allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life. intangible 
assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised.

costs of developing software and other intangible assets are charged 
to expense until all requirements for recognition as an asset is met. the 
requirements for recognition as an asset include, among other requirements, 
the requirement to demonstrate probable future economic benefits and 
the requirement that the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. costs 
incurred after the time that all the requirements for recognition as an asset 
are met are recognised as an asset. the cost of an internally generated 
intangible asset is the sum of expenditure incurred from the time all 
requirements for recognition as an asset are met and until the time the asset 
is capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

expenditure related to development of intangible assets to be used in 
new markets will normally be charged to expense as the requirement to 
demonstrate probable future economic benefits will normally not be met.

Subsequent expenditure incurred in the operating stage to enhance or maintain 
an intangible asset are normally recognised as an expense as the requirement to 
demonstrate probable increased economic benefits will normally not be met. 

impairment of non-financial assets 
property, plant, equipment, intangible assets and goodwill are reviewed for 
impairment whenever an indication that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable is identified. Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an 
indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment. impairment indicators 
will typically be changes in market developments, the competitive situation or 
technological developments.

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement if the carrying 
amount of an asset (cash generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount. 

the recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less cost 
to sell. Value in use is assessed by discounting estimated future cash flows. 
estimated cash flows are based on management’s experience and market 
knowledge for the given period, normally five years. For subsequent periods 
growth factors are used that do not exceed the long-term average rate of 
growth for the relevant market. expected cash flows are discounted using an 
after tax discount rate that takes into account the expected long-term interest 
rate with the addition of a risk margin appropriate for the assets being tested. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets, except goodwill, are grouped 
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together into the smallest group of assets that generates independent cash 
flows (cash-generating units). Goodwill acquired in a business combination 
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to the cash-generating units, or 
groups of cash-generating units, that is expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination. testing for impairment of goodwill is done by 
comparing recoverable amount and carrying amount of the same groups of 
cash-generating units as to which goodwill is allocated. impairment losses 
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill. Any remaining amount is then allocated to 
reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. 
impairment losses are reversed if the loss no longer exists for all property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets with the exception of goodwill 
where impairment losses are not reversed.

leases 
leases are classified as either finance leases or as operating leases. leases 
that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the asset 
are classified as finance leases. other leases are classified as operating leases.

When Schibsted is lessee in a finance lease, the leased asset and the liability 
related to the lease is recognised in the balance sheet. depreciable leased assets 
are depreciated systematically over the useful life of the asset. lease payments 
are apportioned between interest expense and reduction of the liability.

lease payments related to operating leases are recognised as an expense over 
the lease term.

Borrowing costs
borrowing costs are generally recognised as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred. borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of an asset, that necessarily takes a substantial period 
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale («qualifying asset»), are capitalised 
as part of the cost of that asset. 

inventories
inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. the cost 
of inventories are assigned by using the first-in, first-out (FiFo) cost formula and 
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

net realisable value is estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

post-employment benefits 
pension plans, including multi-employer plans, are classified as defined 
contribution plans or defined benefit plans depending on the economic 
substance of the plan. pension plans in which Schibsted’s obligation is limited 
to the payment of agreed contributions and in which the actuarial risk and the 
investment risk fall on the employee, are classified as defined contribution 
plans. other plans are classified as defined benefit plans.

As net defined benefit obligation is recognised the present value of the benefit 
obligation at the balance sheet date, less fair value of plan assets, adjusted for 
unrecognised actuarial gains (losses) and unrecognised past service cost.

net benefit expense related to defined benefit plans include current service 
cost, interest cost, expected return on plan assets, actuarial gains or losses 
recognised and past service cost.

the present value of defined benefit obligations, current service cost and 
past service cost is determined using the projected unit credit Method and 
actuarial assumptions regarding demographic variables and financial variables.

net cumulative actuarial gains or losses exceeding the higher of either 10% 
of the present value of the defined benefit obligation or 10% of the fair value 
of plan assets, are recognised in profit or loss over the expected average 
remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plan. 
 
past service cost is recognised in profit or loss over the average period until 
the benefits become vested. past service cost is recognised immediately to the 
extent the benefits are already vested immediately after the introduction of, or 
changes to, a defined benefit plan.

Gain or loss on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan is 
recognised when the curtailment or settlement occurs. the gain or loss 
comprise any resulting change in the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation and any resulting change in the fair value of the plan assets, as well 
as any related actuarial gains and losses not previously recognised.

the contribution payable to a defined contribution plan attributable to the 
reporting period is recognised in profit or loss.

Multi-employer plans classified as defined benefit plans, but for which 
sufficient information is not available to enable recognition as a defined benefit 
plan, are accounted for as if they were defined contribution plans. 
 
Social security taxes are included in the determination of defined benefit 
obligations and net benefit expense.

share-based payment 
in equity settled share-based payment transactions with employees, the 
employee services and the corresponding equity increase is measured by 
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. the fair value 
of the equity instruments are measured at grant date, and is recognised as 
personnel expenses and equity increase immediately or over the vesting period 
when performance vesting conditions require an employee to serve over a 
specified time period. 

At each reporting date the companies remeasure the estimated number of 
equity instruments that is expected to vest. the amount recognised as an 
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of equity instruments which is 
expected to be, or actually become vested.

in cash settled share-based payment transactions with employees, the 
employee services and the incurred liability is measured at the fair value of the 
liability. the employee services and the liability are recognised immediately 
or over the vesting period when performance vesting conditions require an 
employee to serve over a specified time period. until the liability is settled, 
the fair value of the liability is revised at each balance sheet date and at 
settlement date, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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income taxes
current tax, which is the amount of income taxes payable in respect of taxable 
profit for a period, is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. if the 
amount paid exceeds the amount due, the excess is recognised as an asset.

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, 
except for liabilities arising from the initial recognition of goodwill.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for deductible temporary differences, the 
carryforward of unused tax losses and the carryforward of unused tax credits 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which these benefits can be utilised.

no deferred tax liability is recognised for taxable temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures 
when Schibsted is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

tax expense (tax income) comprises current tax expense (current tax income) 
and deferred tax expense (deferred tax income). Any amount recognised 
as current tax assets or liabilities and deferred tax assets or liabilities are 
recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that the tax arises from a 
transaction or event recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity or arises from a business combination.

provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A provision is recognised when an obligation exists (legal or constructive) as 
a result of a past event, it is probable that an economic settlement will be 
required as a consequence of the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation is 
recognised as a provision. When the effect is material, the provision is 
discounted using a market based pre-tax discount rate.

A provision for restructuring costs is recognised when a constructive obligation 
arises. Such an obligation is assumed to have arisen when the restructuring 
plan is approved and the implementation of the plan has begun or its main 
features are announced to those affected by it.

contingent liabilities and contingent assets are not recognised. contingent 
liabilities are disclosed unless the possibility of an economic settlement as 
a consequence of the obligation is remote. contingent assets are disclosed 
where an economic settlement as a consequence of the asset is probable.

other revenues and expenses 
revenues and expenses included in operating profit, but being of a non-
recurring nature and material in relation to operating segments, are reported 
on a separate line item in the income statement. other revenues and expenses 
will normally include restructuring costs, material gains and losses on sale of 
property, plant and equipment or intangible assets, as well as gains or losses 
relating to sale of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies.

non-current assets held for sale
A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale if its 

carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sales transaction 
rather than through continuing use.

A disposal group includes assets to be disposed of, by sale or otherwise, 
together in a single transaction, and liabilities directly associated with those 
assets that will be transferred in the transaction.

A non-current asset or a disposal group classified as held for sale is measured 
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. non-current 
assets classified as held for sale and non-current assets that are part of a 
disposal group classified as held for sale, are not depreciated.

non-current assets and assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale 
are presented separately from other assets in the balance sheet. the liabilities 
of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from 
other liabilities in the balance sheet.

Discontinued operations
the results of discontinued operations are presented separately in the income 
statement. A component of the Group that either has been disposed of or is 
classified as held for sale, and represents a separate major line of business, is 
classified as discontinued operations.

the results of discontinued operations are presented separately from the 
period the operation is disposed of or classified as held for sale. previous 
periods are reclassified so that all items related to discontinued operations are 
presented separately from continuing operations for all periods presented.

statement of cash flows
the statement of cash flows is prepared under the indirect method. cash and 
cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and other monetary instruments 
with a maturity of less than three months at the date of purchase.

earnings per share
earnings per share and diluted earnings per share is presented for ordinary 
shares. earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income attributable to 
owners of the parent by the weighted average number of shares outstanding. 
diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income attributable to 
owners of the parent by the weighted average number of shares outstanding, 
adjusted for all dilutive potential shares.

Dividends
dividends are recognised as a liability at the date such dividends are 
appropriately approved by the company’s shareholders’ meeting.

iFrs anD iFric interpretations not Yet eFFectiVe
iASb has published a number of new standards and interpretations and 
amendments to existing standards and interpretations that are not effective 
for the annual period ending 31 december 2011 and that are not applied 
in preparing these financial statements. none of the new standards and 
interpretations and amendments to existing standards and interpretations 
that may have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements are 
eu-approved at 31 december 2011, which is required for implementation by 
Schibsted for the preparation of consolidated financial statements.

of the standards published by iASb, iFrS 11 Joint Arrangements and changes 
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to iAS 19 employee benefits are the changes in accounting policies that to the 
greatest extent may affect the consolidated financial statements of Schibsted 
if these are approved by eu. these standards are expected to be eu-approved 
and to be effective from 2013.

iFrS 11 Joint Arrangements will remove the option to account for jointly 
controlled entities using proportionate consolidation.

Amendments to iAS 19 employee benefits will imply that the corridor 
approach (deferred recognition of changes in pension plan assets and 
liabilities) will no longer be allowed. the result will be greater balance sheet 
volatility than by applying the corridor approach. the amendments will limit 
the changes in the net pension liability to be recognised in profit or loss to 
net interest expense and service cost. expected return on plan assets will be 
replaced by an estimated return based on the discount rate.

note 3 
uSe oF eStIMAteS

in many areas the consolidated financial statements are affected by estimates. 
important areas in which the use of estimates has significant effect on carrying 
amounts, and thus involve a risk of changes that could affect results in future 
periods, are described below.

the valuation of intangible assets in connection with business combinations and 
the testing of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets for impairment 
(see note 11 intangible assets and note 12 property, plant and equipment and 
investment property) will to a large extent be based on estimated future cash 
flows. correspondingly, the expected useful lives and residual values included in 
the calculation of depreciation and amortisation will be based on estimates. the 
Group has activities within established media, but is also active in establishing 
positions at an early point in time in new media channels both through business 
combinations and its own start-ups. estimates related to future cash flows 
and the determination of discount rates to calculate present values are based 
on management’s expectations on market developments, the competitive 
situation, technological developments, the ability to realise synergies, interest 
rate levels and other relevant factors. Such estimates involves uncertainty, and 
management’s view on, and the actual development in the matters referred 
to, may change over time. changes in management’s opinion and actual 
developments may lead to impairment losses in future periods.

the risk of changes in expected cash flows that affect the financial statements 
will naturally be higher in markets in an early phase and be more limited in 
established markets. Further, the risk of changes will be significantly higher 
in periods with uncertain macroeconomic prognosis. in the present situation 
management considers the macroeconomic situation in Spain to be particularly 
affected by uncertainty. Valuation of the Group’s assets in ScM Spain is based on 
cash flows where growth compared to the present cash flows is expected. lack 
of improvement in the macroeconomic situation in Spain can consequently lead 
to a necessary negative adjustment to the cash flows. during 2010 a significant 
investment in the internet site leboncoin.fr (ScM France SAS) was made, based 
on a valuation of the entity where growth in future cash flows is expected. Adverse 
development in underlying macroeconomy in France will consequently imply risk 
for negative adjustment to the Group’s estimates.
 
intangible assets that are not amortised are tested annually for impairment. other 
assets are tested for impairment if there are indications that an asset is impaired. 
Such indications will typically be changes in market developments, the competitive 
situation and technological developments. in the same way, depreciation and 
amortisation schedules and any residual values are reviewed periodically.

Schibsted has in 2011 recognised impairment losses related to goodwill of 
noK 120 million. the most significant impairment loss (noK 111 million) is related 
to the free newspaper operations in Spain (20 Minutos Spain) and is a consequence 
of market situation and uncertainty related to macroeconomic prognosis.

Schibsted recognised in 2010 impairment losses related to goodwill of noK 77 
million. the most significant losses were related to goodwill in Kapaza in belgium 
and in Finn Foto in norway as a consequence of adverse development in profitability 
and nettby in norway as a result of the decision to close down the operation.
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monitored and a liability is recognised when it is probable that the litigation will 
result in a future payment and a reliable estimate of the liability can be made.

note 4 
CHAnGeS In tHe  
CoMpoSItIon oF tHe Group

Schibsted has in 2011 invested noK 146 million (net noK 123 million adjusted 
for cash in acquired companies) related to acquisition of subsidiaries (business 
combinations). See note 5 business combinations for further information 
related to the business combinations.

Schibsted has in 2011 invested noK 1,265 million related to increased 
ownership interests in subsidiaries, mainly related to Media norge ASA. 
noK 688 million of the consideration is settled by using treasury shares.

Schibsted increased in January 2011 its ownership interest in Media norge 
ASA by 3.6% to 85.9% through acquisition of shares. in May 2011 the merger 
between Schibsted ASA and Media norge ASA was closed. the exchange rate 
built on a value of noK 72.50 per Media norge ASA share and noK 171.35 per 
Schibsted ASA share. this valued the equity of Media norge at noK 7.25 billion. 
For the minority shareholders of Media norge, the settlement of the merger was 
through two thirds shares in Schibsted ASA and one third cash. one share in 
Media norge ASA gave 0.2821 shares in Schibsted ASA. in addition, the minority 
shareholders received noK 24.17 in cash per Media norge ASA share. the cash 
amount was in total noK 344 million including interest from 10 January 2011 
until the merger was closed. Schibsted used treasury shares in the settlement, 
and no shares were thus issued in the merger.

in the consolidated financial statements of Schibsted, the merger is accounted 
for as an equity transaction (increase in ownership interest in subsidiary). 
When ownership interest in subsidiaries increase, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests is adjusted to reflect the change in their relative interest 
in the subsidiary, and the difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid is 
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent.

Schibsted has in 2011 sold certain minor subsidiaries, including 100% of the 
shares of Sandrew Metronome norge AS and 100% of the shares of Sandrew 
Metronome distribution Finland oY. net gain on the sale of subsidiaries 
amounts to noK 16 million and is recognised in other revenues and expenses, 
see note 8 other revenues and expenses.

Media norge is included in operating segment Media houses Scandinavia. 
Sandrew Metronome norge AS and Sandrew Metronome distribution Finland 
oY was included in other.

Schibsted has in 2010 invested noK 1,762 million in connection with acquisitions 
of new subsidiaries (business combinations). the most significant investment is in 
editions Aixoises Multimédia SAS (ScM France SAS) who operates the internet site 
leboncoin.fr, as well as investments in lendo Ab and Flytteportalen AS. See note 5 
business combinations for further information related to the business combinations.

Schibsted recognised in 2008 an impairment loss of noK 1,291 million related 
to goodwill in ScM Spain and recognised in 2010 an impairment loss of noK 37 
million related to goodwill in Kapaza. changes in significant assumptions used 
would have increased (decreased) recoverable amount (noK million) at 31.12.2011 
for these units as follows: 

scm spain Kapaza

WAcc +1% (358) (21)

(1%) 446 26

Sustained growth year 6 and forward +1% 454 25

(1%) (342) (19)

An increase in WAcc by 1% would have resulted in an impairment loss of goodwill 
related to ScM Spain in 2011 of noK 244 million while a reduction by 1% in 
sustained growth year 6 and forward would have resulted in an impairment loss 
of noK 229 million. the difference between these amounts of impairment losses 
and the changes in recoverable amount presented above, reflects that the actual 
estimated recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount by approximately 
noK 114 million. As described above, the estimated recoverable amount is also 
affected by the assumptions used for future cash flows. these estimates are 
uncertain. A reduction in the expected future net cash flows related to ScM Spain 
of more than approximately 3.5% compared to the estimates actually used, would 
have resulted in an impairment loss of goodwill having to be recognised. 

An increase in WAcc by 1% would have resulted in an impairment loss of 
goodwill related to Kapaza in 2011 of noK 5 million while a reduction by 1% 
in sustained growth year 6 and forward would have resulted in an impairment 
loss of noK 3 million. 

Accounting for pension obligations requires that financial assumptions relating 
among others to the discount rate, expected salary increases and expected 
increases in pensions and national insurance basic amount are determined. 
changes in assumptions affect the fair value of pension obligations, but will 
affect the consolidated income statement through amortisation only when 
accumulated actuarial gains or losses exceed 10% of the higher of pension 
obligations and plan assets. See note 21 pension plans.

An increase / decrease of the discount rate by 1% will, including changes 
resulting from other assumptions that changes accordingly, reduce / increase 
the present value of defined benefit obligations by approximately 6%.

Financial instruments are measured at fair value. When no quoted market 
price is available, fair value is estimated using different valuation techniques. 
the Group’s financial instruments and valuation techniques are presented in 
note 10 Financial instruments by category.

the present value of future consideration to be paid related to non-controlling 
interests’ put options over shares in subsidiaries are recognised as financial 
liabilities, see note 25 Financial liabilities related to non-controlling interests’ 
put options. the liabilities are recognised using estimated value, and the 
estimate can be changed in future periods as the pricing is dependent upon 
future fair value and / or future results. 

Schibsted could potentially always be involved in litigations as a result of the 
Group’s ordinary operations. the financial implications of litigations is constantly 
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Schibsted has in 2010 invested noK 255 million related to increased 
ownership share in subsidiaries. in September 2010 Schibsted purchased 49% 
of the shares in tVnu Sweden Ab and the ownership share after the purchase 
is 100%. in november 2010 Schibsted purchased 46% of the shares in lendo 
Ab and the ownership share after the purchase is 97%. Schibsted has in 2010 
increased its ownership share in Media norge ASA from 80.44% to 82.31%. 
the purchase price is charged to equity in accordance with iAS 27.

Willhaben internet Service Gmbh, a joint venture where Schibsted owns 50%, 
purchased in April 2010 100% of the shares in car4You Gmbh. car4You 
Gmbh is an Austrian car portal.

Schibsted sold in May 2010 the building used by Media norge trykk oslo 
AS in Sandakerveien 121 in oslo, through the sale of 100% of the shares in 
Sandakerveien 121 AS. proceeds from the sale was noK 702 million, and the gain 
from the sale of noK 416 million is included in other revenues and expenses, see 
note 8 other revenues and expenses. A lease back agreement is entered into, 
where the building is leased for a period of 15 years with an option to extend for 
five plus five plus five years. the lease is accounted for as an operating lease.

Schibsted sold in July 2010 the Group’s shares in the subsidiary Scanpix norge 
AS and in november 2010 the Group’s shares in the joint venture car & boat 
Media holding SAS. the sale of car & boat Media holding SAS was part of a joint 
agreement where Schibsted simultaneously purchased 50% of editions Aixoises 
Multimédia SAS (ScM France SAS). total gain of noK 62 million is included in 
other revenues and expenses, see note 8 other revenues and expenses. 

Sandakerveien 121 AS, Scanpix norge AS and lendo Ab are included in 
operating segment Media houses Scandinavia. car4You Gmbh, Flytteportalen 
AS, editions Aixoises Multimédia SAS (ScM France SAS) and car & boat Media 
holding SAS are included in operating segment online classifieds.

note 5 
BuSIneSS CoMBInAtIonS

Business comBinations in 2011:
Schibsted has in 2011 invested noK 146 million (net noK 123 million adjusted 
for cash in acquired companies) related to acquisition of subsidiaries (business 
combinations).

in March 2011, Schibsted acquired the Swedish online weather service Klart.
se. in April 2011, Schibsted acquired 100% of the shares of tvnet SiA in 
latvia that operates the online newspaper tvnet.lv. in June 2011, Schibsted 
acquired 55% of the shares of Sibmedia interactive S.r.l. in romania that 
operates the online classifieds site tocmai.ro. in July 2011, Schibsted acquired 
69,95% of the shares of Service response europe Ab in Sweden that operates 
servicefinder.se, a market place for services. in September 2011, Schibsted 
acquired 50,09% of the shares of done deal ltd in ireland that operates the 
online classifieds site donedeal.ie. Schibsted has also been involved in some 
other minor business combinations.

the investments are carried out as a part of Schibsted’s growth strategy. the 
investments are partly related to focusing on online classifieds in new markets 

and partly to developing web-based growth companies benefiting from strong 
traffic positions and brands of established operations in norway and Sweden.

the business combinations have resulted in recognition of goodwill of noK 115 
million attributable to non-contractual customer relationships, the assembled 
workforce of the companies and synergies. of the goodwill recognised, noK 19 
million is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

the following tables summarise the consideration transferred and the 
amounts for assets and liabilities recognised after the business combinations:

total business 
combinations

consideration:

cash 126

other assets 20

contingent consideration 3

consideration transferred 149

amounts for assets and liabilities recognised:

trademarks (indefinite useful life) 54

data systems and licenses 14

property, plant and equipment 1

trade receivables 8

other current assets 29

deferred tax liabilities  (8)

current liabilities  (24)

total identifiable net assets 74

non-controlling interests  (40)

Goodwill 115

total 149

non-controlling interests are measured at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. When Schibsted is obligated to acquire 
ownership interests from non-controlling interests, a financial liability is 
recognised with a corresponding adjustment to equity, see note 25 Financial 
liabilities related to non-controlling interests’ put options.

the fair value of acquired receivables is noK 9 million, of which noK 8 million 
are trade receivables. there is no material difference between the gross 
contractual amounts receivable and the fair value of the receivables.

the companies acquired in the business combinations have since acquisition 
date contributed noK 40 million to operating revenues and contributed 
negatively noK 3 million to profit (loss).

if the acquisition date of all business combinations was as of 1.1.2011, the 
operating revenues and profit (loss) of the Group would have increased by 
noK 35 million and noK 3 million, respectively.

Schibsted has not incurred significant acquisition-related costs in connection 
with the business combinations.
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Business combinations in 2010:
Schibsted has in 2010 invested noK 1,762 million in connection with 
acquisitions of subsidiaries (business combinations). 

purchase of editions aixoises multimédia sas (leboncoin.fr):
in november 2010 Schibsted acquired 50% of the shares in editions Aixoises 
Multimédia SAS. the company has later changed name to ScM France SAS. 
Schibsted held before the acquisition 50% of the shares in the company 
and the investment was accounted for as a joint venture. the acquisition of 
editions Aixoises Multimédia SAS is accounted for as a business combination 
achieved in stages.

editions Aixoises Multimédia SAS is the owner of the internet site leboncoin.fr, 
the leading online classifieds site in France.

increased ownership in leboncoin.fr is of vital strategic value for Schibsted. 
control of the company strengthens both the opportunity to develop the internet 
site leboncoin.fr, and to develop new online businesses in the French market.

the business combination have resulted in recognition of goodwill of noK 
2,608 million attributable to non-contractual private customer relationships, 
the assembled workforce of the company and a control premium connected to 
the possibility of broadening the presence in the French market, faster decision 
making, greater possibility for synergies and future developments. none of the 
goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

in connection with the business combination an arrangement with the prior 
owner relating to contingent consideration has been made. the contingent 
consideration is connected to the revenues of editions Aixoises Multimédia 
SAS in 2013. the consideration is determined by the level of revenue in a step 
system. depending on the revenue, the consideration will be between eur 0 
and 10 million. Fair value of future payment is estimated with reference to the 
most likely revenue level, where the corresponding payment of eur 10 million is 
discounted to present value at the acquisition date using a discount rate of 2.7%.

cost related to the acquisition amount to noK 10 million and is included in 
other revenue and expenses, see note 8 other revenues and expenses. 

Schibsted has recognised a gain of noK 1,518 million as previously held equity 
interest, in business combinations achieved in stages, is to be remeasured at 
fair value at the acquisition date with any resulting gain or loss recognised in 
profit or loss. the gain is included in other revenue and expenses, see note 8 
other revenues and expenses. 

other business combinations:
in May 2010, Schibsted purchased 51% of the shares in lendo Ab and in July 
2010 Schibsted purchased 50.1% of the shares in Flytteportalen AS. 

lendo Ab is a Swedish internet-based provider of loans in the private market 
and Flytteportalen AS is a norwegian internet-based change of address service.

the investments are part of Schibsted’s growth strategy and provides 
opportunities to exploit revenue- and cost synergies as well as opportunities to 
improve traffic generation between the various online services within the group.

the business combinations have resulted in recognition of goodwill of noK 17 

million attributable to non-contractual customer relationships and other 
synergies. none of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for 
income tax purposes. 

the table below summarises the consideration and the amounts of assets and 
liabilities recognised after the business combinations:

editions aixoises 
multimédia sas

other business 
combinations

total business 
combinations

consideration:

cash 1,655 33 1,688

contingent conside-
ration 75  - 75

consideration trans-
ferred 1,730 33 1,763

Fair value of previously 
held equity interest 1,576  - 1,576

total 3,306 33 3,339

amounts for assets and liabilities recognised:

trademarks (indefinite 
useful life) 734 22 756

data systems and 
licenses 30 5 35

customer relations 78  - 78

property, plant and 
equipment 4  - 4

deferred tax assets  - 2 2

trade receivables 33 3 36

other current assets 188 18 206

deferred tax liabilities  (280)  (7)  (287)

current liabilities  (89)  (10)  (99)

total identifiable net 
assets 698 33 731

non-controlling 
interests  -  (17)  (17)

Goodwill 2,608 17 2,625

total 3,306 33 3,339

non-controlling interests are measured at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. When Schibsted is obligated to acquire 
ownership interests from non-controlling interests, a financial liability is 
recognised with a corresponding adjustment to equity, see note 25 Financial 
liabilities related to non-controlling interests’ put options.

the fair value of receivables is noK 63 million and includes trade receivables 
of noK 36 million. none of the receivables are impaired and provided for and it 
is expected that the gross contractual amount of the receivables is collectible.

editions Aixoises Multimédia SAS has since acquisition date contributed 
noK 28 million to operating revenues and noK 9 million to profit (loss) in the 
consolidated income statement.

Flytteportalen AS and lendo Ab have since acquisition date contributed 
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noK 24 million to operating revenues and noK 4 million to profit (loss) in the 
consolidated income statement.

if all business combinations had taken place with effect from 1.1.2010, the 
consolidated income statement would show increased operating revenues of 
noK 149 million and an increase in profit (loss) of noK 40 million.

note 6 
eVentS AFter tHe  
reportInG perIoD

Schibsted Media Group announced on 12 January 2012 an offer to the shareholders 
in Aspiro Ab to acquire all the shares in Aspiro Ab for SeK 1.65 in cash per share. 
Aspiro Ab is a leading provider of music and tV streaming services. the offer 
values the equity of Aspiro Ab at approximately SeK 340 million.

Schibsted has until 13 March 2012 acquired shares under the offer and outside 
the offer and Schibsted’s ownership interest is 74.3% after these purchases. 
Schibsted held, before the offer was made public, 18.3% of the shares of Aspiro 
Ab. in addition, Schibsted had through a trS agreement the financial interest 
related to an additional 21.3% of the shares of Aspiro Ab.

Schibsted has through the share purchases obtained control over Aspiro Ab 
and Aspiro Ab will thus be consolidated as a subsidiary from the acquisition 
date. the business combination will be accounted for as a business combination 
achieved in stages. A gain from remeasurement of previously held equity 
interest of approximately noK 40 million will be recognised at the acquisition 
date. Aspiro Ab is a listed company and Schibsted has had limited access to 
information. At the date of approval of these annual financial statements, 
information regarding the amounts that will be recognised for each major class 
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, does therefore not exist.

Schibsted has in February 2012, in order to increase the number of sources of 
financing and diversify the Group’s loan structure, issued noK 800 million of new 
unsecured bonds in the norwegian bond market. the issuance is split between a 
five year loan of noK 500 million and a seven year loan of noK 300 million.

note 7 
DISCloSure oF  
operAtInG SeGMentS

Schibsted reports three operating segments: Media houses Scandinavia, Media 
houses international and online classifieds.

Segment Media houses Scandinavia includes Media norge, VG, Schibsted 
Sverige and the Group’s publishing operations. Media norge comprises 
the media houses Aftenposten, bergens tidende, Stavanger Aftenblad 
and Fædrelandsvennen. Schibsted Sverige comprises the media houses 
Aftonbladet and Svenska dagbladet, and a portfolio of internet based growth 
companies (Schibsted tillväxtmedier except hitta).

Segment Media houses international comprises 20 Minutos Spain, 20 Minutes 
France and eesti Meedia.

Segment online classifieds comprises Schibsted classified Media, Finn and hitta.

other comprises operations not included in the three operating segments, 
mainly Sandrew Metronome. 

headquarters comprises the Group’s headquarter Schibsted ASA and its 
centralised finance function, Schibsted Finans AS.

eliminations comprise intersegment sales. transactions between segments 
are made on normal commercial terms. 

the division into operating segments corresponds to management structure 
and internal reporting to the chief operating decision maker, defined as the 
ceo. the division reflects an allocation based partly on kind of operation and 
partly on geographical location.

in the segment information presented, operating profit (loss) is used as a 
measure of segment profit or loss. For internal control and monitoring, Gross 
operating profit (loss) and Gross operating profit (loss) after depreciation and 
amortisation are also used as measures of segment profit and loss.
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information about operating profit (loss) by operating segments are as follows:

2011
media Houses 

scandinavia
media Houses 

international
online  

classifieds other
Head- 

quarters eliminations total

Subscription revenues 1,656 86  -  -  -  - 1,742
casual sales revenues 2,571 57 13  -  -  - 2,641
Advertising revenues 4,465 628 3,335  -  -  - 8,428
other revenues 1,174 209 72 110 2  - 1,567

operating revenues from external customers 9,866 980 3,420 110 2 - 14,378
operating revenues from other segments 125 24 75 4 45 (273) -

operating revenues 9,991 1,004 3,495 114 47 (273) 14,378
operating expenses (8,757) (967) (2,416) (111) (254) 273 (12,232)
Share of profit (loss) of associated companies 41 1 (3) - - - 39

Gross operating profit (loss) 1,275 38 1,076 3 (207) - 2,185
depreciation and amortisation (290) (35) (177) (2) (1) - (505)

Gross operating profit (loss) after depreciation and 
amortisation 985 3 899 1 (208) - 1,680
impairment loss (20) (111) (60) - - - (191)
other revenues and expenses (65) (8) 4 19 - - (50)

operating profit (loss) 900 (116) 843 20 (208) - 1,439

2010
media Houses 

scandinavia
media Houses 

international
online  

classifieds other
Head- 

quarters eliminations total

Subscription revenues 1,583 89  -  -  -  - 1,672
casual sales revenues 2,721 61 14  -  -  - 2,796
Advertising revenues 4,342 622 2,723  -  -  - 7,687
other revenues 1,031 201 119 260 2  - 1,613

operating revenues from external customers 9,677 973 2,856 260 2  - 13,768
operating revenues from other segments 94 36 82 1 40 (253)  - 

operating revenues 9,771 1,009 2,938 261 42 (253) 13,768
operating expenses (8,488) (949) (1,961) (217) (243) 253 (11,605)
Share of profit (loss) of associated companies 41 - (5) - -  - 36

Gross operating profit (loss) 1,324 60 972 44 (201)  - 2,199
depreciation and amortisation (317)  (37) (201)  (31)  (2)  -  (588)

Gross operating profit (loss) after depreciation and 
amortisation 1,007 23 771 13 (203)  - 1,611
impairment loss (47) (5) (57) (1)  -  - (110)
other revenues and expenses 347  - 1,562 (8) 8  - 1,909

operating profit (loss) 1,307 18 2,276 4 (195)  - 3,410
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information about operating revenues by products and services are  
as follows:

operating revenues 2011 2010

printed newspapers 9,001 9,121

online newspapers 1,617 1,302

classified/directories 3,528 3,002

live pictures 206 350

others 642 427

eliminations (616) (434)

total 14,378 13,768 

operating revenues include government grants at noK 56 million in 2011 
and noK 57 million in 2010. in addition barter agreements are included with 
noK 48 million in 2011 and noK 71 million in 2010.

information about operating revenues and non-current assets by 
 geographical areas
in presenting geographical information, attribution of operating revenues is 
based on the location of group companies. there are no significant differences 
between the attribution of operating revenues based on the location of group 
companies and an attribution based on the customers’ location. non-current 
assets are attributed based on the geographical location of the assets.

operating revenues 2011 2010

norway 7,637 7,349

Sweden 4,224 4,121

baltics 566 576

other europe 1,872 1,644

other countries 79 78

total 14,378 13,768 

non-current assets 2011 2010

norway 3,333 3,440

Sweden 1,619 1,562

baltics 353 361

other europe 6,748 6,911

other countries 59 54

total 12,112 12,328 

non-current assets comprise assets excluding deferred tax assets and 
financial instruments, expected to be recovered more than twelve months 
after the reporting period.

note 8 
otHer reVenueS AnD eXpenSeS

operating revenues and -expenses that are of a non-recurring nature and are 
of material importance to the operating segments are separated from other 
ordinary operating revenues and expenses and reported in a separate line in 
the income statement. 

other revenues and expenses include: 

2011 2010

restructuring costs (231) (61)
Gain on sale of intangible assets, proper-
ty, plant and equipment and investment 
property 33 416
Gain on sale of subsidiaries and joint 
ventures (note 4) 16 62

Gain on amendment of pension plans 99 27
Gain from remeasurement of previously 
held equity interest in business combina-
tion achieved in stages  - 1,518

Acquisition related costs  - (10)

other  33 (43)

total (50) 1,909

2011
restructuring costs of noK 202 million is recognised as a consequence of 
implementation of measures to reduce the cost base in the segment Media 
houses Scandinavia. the costs are mainly related to reduction in headcount in 
Media norge, VG and Schibsted Sverige. the measures are implemented and 
will take effect in the period 2012–2014 where the cost base will be reduced 
by approximately noK 200 million and headcount will be reduced by 160–200. 
restructuring costs related to the ongoing downscaling of the operations in 
Sandrew Metronome amount to noK 28 million.

in relation to the ongoing downscaling of the operations in Sandrew Metronome, 
gains on the sale of subsidiaries and gains on sale of intangible assets are 
recognised in 2011 by noK 10 million and noK 33 million, respectively.

Amendments to pension plans in certain subsidiaries have resulted in a gain of 
noK 99 million. the amendments comprise amendments to benefits in existing 
plans and change from unfunded benefit plans to insurance of disability benefits.

other includes positive effect from recognising in income a provision related to a 
legal dispute settled in Sweden.

2010
of noK 61 million in restructuring costs for 2010, noK 42 million relates 
to co-localisation in Sweden. the remaining noK 19 million relates to staff 
reduction in VG, Fædrelandsvennen and Sandrew Metronome.

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment and investment property of noK 
416 million relates to sale of property used by Media norge trykk oslo AS.
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Gain on sale of subsidiaries and joint ventures of noK 62 million relates mainly 
to car & boat Media SAS (noK 55 million).

A new law regarding Agreement-based pension (AFp) in norway was approved 
on 19 February 2010. Schibsted has accounted for the old AFp-plan as a 
defined benefit plan. in 2010, a gain of noK 27 million is recognised related to 
curtailment and settlement of obligations recognised related to the old AFp-
plan in relation to employees being comprised by the new AFp-plan. 

Schibsted has recognised a gain of noK 1,518 million related to the 
transaction in which Schibsted became a 100% owner of ScM France SAS 
(leboncoin.fr). prior to the transaction, Schibsted held a 50% ownership 
interest in the company and the investment was accounted for as a joint 
venture. in such business combinations achieved in stages, any previously held 
equity interest is to be remeasured at fair value with any resulting gain or loss 
recognised in profit or loss.

Acquisition related costs relates to ScM France SAS.

other includes settlement in a court case between dagbladet Medialab and 
nettby resulting in a cost of noK 24 million and litigation in Sweden.

note 9 
FInAnCIAl rISK MAnAGeMent

capital management
Schibsted is a listed company that aims to provide a competitive rate of return 
based on healthy finances. Schibsted aims to maximise the shareholders’ 
return through long-term growth in the share price and dividend. 

the Group’s strategy and vision entail a high rate of change and development 
of the Group’s operations. Schibsted’s capital structure must be sufficiently 
robust in order to maintain the desired freedom of action and utilise growth 
opportunities based on strict assessments relating to allocation of capital.

the Group’s capital consists of net interest-bearing borrowings and equity:

2011 2010

non-current interest-bearing borrowings 1,907 1,906

current interest-bearing borrowings 523 572

current interest-bearing securities 10 8

cash and cash equivalents 778 650

net interest-bearing borrowings 1,642 1,820

Group equity 6,659 7,006
net gearing (net interest-bearing 
 borrowings/equity) 0.25 0.26

undrawn long-term bank facilities 3,260 2,984

Schibsted will emphasise having a fixed dividend payout ratio which, over time, is 
to be 25–40 per cent of the Group’s normalised cash flow per share. in years when 
there is an economic slowdown, the company will try to pay dividend at the upper 
part of the target interval provided that the Group’s capital structure allows this.

Financing and control of refinancing risk is handled on the parent company 
level. Schibsted has a diversified loan portfolio both in terms of sourcing and 
maturity profile. the most important financing sources are the norwegian 
commercial paper market and banks. Schibsted does not have an external 
credit rating. the financial flexibility is considered to be good and the Group’s 
ratio of net interest-bearing borrowings to gross operating profit was 0.8 at the 
end of 2011. this is on a level with the pronounced goal of 1–2.

Available liquidity should at all times be equal to at least 10 per cent of 
expected annual revenues. Available liquidity refers to the Group’s cash and 
cash equivalents and available long-term bank facilities. 

Schibsted has a conservative placement policy where excess liquidity is used 
for loan repayments. until due date the excess liquidity is temporarily placed 
in the Group’s cash pool, and at times in the short-term money market with 
banks the Group has credit facilities in.

Financial risk
Schibsted ASA has a treasury department responsible for financing and 
controlling of financial risks, such as interest and foreign exchange risk, 
liquidity risk and credit risk.
  
Foreign exchange risk
norwegian kroner are Schibsted’s base currency, but the Group is through its 
business outside norway also exposed to changes in other countries’ exchange 
rates, mainly euro and Swedish kronor. Schibsted has foreign exchange 
exposure relating to both balance sheet monetary items and to net assets in 
foreign operations. Schibsted uses loans in foreign currencies, forward contracts 
and swap agreements to reduce the foreign exchange exposure. the Group’s 
monetary items exposure appears in note 22 interest-bearing borrowings and 
in note 18 cash and cash equivalents. As at 31.12.2011 the Group had entered 
into several forward contracts and a interest rate and currency swap agreement 
involving the purchase and sale of currencies for this purpose.

currency gains and losses relating to borrowings and forward contracts which 
hedge net investments in foreign operations are recognised in comprehensive 
income until the foreign operation is disposed of. other currency gains and 
losses are recognised in the income statement on an ongoing basis as other 
financial income or expense. 

As at 31.12.2011 Schibsted has the following forward contracts, which all 
mature in 2012:

currency amount noK

Forward contracts, sale eur 50 388

Forward contracts, sale chF 11 67

Forward contracts, sale SeK 182 158

Forward contracts, purchase SeK 152 132

As at 31.12.2011 forward contracts for the sale of SeK 182 million are related 
to hedging of net investments in foreign operations. Fair value of the contracts 
accounted for as hedges was noK -4 million as at 31.12.2011. Fair value of 
other forward contracts was noK 6 million as at 31.12.2011.

cash flows in foreign currencies relating to considerable investments or 
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significant individual transactions are hedged by using financial instruments. 
At year-end the Group had no such contracts. the Group’s foreign exchange 
exposure relating to operations is low, since most of the cash flows take place 
in the individual businesses local currency. 

As at 31.12.2011 Schibsted has the following interest rate and currency swap, 
which mature in 2013:

currency amount noK

interest rate and currency swap eur 38 295

the interest rate and currency swap agreement is linked to the bond of noK 300 
million issued in december 2010 (iSin no001059325.4), where all payments of 
interests during the loan period and the final repayment of the loan at maturity 
in 2013 are fully matched. the agreement is accounted for as a hedge. the fair 
value of the agreement was noK 5 million as at 31.12.2011.  
   
Schibsted follows a currency hedging strategy where net investments in foreign 
operations are hedged. the degree to which hedging is carried out has been kept 
stable during 2011. As of 31.12.2011 50 per cent of the Group’s net interest-
bearing borrowings was in eur, including forward contracts and the interest 
rate and currency swap. the remaining interest-bearing borrowings, including 
forward contracts, are denominated in noK and SeK.    
  
the sensitivity of exchange rate fluctuations is as follows: if noK changes by 
10 per cent compared to the actual rate as at 31.12.2011 for SeK and eur, the 
Group’s net interest-bearing borrowings (including currency derivatives) will 
change by approximately noK 118 million. currency effects will have a limited 
effect on Group profits since any change in value will be tied to instruments 
hedging the net foreign investments, but will change the net interest-bearing 
borrowings to gross operating profit ratio by approximately 0.05.  
   
A change in exchange rates also affects the translation of net foreign assets 
to noK. the equity effect of these changes are limited by the Group’s currency 
hedging, where changes in the value of net foreign assets are mitigated by 
changes in the value of the Group’s foreign-denominated interest-bearing 
borrowings and currency derivatives.    
 
interest rate risk     
Schibsted has floating interest rates on its interest-bearing borrowings, see 
note 22 interest-bearing borrowings and is thereby influenced by changes in the 
interest market. A change of 1 percentage point in the floating interest rate means 
a change in Schibsted’s interest expenses of approximately noK 24 million. 

raw materials risk      
Schibsted is a consumer of newsprint and is therefore exposed to price changes. A 
change in the price of 1 per cent has an impact on raw materials costs for the Group 
of approximately noK 8 million per year. newsprint prices in norway, Sweden and 
Spain are negotiated annually with suppliers and have already been settled for 2012. 

credit risk     
the Group has recorded a low level of losses relating to trade receivables, see 
note 17 trade and other receivables.    
 
there is a limited credit risk relating to the Group’s circulation revenues since 
many of the Group’s products are sold on the basis of prepayment (newspaper 

subscriptions). For parts of the Group’s advertising revenue, deposit schemes 
and credit insurance have been established. For private online advertising 
payment is to a large extent made by charging the customer’s credit card or 
phone at the time the advertisement is ordered. net carrying amount of the 
Group’s financial assets, except for equity instruments, represents maximum 
credit exposure, and the exposure is disclosed in note 10 Financial instruments 
by category. exposure related to the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in 
note 17 trade and other receivables.    
 
liquidity risk     
At the year end he Group’s portfolio of loans and loan facilities is well diversified 
both related to maturity profile and lenders.    
 
At the end of 2011 Schibsted has a long-term liquidity reserve of noK 4.0 billion 
and net interest-bearing borrowings are noK 1,642 million. the liquidity reserve 
corresponds to 28 per cent of the Group’s turnover. the Group has as target 
that the aggregate liquidity reserve should be at least 10 per cent of the next 12 
months’ expected turnover.      

Schibsted’s loan agreements contain financial covenants regarding the ratio of 
net interest-bearing borrowings to gross operating profit (ebitdA). the ratio 
shall normally not exceed 3, but can be reported at higher levels up to three 
quarters during the loan period, as long the ratio stays below 4. 
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note 10 
FInAnCIAl InStruMentS BY CAteGorY

carrying amount of assets and liabilities are divided into categories as follows:

note
Balance as at 

31.12.2011

Financial 
assets and 

liabilities at fair 
value through 
profit or loss

loans and 
receivables

Financial 
 assets avail-
able for sale

other financial 
liabilities

non-financial 
instruments

intangible assets 11 9,611  -  -  -  - 9,611 

property, plant and equipment and investment property 12 1,992  -  -  -  - 1,992 

investments in associated companies 13 492  -  -  -  - 492 

non-current financial assets 14 143  -  - 143  -  - 

deferred tax assets 30 58  -  -  -  - 58 

other non-current assets 15 213  - 196  -  - 17 

inventories 16 143  -  -  -  - 143 

trade and other receivables 17 2,406 11 2,028  -  - 367 

current financial assets 14 500  -  - 500  -  - 

cash and cash equivalents 18 778  - 778  -  -  - 

total assets 16,336 11 3,002 643  - 12,680 

deferred tax liabilities 30 798  -  -  -  - 798 

pension liabilities 21 1,455  -  -  -  - 1,455 

non-current interest-bearing borrowings 22 1,907  -  -  - 1,907  - 

other non-current liabilities 23 339  -  -  - 305 34 

current interest-bearing borrowings 22 523  -  -  - 523  - 

income tax payable 30 428  -  -  -  - 428 

other current liabilities 24 4,227 4  -  - 4,223  - 

total liabilities 9,677 4  -  - 6,958 2,715 

note
Balance as at 

31.12.2010

Financial 
assets and 

liabilities at fair 
value through 
profit or loss

loans and 
receivables

Financial 
 assets avail-
able for sale

other financial 
liabilities

non-financial 
instruments

intangible assets 11 9,728  -  -  -  - 9,728 

property, plant and equipment and investment property 12 2,112  -  -  -  - 2,112 

investments in associated companies 13 465  -  -  -  - 465 

non-current financial assets 14 149  -  - 149  -  - 

deferred tax assets 30 102  -  -  -  - 102 

other non-current assets 15 234  - 211  -  - 23 

inventories 16 139  -  -  -  - 139 

trade and other receivables 17 2,504 4 2,096  -  - 404 

current financial assets 14 426  -  - 426  -  - 

cash and cash equivalents 18 650  - 650  -  -  - 

total assets 16,509 4 2,957 575  - 12,973 

deferred tax liabilities 30 757  -  -  -  - 757 

pension liabilities 21 1,499  -  -  -  - 1,499 

non-current interest-bearing borrowings 22 1,906  -  -  - 1,906  - 

other non-current liabilities 23 277  -  -  - 207 70 

current interest-bearing borrowings 22 572  -  -  - 572  - 

income tax payable 30 375  -  -  -  - 375 

other current liabilities 24 4,117 4  -  - 4,113  - 

total liabilities 9,503 4  -  - 6,798 2,701 
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the fair value of the Group’s financial derivatives is as follows:

assets liabilities

2011 2010 2011 2010

Forward contracts 6  - 4  4 
interest rate and 
currency swap 5  4  -  - 

total 11  4 4  4 

the Group’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, 
 analysed by valuation method, are as follows: 

31.12.2011: level 1 level 2 level 3 total

Financial assets available for sale 618  10  15 643 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss  -  11  - 11 
Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss  -  (4)  -  (4)

31.12.2010: level 1 level 2 level 3 total

Financial assets available for sale 522  14  39 575 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss  -  4  - 4 
Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss  -  (4)  -  (4)

the different valuation methods have been defined as follows:
level 1: Valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities.
level 2: Valuation based on inputs other than quoted prices included within 

level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

level 3: Valuation based on inputs for the asset or liability that are 
unobservable market data.

the fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted 
market prices at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded as active if quoted 
prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry 
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and these prices represent actual 
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. these 
instruments are included in level 1, and comprise primarily equity instruments 
quoted on the oslo Stock exchange and on nasdaq oMX in Stockholm. 

the fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market 
is determined by using valuation techniques. these valuation techniques 
maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as 
little as possible on entity specific estimates. if all significant inputs required to 
fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

if one or more of the significant inputs are not based on observable market 
data, the instrument is included in level 3.

changes in level 3 instruments:

2011 2010

net carrying amount 1.1 39 79

Additions 1 3

disposals  (26)  (8)
changes in fair value recognised in 
 comprehensive income 1  81 
changes in fair value recognised in  
profit or loss  -  (6)
reclassification adjustement from com-
prehensive income to profit (loss)  
by derecognition  -  (108)

translation differences  -  (2)

net carrying amount 31.12 15 39
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note 11 
IntAnGIBle ASSetS

Goodwill

other 
 intangible 

assets total

1.1–31.12.2011

net carrying amount 1.1.2011 6,919 2,809 9,728

Additions - 164 164

Additions on purchase of businesses 120 67 187

disposals -  (6)  (6)

disposals on sale of businesses  (1)  (19)  (20)

reclassification  -  13  13 

Amortisation for the year  -  (211)  (211)

impairment losses  (120)  (65)  (185)

translation differences  (40)  (19)  (59)

net carrying amount 31.12. 2011 6,878 2,733 9,611

as at 31.12.2011

cost 8,436 3,754 12,190

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses  (1,558)  (1,021)  (2,579)

net carrying amount 6,878 2,733 9,611

1.1–31.12.2010

net carrying amount 1.1.2010 4,941 2,281 7,222

Additions - 174 174

Additions on purchase of businesses 2,635 897 3,532

disposals -  (2)  (2)

disposals on sale of businesses  (357)  (156)  (513)

reclassification  (35)  (2)  (37)

Amortisation for the year -  (254)  (254)

impairment losses  (77)  (15)  (92)

translation differences  (188)  (114)  (302)

net carrying amount 31.12. 2010 6,919 2,809 9,728

as at 31.12.2010

cost 8,605 4,352 12,957

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses  (1,686)  (1,543)  (3,229)

net carrying amount 6,919 2,809 9,728

other intangible assets include: 

 expected useful life carrying amount

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

trademarks indefinite 2,295 2,255

trademarks Finite 88 109

Software and licenses Finite 272 314

customer relations Finite 78 131

total 2,733 2,809

trademarks with indefinite expected useful lives can be specified on 
cash-generating units as follows:

operating segments 2011 2010

Media norge
Media houses 
 Scandinavia 439 439

Schibsted Sverige
Media houses 
 Scandinavia 51 51

ScM Spain online classifieds 840 846

ScM France online classifieds 704 709

ScM italy online classifieds 160 161

ScM belgium online classifieds 49 49

ScM ireland online classifieds 47  - 

ScM romania online classifieds 5  - 

total 2,295 2,255

trade marks with an indefinite expected useful life have been acquired through 
acquisitions and are expected to generate cash flows over an indefinite period 
of time.

intangible assets with a finite expected useful life are as a general rule 
amortised on a straight line basis over the expected useful life. the 
amortisation period of intangible assets are 1.5–10 years. the amortisation 
method, expected useful life and any residual value are assessed annually.

Schibsted has a clear goal of building a foundation for future growth by 
establishing in new markets. this is done to a large extent within Schibsted 
classified Media through establishing operations that are primarily based on 
the successful Swedish blocket.se concept.

For successful establishments, technology, trademarks and goodwill that may 
have a significant value, is developed through the expenditure incurred. Such 
expenditure do not meet the requirements for recognition as intangible assets, 
and all the expenditure related to such roll-outs are thus recognised as an 
expense when it is incurred. Such investments reduced Gross operating profit 
by noK 412 million in 2011 and noK 225 million in 2010.
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Goodwill can be specified on cash-generating units as follows: 

operating segments 2011 2010

Media norge Media houses Scandinavia 624 624

Schibsted Forlag Media houses Scandinavia 58 58

VG Group Media houses Scandinavia 61 61

Schibsted Vekst Media houses Scandinavia 5  - 

Schibsted Sverige Media houses Scandinavia 397 365

Møteplassen Media houses Scandinavia 28 28

20 Minutos Spain Media houses international  - 112

eesti Meedia Media houses international 169 161

Finn.no online classifieds 270 270

hitta online classifieds 117 117

ScM France online classifieds 2,499 2,518

ScM Spain online classifieds 2,043 2,060

ScM Sweden online classifieds 446 446

ScM belgium online classifieds 79 80

ScM ireland online classifieds 49 -

other online classifieds online classifieds 33 19

total 6,878 6,919

Schibsted has in 2011 recognised impairment losses of noK 185 million related to 
goodwill and other intangible assets. As a consequence of adverse development 
in profitability, impairment losses of noK 111 million related to 20 Minutos Spain 
and noK 9 million related to tasteline (in operating segment Media houses 
Scandinavia) has been recognised. impairment loss other intangible assets is 
mainly related to intangible assets in Schibsted classified Media (noK 54 million) 
in connection with adjustment to the classification of expenditure incurred in 
ongoing development and upgrading of web sites.

Schibsted has in 2010 recognised impairment losses of noK 92 million related to 
goodwill and other intangible assets. included in the amount was noK 37 million 
related to goodwill in Kapaza and noK 15 million related to goodwill in Finn Foto 
as a consequence of adverse development in profitability. in addition noK 17 
million was related to nettby as a result of closing down the operation. 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating units was estimated based on 
value in use. expected cash flows in 2011 are discounted using a pre-tax 
discount rate (WAcc) from 10.5 per cent to 13.4 per cent (9.2% to 12.0%). 
When WAcc is determined, consideration is given to the risk-free interest rate 
with risk premium for the relevant country as well as business specific risk.
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Buildings and 
land

investment 
properties

construction in 
progress

plant and 
machinery

equipment, 
furniture and 

similar assets total

1.1–31.12.2011

net carrying amount 1.1.2011  882  63  6  763  398  2,112 

Additions  18  -  23  16  133  190 

disposals  -  -  -  -  (6)  (6)

disposals on sale of businesses  -  -  -  -  (1)  (1)

reclassification  18  -  (2)  -  (16)  - 

depreciation for the year  (36)  -  -  (116)  (142)  (294)

impairment losses  -  -  -  -  (6)  (6)

translation differences  -  -  -  -  (3)  (3)

net carrying amount 31.12.2011  882  63  27  663  357  1,992 

as at 31.12.2011

cost  1,031  63  27  1,626  980  3,727 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses  (149)  -  -  (963)  (623)  (1,735)

net carrying amount  882  63  27  663  357  1,992 

1.1–31.12.2011

net carrying amount 1.1.2010  1,184  63  7  861  407  2,522 

Additions  26  -  6  31  190  253 

Additions on purchase of businesses  -  -  -  -  3  3 

disposals  (2)  -  -  -  (9)  (11)

disposals on sale of businesses  (281)  -  -  -  (7)  (288)

reclassification  3  -  (7)  8  (5)  (1)

depreciation for the year  (44)  -  -  (128)  (162)  (334)

impairment losses  -  -  -  -  (18)  (18)

translation differences  (4)  -  -  (9)  (1)  (14)

net carrying amount 31.12.2010  882  63  6  763  398  2,112 

as at 31.12.2010

cost  994  63  6  1,748  1,231  4,042 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses  (112)  -  -  (985)  (833)  (1,930)

net carrying amount  882  63  6  763  398  2,112 

note 12 
propertY, plAnt AnD  eQuIpMent 
AnD InVeStMent propertY
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investment properties and property, plant and equipment, excluding land, 
are depreciated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. 
depreciation schedules reflect the assets’ residual value. items of property, 
plant and equipment where material components can be identified with different 
useful lives are depreciated over the individual component’s expected useful life. 

depreciation is calculated over the estimated useful lives: buildings (25–50 
years), plant and machinery (5–20 years), equipment, furniture and similar 
assets (3–10 years). the depreciation method, expected useful life and any 
residual value are reviewed annually.

investment property
Schibsted has one property classified as investment property as at 31.12.2011. 
the property is an unused property reserve in Stavanger with a carrying 
amount of noK 63 million. A valuation from real estate agent was obtained 
as at 30.6.2009 and the fair value as at 31.12.2011 is not expected to deviate 
significantly from the carrying amount.

lease agreements
property, plant and equipment include assets owned under financial lease 
agreements. these assets have a cost of noK 24 million and a carying amount 
of noK 13 million. depreciation amounts to noK 2 million for 2011.

Schibsted has lease obligations related to off-balance sheet operating assets, 
mainly office buildings. rental expenses were noK 384 million in 2011 and 
noK 338 million in 2010. the most significant leases relate to the leases of 
VG’s premises at Akersgata 55 (the agreement expires in 2023), Media norge’s 
premises in Sandakerveien 121 (the agreement expires in 2025), Schibsted 
Sverige’s premises in Västra Järnvägsgatan 21 in Stockholm (the agreement 
expires 2020) and Aftenposten’s premises at biskop Gunnerus gate 14A 
(the agreement expires in 2013). the most significant of the Group’s leases 
contains a right to an extension.

Future minimum payments under non-cancellable operational leases 
where schibsted is the lessee are as follows: 

2011 2010

Within one year 383 365

between one and five years 1,094 963

More than five years 1,383 1,141

noK 29 million is recognised as sub lease payments related to the Group’s 
operating leases in 2011. expected future minimum lease payments for non-
cancellable subleases are noK 57 million as at 31.12.2011.

Schibsted’s rental income related to operating leases for office premises was 
noK 16 million for 2011 and noK 11 million in 2010.

Future minimum payments under non-cancellable operating leases where 
schibsted is the lessor are as follows:

2011 2010

Within one year 16 13

between one and five years 33 40

More than five years 11 2
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share of profit of associated companies and carrying amount of investments  
in associated companies are as follows:

location ownership % share of profit (loss) carrying amount

31.12.2011 2011 2010 2011 2010

Metro nordic Sweden Ab Stockholm 35 29 26 351 344

other 10 10 141 121

total 39 36 492 465

note 13 
InVeStMentS In  
ASSoCIAteD CoMpAnIeS

the development in the carrying amount of investments in associated 
 companies is as follows:

2011 2010

carrying amount 1.1 465 411

Additions 16 7

disposals  -  (2)

Share of profit of associated companies 39 36

dividends received  (25)  (13)

translation differences  - 24

other changes  (3) 2

carrying amount 31.12 492 465

the Group’s share of assets, liabilities, operating revenues and share of 
profit of associated companies are as follows:

2011 2010

Assets  648  647 

liabilities  (156)  (182)

carrying amount  492  465 

operating revenues  497  437 

share of profit (loss)  39  36 
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within a period of one month from 29 September 2012, to sell the shares back 
to Schibsted at a price between noK 26 and 27, adjusted for dividends. these 
shares were from 2009 and until the sale to the strategic media owners in 2011 
included in a trS-agreement under which Schibsted had the financial interest, 
but not the voting power of the shares.

the agreements implies that Schibsted has financial assets and financial liabilities 
representing the rights and obligations Schibsted has towards the counterpart. the 
assets are in the balance sheet included in current financial assets at noK 490 
million (noK 413 million), and the liabilities are included in other current liabilities 
at noK 475 million (noK 485 million), see note 24 other current liabilities.

note 15 
otHer non-Current ASSetS

other non-current assets consist of:

2011 2010

loans to associated companies 1 1

prepaid expenses 17 23

other receivables 195 210

total 213 234

there are no significant differences between the fair value and the carrying 
value of loans to associated companies and other receivables as the interest 
calculation is based on a market rate.

note 16 
InVentorIeS

inventories consist of:

2011 2010

books 54 51

newsprint purchased 54 54

dVds and publication rights 35 34

total 143 139

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value was noK 1 million in 2011 
and noK 1 million in 2010.

inventories carried at fair value less cost of sales were noK 3 million as at 
31.12.2011 and noK 1 million as at 31.12.2010.

note 14 
FInAnCIAl ASSetS

the development in carrying amount of investments categorised as 
 available for sale is as follows:

2011 2010

As at 1.1 575 702

Additions 2 12

disposals  (29)  (12)

changes in fair value
    change recognised in comprehensive 

income  95  (21)

   change recognised in profit or loss  -  (6)

    reclassification adjustment from 
comprehensive income to profit (loss) 
by derecognition  (1)  (108)

translation differences  1  8 

as at 31.12 643 575

of which non-current financial assets 143 149

of which current financial assets 500 426

Financial assets consist of:

2011 2010

shares

    listed Scandinavia  
(Aspiro Ab and polaris Media ASA) 127 109

    listed Scandinavia (Aspiro Ab and polaris 
Media ASA) – trS agreements and 
agreements with continuing financial 
involvement 490 413

   unlisted 16 45

current interest-bearing securities 10 8

total financial assets 643 575

Financial assets comprise shares, including an ownership interest of 7.1 per cent 
in polaris Media ASA and an ownership interest of 18.3 per cent in Aspiro Ab, 
and interest-bearing securities. 

in addition financial instruments that are transferred to new owners but where 
the transfers do not meet the requirements for derecognition as Schibsted has 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership or because Schibsted 
has a continuing financial involvement in the transferred asset, are included.

this relates to a total return Swap (trS) related to 21.3 per cent of the shares 
of Aspiro Ab where the shares in 2009 were sold from Schibsted to new owners. 
through the trS agreement, Schibsted has the financial interest, but not the 
voting power of the shares.

this also relates to agreements related to 36.3 per cent of the shares of 
polaris Media ASA. these shares are in 2011 sold to strategic media owners. 
the strategic media owners have a time-limited right, but not an obligation, 



SchibSted AnnuAl report 2011
notes / Group

130

As at 31.12.2011 trade receivables of noK 480 million were past due but not 
impaired, compared to noK 521 million as at 31.12.2010. these receivables 
relate to a number of independent customers in different locations.

the aging of the past due, not impaired trade receivables, is as follows:

2011 2010

up to 45 days  355  390 

More than 45 days  125  131 

total 480 521

note 18 
CASH AnD CASH eQuIVAlentS

2011 2010

cash and bank 778 650

the carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are denomi-
nated in the following currencies:

2011 2010

noK 88 578

SeK 300  (24)

eur 330 30

eeK  - 47

other 60 19

total 778 650

carrying amount of cash and bank deposits are considered to represent a 
reasonable approximation of fair value. Schibsted has a multi-currency cash pool 
with danske bank in which almost all the nordic subsidiaries are included. the 
cash pool has been established to optimize liquidity management for Schibsted. 

the Group has an overdraft facility under the cash pool system of noK 400 
million. At the end of 2011 this facility was not drawn. 

excess liquidity is mainly placed in the cash pool or in the short-term money 
market. the bank deposits of subsidiaries outside the nordic countries are 
deposited at local banks. 

the deposit and borrowing interest rates in danske bank are based on ibor rates 
for each currency with a subtraction or addition of a margin. the ibor rates are 
fixed daily in the market. A cross-currency netting of margins is established for 
the currencies in the cash pool. 

other bank deposits are credited interests based on the bank’s daily deposit 
rates in each country. 

of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, noK 1 million are considered to be 
restricted as of 31.12.2011. 

note 17 
trADe AnD otHer reCeIVABleS

trade receivables and other receivables consist of:

2011 2010

trade receivables  1,881  1,889 
less provision for impairment of trade 
receivables  (79)  (71)

trade receivables (net)  1,802  1,818 

prepaid expenses and accrued revenue  283  303 

income tax receivables  84  101 

Financial derivatives  11  4 

other receivables  226  278 

total  2,406  2,504 

the carrying amount of trade and other receivables are considered to represent 
a reasonable approximation of fair value.

the maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date for trade and other 
receivables is the carrying value of the receivables. in some group entities credit 
insurance and other agreement are obtained. carrying value of trade receivables 
with security is noK 248 million as at 31.12.2011.

movements in the Group’s provision for impairment of trade receivables are 
as follows:

2011 2010

As at 1.1  (71)  (76)

provision for impairment during the year  (48)  (43)
receivables written off during the year as 
uncollectible  25  30 

unused amounts reversed  14  7 

disposal on sale of group companies  1  9 

translation differences  1  2 

as at 31.12  (79)  (71)

As at 31.12.2011 trade receivables of noK 180 million were impaired. the 
amount of the provision was noK 79 million. As at 31.12.2010 trade receivables 
of noK 81 million were impaired and the provision was noK 71 million. 

the aging of impaired trade receivables is as follows:

2011 2010

not due* 98 17

up to 45 days 18 8

More than 45 days 64 56

total 180 81

* Also includes provisions not individualised
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number of shares 
2011

number of shares 
2010

  outstanding treasury shares issued outstanding treasury shares issued

As at 1.1 103,773,175 4,230,440 108,003,615 103,303,474 4,700,141 108,003,615
increase in treasury 
shares  (1,129,301) 1,129,301 - - - -
decrease in treasury 
shares 4,297,783  (4,297,783) - 469,701  (469,701) -

as at 31.12 106,941,657 1,061,958 108,003,615 103,773,175 4,230,440 108,003,615

note 19 
nuMBer oF SHAreS

the development in share capital and other paid-in capital is set out in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity. the development in the number 
of issued and outstanding shares is as follows:

the Group’s share capital consists of 108,003,615 shares of noK 1 par value. 
no shareholder may own or vote at a shareholders’ meeting for more than 
30% of the shares.

the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting has given the board authorisation to acquire 
treasury shares up to 10,800,361 shares (10%). the authorisation was renewed 
at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 13 May 2011 for a period until the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting in 2012. At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 
11 May 2012 the board will present a resolution to extend the authorisation for 
the board to purchase and dispose of up to 10% of the share capital in Schibsted 
ASA according to the norwegian public limited liability companies act under the 
conditions evident from the notice of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.

in 2011 Schibsted acquired 1,129,301 treasury shares at a total purchase price 
of noK 164 million.

in January 2011, Schibsted used 247,603 treasury shares at noK 171.35 as 
part payment when acquiring shares in Media norge. in connection with the 
merger of Schibsted and Media norge in May 2011, 3,981,184 treasury shares 
at noK 162.10 were transferred to the former minority holders of Media 
norge. in July 2011, Schibsted transferred 32,388 treasury shares at noK 
172.60 to key managers in connection with the performance-based share 
purchase programme. the total value of treasury shares used for the purposes 
above is noK 693 million. 

in november 2011, 36,608 treasury shares at noK 141.70 were sold in 
connection with an offer to employees to purchase shares at a discounted 
price. the total value consideration was noK 5 million.

in August 2010, Schibsted transferred 31,169 treasury shares at noK 126.00 
to key managers in connection with the performance-based share purchase 
programme. in december 2010 Schibsted transferred, as a part payment when 
acquiring shares in Media norge ASA, 242,181 shares at a price of noK 171.35 
per share. the total value of treasury shares used for the purposes above was 
noK 45 million. 

in december 2010, 36,211 treasury shares at noK 153.00 were sold in 
connection with an offer to employees to purchase shares at a discounted 
price. Schibsted sold 160,140 treasury shares in november and december 
2010 to Grouo management in connection with the exercise of options. the 
total value was noK 28 million.

As at 31.12.2011 Schibsted held 1,061,958 treasury shares. the background 
to the purchases is that the board of directors has considered the repurchase 
of shares as advantageous compared to alternative investments and in order 
to optimise the capital structure of the Group. in addition shares are acquired 
in order to be used in connection with the employee share programmes and in 
connection with acquisitions.

during the first quarter of 2012 the company has reduced its number of treasury 
shares by 69,080 in connection with exercised options in the Groups option 
scheme for key personnel. the holding as at 29 March 2012 was  992,878 shares.
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note 20 
DIVIDenDS

At Schibsted’s Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 11 May 2012 a dividend of noK 
3.50 per share will be proposed (total noK 375 million). no provision for this 
dividend has been recognised in the Group’s balance sheet as at 31.12.2011.

in 2011 dividends of noK 3.00 per share were paid (total noK 324 million).

note 21 
penSIon plAnS

Schibsted has occupational pension plans for its employees in norwegian 
companies, mainly with Storebrand livsforsikring AS. these pension plans 
meet the requirements of the Act on Mandatory occupational pensions 
applicable to norwegian companies. Schibsted is entitled to make changes to 
the pension plans. the occupational pension plans are partly established as 
defined benefit plans and partly as defined contribution plans. A significant 
part of the existing funded defined benefit plans are closed.

the terms of the funded defined benefit plans are mainly uniform. the benefits 
are mainly dependent upon number of years of employment, salary level 
at retirement age and the amount of benefits from the national insurance 
pension. the majority of the funded defined benefit plans comprise retirement 
pension for life from 67 years and full retirement pension amounts to 
approximately 66% of the basis (limited to 12G (national insurance basic 
amount)) including assumed pension from the national insurance pension 
(based on calculated national insurance pension). Several of the plans include 
spouse pension, child pension and disability pension.

As at 31.12.2011 the funded defined benefit plans in norway covered 
approximately 2,550 working members and approximately 1,700 retirees. 
estimated contributions in 2012 to the above mentioned funded defined 
benefit plans amount to approximately noK 160 million.

the terms related to annual contributions to the defined contribution plans 
are mainly uniform, and for most companies the contribution amounts to 5% 
of salaries within the interval from 1G to 6G and 8% in the interval from 6G to 
12G. the plans include disability pension.

in addition to the pension obligations that arises from the funded defined 
benefit plans, the Group’s norwegian companies have unfunded defined 
benefit obligations related to disability pensions (if not covered by other 
pension plans or insurances), supplementary pensions for salaries above 12G, 
Agreement-based pension (AFp) and early retirement pensions.

A new law regarding Agreement-based pension (AFp) in norway was approved 
on 19 February 2010. Schibsted accounted for the old AFp-plan as a defined 
benefit plan. the new AFp-plan is a defined benefit multi-employer plan, 
but as sufficient information is not available, it is accounted for as if it was a 
defined contribution plan. in 2010, a gain of noK 27 million was recognised 

in other revenues and expenses related to curtailment and settlement of 
obligations recognised related to the old AFp-plan in relation to employees 
being comprised by the new AFp-plan.

Some norwegian subsidiaries made certain amendments to their pension 
plans in 2011. the amendments comprise change from unfunded defined 
benefit plans to insurance of disability benefits as well as other changes in 
benefits in existing plans. A gain of noK 99 million related to these changes 
is recognised in other revenues and expenses (see note 8 other revenues and 
expenses). A significant share of the restructuring costs related to operating 
segment Media houses Scandinavia (see note 8 other revenues and expenses) 
is related to pensions and is included in past service cost in the specification of 
net benefit expense below.

the Group’s companies outside norway have pension plans in accordance with 
local practice and local legislation. A significant part of the Group’s pension 
schemes in Sweden is established in multi-employer plans. these multi-
employer plans are defined benefit plans, but the Group does not have access 
to the necessary information for the accounting years 2011 and 2010 required 
to account for these plans as benefit plans, and the plans are therefore 
accounted for as defined contribution plans.

Approximately 40% in 2011 and approximately 25% in 2010 of the 
expenses reported in benefit expense defined contribution plans relate to 
multi-employer defined benefit plans which are accounted for as defined 
contribution plans in accordance with iAS 19.30 (new AFp-plan in norway and 
plans in Sweden).

the amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:

2011 2010

current service cost 170 167

interest cost 161 177

expected return on plan assets  (140)  (151)

Actuarial gains or losses recognised  (9) 7

past service cost 152 17

the effect of curtailment or settlement  (147)  (27)

net benefit expense defined benefit 
plans 187 190

benefit expense defined contribution plans 162 140

net benefit expense 349 330
of which included in personnel expenses 
(note 27) 341 351
of which included in other revenues  
and expenses 8  (21)
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the amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

2011 2010

present value of funded defined benefit 
obligations 3,755 3,319

Fair value of plan assets  (2,926)  (2,835)

present value (net of plan assets) of 
funded defined benefit obligations 829  484 
present value of unfunded defined bene-
fit obligations 862 812

unrecognised actuarial gains or losses  (236) 203

net defined benefit obligation 1,455 1,499
Social security tax included in present 
value of defined benefit obligations 209 160

changes in present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows: 
      

2011 2010

present value of defined benefit 
 obligations as at 1.1 4,131 4,072

current service cost 170 167

interest cost 161 177

Actuarial gains or losses 424  (13)

benefits paid  (170)  (194)

past service cost 152 17

Acquisition and disposal of operations  -  (68)

curtailments and settlement  (251)  (27)

present value of defined benefit 
 obligations as at 31.12 4,617 4,131

changes in fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2011 2010

Fair value of plan assets as at 1.1 2,835  2,798 

expected return on plan assets 140  151 

Actuarial gains or losses  (31)  (109)

contributions by employer 135  130 

benefits paid  (95)  (88)

Acquisition and disposal of operations  -  (47)

curtailments and settlement  (58)  - 

Fair value of plan assets as at 31.12 2,926  2,835 

amounts of defined benefit obligations, plan assets, deficit and 
 experience adjustments are as follows:

2011 2010 2009 2008

present value of defined benefit 
obligations as at 31.12 4,617 4,131 4,072 3,108

Fair value of plan assets as at 31.12 2,926 2,835 2,798 2,007

Deficit / (surplus) 1,691 1,296 1,274 1,101
experience adjustments defined 
benefit obligations 66  (165)  (282) 110
experience adjustments plan 
assets 31 109  102  (87)

experience adjustments are the effects of differences between previous 
actuarial assumptions and what has actually occured.

the principal assumptions presented below are used in calculating net 
benefit expense and the net benefit obligation for the Group’s defined 
benefit plans: 

Benefit expense pension obligation

2011 2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

discount rate 4.00% 4.50% 3.00% 4.00%

expected return on plan assets 5.25% 5.70% - -

expected salary increases 4.00% 4.25% 4.00% 4.00%
expected adjustment national 
insurance basic amount 3.75% 4.00% 3.75% 3.75%

expected pension increases 1.25% 1.50% 0.40% 1.25%
demographic assumption morta-
lity rate K2005 K2005 K2005 K2005

the assumption regarding expected pension increases is used for pensions 
being increased in accordance with the Act on company pensions. For pension 
agreements containing specific clauses on increases in pension, those clauses 
are applied.

the Group’s plan assets as at 31.12 consist of:

2011 2010

Shares 19% 21%

Short-term bonds 33% 34%

Money market investments 2% 9%

real estate 16% 16%

long-term bonds 7% 6%

credit 20% 8%

other 3% 6%

total 100% 100%

the actual return on plan assets (value-adjusted return in relevant portfolio 
of assets) was approximately 3.0 per cent in 2011 and approximately 6.4 per 
cent in 2010. 
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the loan facility that was entered into in August 2010 is a multi-currency loan 
facility totalling eur 500 million, and the lenders consists of seven nordic 
and international banks. the facility has two tranches, where eur 175 million 
matures in 2013 and eur 325 million matures in 2015. the facility was drawn 
with totally eur 78 million as of year-end 2011. the facility has interest 
terms based on euribor plus a margin. Schibsted must pay a commitment fee 
to maintain the facility’s availability. the commitment fee is calculated as a 
percentage of the loan margin, on the un-drawn part of the facility.

the Group has two bank loans of eur 25 million each. these loans were 
entered into in January 2011 and expires in January 2014 and January 2016. 
there are no installments before maturity date.

Schibsted ASA issued two unsecured bonds in the norwegian bond market at a 
total of noK 700 million in december 2010. the first loan, iSin no001059325.4, 
amounts to noK 300 million, reaches maturity in december 2013 and carries 
an interest of 3 months nibor plus 150 basis points. the second loan, iSin 
no001059326.2, amounts to noK 400 million, reaches maturity in december 
2015 and carries an interest of 3 months nibor plus 205 basis points.

the Group has issued loans in the norwegian commercial paper Market since 
March 2007. At the end of 2011 outstanding loans amounted to noK 450 million.

other loans consist mainly of loans from non-controlling interests of some 
subsidiaries. 

Schibsted’s loan agreements contain financial covenants regarding the ratio of 
net interest-bearing borrowings (nibd) to Gross operating profit (ebitdA). the 
reported ratio was well within the financial covenants as at 31.12.2011. See note 
9 Financial risk management – liquidity risk.

the Group has provided guarantees of noK 107 million. Mortgage debt is 
noK 85 million, which is Schibsted’s share of mortgage debt in joint ventures. 
carrying amount of assets pledged as security is noK 85 million.

Schibsted has available long-term credit facilities totalling approximately noK 
3.3 billion through the unutilised drawing right on the loan facility of eur 500 
million. in addition, Schibsted has short-term credit facilities of noK 400 million 
in the form of unutilised overdraft limits through the Group’s cash pool with 
danske bank, see note 18 cash and cash equivalents.

note 22 
IntereSt-BeArInG BorroWInGS

the Group has the following composition and maturity structure on its 
interest-bearing borrowings:

current non-current

2011 2010 2011 2010

commercial paper issues 450 250 - -

bond issues -  - 700 700

bank loans 50 316 1,199 1,175

Financial lease agreements 2 2 8 10

other loans 21 4 - 21

total 523 572 1,907 1,906

Maturity within 3 months 250 253 - -
Maturity between 3 months and 
1 year 273 319 - -

Maturity between 1 and 2 years - - 964 56

Maturity between 2 and 5 years - - 876 1,287

Maturity beyond 5 years - - 67 563

total 523 572 1,907 1,906

Almost all of the Group’s long term interest-bearing debt is at floating 
interest rates. For information on interest rate risk, see note 9 Financial risk 
management. the interest rate periods relating to the Group’s borrowings are 
between 1 and 6 months.

Schibsted refinanced the Group’s loan facilities in August 2010, issued bonds 
in december 2010 and received new bank loans in January 2011. the current 
terms of the Group’s interest- bearing borrowings as of 31.12.2011 has been 
reviewed and compared to the market pricing at year’s end, and the carrying 
value is considered to represent a reasonable approximation to fair value.

carrying amount in noK million of interest-bearing borrowing breaks down 
as follows by currency:

2011 2010

noK 1,053 1,178

SeK 521 327

eur 856 973

total 2,430 2,478

the Group has a eur bank loan of eur 7 million. the loan, from 2004, follows 
a repayment schedule with installments twice a year and final maturity in 2014. 
the interest terms on the loan is six month euribor with the addition of a margin.  

the Group has a bank loan of noK 202 million. the loan has a term of 12 years 
from 2007 and the interest terms are six month nibor with the addition of a 
margin. the loan has a repayment schedule with installments twice a year. the 
first installment is in 2012.
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note 25 
FInAnCIAl lIABIlItIeS relAteD 
to non-ControllInG IntereStS’ 
put optIonS

Development in financial liabilities recognised related to non-controlling 
interests’ put options is as follows:

2011 2010

As at 1.1 593 291

Additions 177 177

Settlement - (67)

disposals (16) -

change in fair value (9) 195

interest expenses 20 15

translation differences (3) (18)

as at 31.12 762 593

of which non-current (note 23) 218 124

of which current (note 24) 544 469

When non-controlling interests have put options related to shares in subsidiaries 
and Schibsted is recquired to acquire such shares, a financial liability is recognised.

the liabilities are measured at fair value which is based on the best estimate 
of future considerations. the estimates takes into account the principles for 
determination of the consideration in the existing agreements. the estimates 
take further into account, when relevant, management’s expectations regarding 
future economic development used in determining recoverable amount in 
impairment tests.

the liability is initially recognised directly in equity. change in fair value of the 
liability, except for interest expenses, is also recognised directly in equity.

liabilities recognised are related to non-controlling interests’ shareholdings 
in Schibsted espana S.l., infoJobs S.A., Flytteportalen AS, done deal ltd and 
Sibmedia interactive S.r.l. within the operating segment online classifieds, and 
lendo Ab, Mini Media Sweden Ab, prisjakt Sverige Ab, ServiceFinder Sverige Ab 
and duplo Media AS within operating segment Media houses Scandinavia.

of the non-current share of the liability as at 31.12.2011, noK 108 million is 
related to options exercisable in 2013, noK 97 million is related to options 
exercisable in 2014 -16 and noK 13 million is related to options exercisable  
in 2017.

note 23 
otHer non-Current lIABIlItIeS
other non-current liabilities consist of:

2011 2010

Financial liabilities related to non-control-
ling interests' put options (note 25) 218 124

provision for other obligations 13 49
contingent considerations business 
combinations 74 72

other long-term employment benefits 15 6

deferred revenue recognition 7 15

other non-current liabilities 12 11

total other non-current liabilities 339 277

Some business combination agreements include contingent consideration 
requirements based on future events, usually financial development. the 
estimated future consideration is recognised as liabilities. As at 31.12.2011 the 
total liability of noK 74 million relates to the business combination involving 
ScM France SAS, see note 5 business combinations.

note 24 
otHer Current lIABIlItIeS
other current liabilities consist of:

2011 2010

Financial liabilities related to non-control-
ling interests' put options (note 25) 544 469
Financial liabilities related to trS agre-
ements and agreements with continuing 
financial involvement (note 14) 475 485
contingent considerations business 
combinations 3 -

trade payables 652 802

prepaid revenues 737 637

public duties payable 518 466

Accrued salaries and wages 595 590

Accrued expenses 328 332

Financial derivatives (note 10) 4 4

provision for restructuring costs 112 70

other 259 262

total other current liabilities 4,227 4,117

the Group has no other significant liabilities with an uncertain payment date.

provision for restructruing costs as at 31.12.2011 is pertaining to accrued 
restructuring cost in the Scandinavian companies.
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note 26 
rAW MAterIAlS AnD  
FInISHeD GooDS

raw materials and finished goods consist of:

2011 2010

newsprint, raw materials and purchased 
goods 1,032 1,001 

tV / Film production expenses 131 192 

changes in inventories  (4)  (1)

total 1,159 1,192 

note 27 
perSonnel eXpenSeS AnD 
SHAre-BASeD pAYMent

personnel expenses consist of:

2011 2010

Salaries and wages 3,681 3,497

Social security costs 782 730

net pension expense (note 21) 341 351

Share-based payment 25 18

other personnel expenses 131 115

total 4,960 4,711

number of man-years 7,839 7,643

Details of salary, variable pay and other benefits provided to group  
management in 2011 (in noK 1,000): 

name:
salary incl. holiday 

pay
Variable pay (paid 

2011) lti  programme other benefits pension cost loan outstanding

rolv erik ryssdal 3,048 1,300 996 217 2,486 -

trond berger 2,427 1,020 657 197 1,678 800

camilla Jarlsby 1,634 450 450 124 653 398

Sverre Munck 2,447 906 657 195 1,953 370

terje Seljeseth 2,120 950 579 229 2,243 400

Gunnar Strömblad 2,332 1,328 572 17 2,638 -

raoul Grünthal 2,784 776 608 29 771 -

didrik Munch 2,594 1,217 600 157 1,727 -

loans to group management have no installments, and the interest rate is  
1 per cent lower than the government set benchmark interest rate.
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have different pension schemes within the limit of benefits to the norwegian 
executive directors. the executive directors based in Sweden has a defined benefit 
pension insurance on level with the norwegian executive directors.

Details of salary, variable pay and other benefits provided to group 
 management in 2010 (in noK 1,000):

name:
salary incl. holiday 

pay
Variable pay (paid 

2010) lti  programme other benefits pension cost loan outstanding

rolv erik ryssdal 2,991 663 920 218 2,579 800

trond berger 2,397 553 609 486 1,824 800

camilla Jarlsby 1,578 121 399 134 369 400

Sverre Munck 2,577 553 609 197 1,715 370

terje Seljeseth 1,961 225 538 234 1,702 400

torry pedersen 2,029 338 509 168 1,079 800

Gunnar Strömblad 2,899 738 716 131 2,829 -

cathrine Foss Stene 3,112 461 - 145 812 -

loans to group management have no installments, and the interest rate is 
1 per cent lower than the government set benchmark interest rate.

cathrine Foss Stene resigned from her position as manager at 16 April 2010. 
her employment at Schibsted ended at 30 September 2010. termination 
payment period is 12 months from that date and was paid in 2010.

Variable pay
Schibsted’s ceo and other executive management participate in an annual 
variable pay programme that is linked to annual achievements of targets. 
the targets are twofold and related to financial and non-financial targets. 
the criteria are part of a total evaluation. For the ceo the variable pay is 
limited to a maximum of six months’ salary. For other executive management, 
the variable portion of salary varies from a maximum of four to six months’ 
salary. the ceo and other executive directors participate also in Schibsted’s 
three-year performance based share programme (lti), linked to the three-year 
performance criteria. 

termination payment schemes
the ceo have termination payment equal to eighteen months salary in 
addition to the six-month period of notice. the other Group management 
and managers are normally entitled to termination payments equal to 
6–18 months’ salary, depending on the level of their position. competition 
restrictions and curtailments will normally apply during the termination-pay 
period. the chairman of the board has no special remuneration scheme that 
applies if he resigns. 

pension schemes
the Group’s ceo is entitled and, if Schibsted so requires, obliged to retire 
at the age of 62. his full annual early retirement pension is 66% of his 
pensionable earnings. the retirement pension solution means that, when he 
reaches 67 years of age, the ceo will receive a retirement pension for life 
which equals 66% of his fixed salary. he is entitled to a disability pension of 
66% of his fixed salary. the spouse/cohabitant pension is 50% of his fixed 
salary and the child pension is 15% of his fixed salary.

the norwegian executive directors are entitled and, if Schibsted so requires, 
obliged to retire at the age of 62. during the period leading up to the ordinary 
retirement age (67 years), they will receive a pension that is 66% of their fixed 
salary. Full annual retirement/disability pension for the norwegian executive 
directors is 66% of their fixed salary. other members of the group management 
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Details of remuneration to the Board of Directors in 2011 (in noK 1,000):

Board 
 remuneration*

commitee 
 remuneration

Board remunera-
tion from other 

group companies
salary incl. 
 holiday pay other benefits pension cost

total 
 remuneration  

members of the Board and committees:

ole Jacob Sunde, chairman of the board 
and the compensation committee 700 70 - - 8 - 778 
Karl-christian Agerup, member of the 
board and the Audit committee 300 65 80 - - - 445 
Monica caneman, member of the board 
and chairman of the Audit committee 350 107 80 - - - 537 
Marie ehrling, member of the board and 
the compensation committee 342 41 - - - - 383 
christian ringnes, member of the board 
and the Audit committee 300 65 - - - - 365 

eva berneke, member of the board 334 - - - - - 334

Anne-lise Mørch von der Fehr, employee 
representative on the board and member 
of the compensation committee ** 300 41 - 813 70 93 1,317 

Gunnar Kagge, employee representative 
on the board ** 300 - - 640 9 258 1,207 

Frank Johan Johansen, deputy employee 
representative on the board ** - - 80 531 6 233 850 

Arve Jakobsen, deputy employee 
 representative on the board ** - - - 482 13 35 530 

hege lyngved odinsen, deputy employee 
representative on the board ** - - - 697 70 55 822 

Øystein Simensen, deputy employee 
representative on the board ** - - - 837 - 96 933 
John A. rein, chairman of the election 
committee - 96 - - - - 96
Gunn Wærsted, member of the election 
committee - 66 - - - - 66 
nils bastiansen, member of the election 
committee - 66 - - - - 66 

total 2,926 617 240 4,000 176 770 8,729 

* board remunerations include compensation for travelling hours to directors who do not live in oslo. 

** For employee representatives total remuneration includes salary and other benefits in their ordinary position.

auditor
Fees to the Group’s auditors for the fiscal year 2011 were as follows:

(noK 1,000 excl. Vat)
audit 

 services

other 
 attestation 

 services

tax 
 advisory 
 services

other 
 non-audit 
 services total

schibsted group

ernst & Young 9,166 425 952 5,182 15,725

other auditors 1,078 272 1,398 980 3,728

total 10,244 697 2,350 6,162 19,453

schibsted asa

ernst & Young 790  - 40  1,730 2,560



SchibSted AnnuAl report 2011
notes / Group

139

options outstanding for managers included in the option programme is 
presented below:

opening 
 balance
1.1.2011

expired and 
forfeited 

during 2011
closing balance

31.12.2011
average 
maturity

rolv erik ryssdal  45,000  (7,500)  37,500 2.5

Gunnar Strömblad  45,000  (15,000)  30,000 2.1

trond berger  45,000  (15,000)  30,000 2.1

Sverre Munck  45,000  (15,000)  30,000 2.1

camilla Jarlsby  7,500  -  7,500 2.8

raoul Grünthal  22,500  (7,500)  15,000 2.1

others  192,500  (67,500)  125,000 

total  402,500  (127,500)  275,000 

long-term incentive programme (lti programme)
in 2010, Schibsted introduced an annual rolling three-year performance-
based share programme (lti programme) for key managers in the Group. 
the scheme includes a total of 43 participants in the 2010 programme and 
58 participants in the 2011 programme. the participants are from norway, 
Sweden, estonia and Spain.

the lti programme is divided into three participating levels. level 1 is for the 
ceo, level 2 for members of Group Management and level 3 for key personnel 
in the Group, and the managers / management teams in key subsidiaries. For 
each level, participants is given a defined «basic Amount» which is calculated 
as a percentage of salary.

1/3 of the basic amount (the «Share Amount») is awarded at start in form 
of shares in Schibsted which can not be sold during the three year period. if 
a participant at level 1 or 2 leaves during the three years, the Share Amount 
shall be refunded. A similar restriction does not apply to participants in level 3.

the rest, 2/3 of the basic amount («performance Amount»), is linked to three-
year performance criteria. performance criteria are performance measures that 
are compared to the three-year ebitA for the Group or participant’s operations. 
At the end of the three-year period, the participants receive Schibsted shares 
based on achievement of the criteria, and the number of shares is calculated 
using the average price over the three-year period. Actual payout after three 
years will depend on the degree of achievement of the criteria in the period.  
if the minimum performance hurdle is not reached over the three years period, 
only the Share Amount will be paid at the end of the three-year program.

upon payment of the Share Amount and performance Amount, Schibsted 
is responsible for tax deduction on behalf of the participant so that only the 
net amount after tax is paid in Schibsted shares. the programme is therefore 
treated partly as a share-based payment transactions settled in cash (tax) and 
partly as share-based payment transactions settled in equity (net payment 
in form of shares). the expense related to the portion that is recognised as a 
share-based payment transaction settled in equity are recognised in equity, 
while the expense related to the portion that is treated as a share-based 
payment transaction settled in cash are recognised as a liability.

the expense and the increase in equity or liability are recognised over the 
vesting period of 3 years for the parts of the total compensation that actually 

share-based payment (included in personnel expenses) consists of:

2011 2010

expense option programme 2 3

expense lti programme 23 15

total 25 18

of which recognised in equity  
(equity settled) 14 10

of which recognised as liability  
(cash settled) 11 8

option programme
Schibsted had until 2010 an option programme for group management and key 
personnel. the programme was terminated in 2010 by the introduction of a 
new share-based programme (lti programme), but the individual outstanding 
option schemes are still valid. the programme is accounted for as a share-based 
payment transaction settled in equity. expenses and increase in equity are 
recognised over the service period of 3 years.

the development in the number of options outstanding has been as follows:

2011 2010

outstanding 1.1  402,500  582,500 

exercised  -  (127,500)

expired and forfeited  (127,500)  (52,500)

outstanding 31.12  275,000  402,500 

of which fully vested  132,500  127,500 

outstanding options as at 31.12.2011 have the following terms:

expiry date exercise price (noK) number of options

24 June 2013  132.70 132,500

7 october 2014  51.00 142,500

the maximum gain per share that a manager can achieve when exercising  
the options is equal to 1.460375 multiplied with the exercise price per share.

the 2010 Annual General Meeting of Schibsted approved changes of the 
terms of the Group’s option scheme to adjust for the effect of the rights 
issue that was carried out in July 2009. Adjustment of the number of shares 
per option and exercise price was made in accordance with the oslo Stock 
exchange’s derivatives regulations, so that the value of the options is 
maintained after the share issue.

After the adjustment, each option entails the right to acquire 1.256 shares. 
exercise price is adjusted by a factor of 0.797065. the same is the case for  
the maximum share price. other terms of the option scheme are unchanged.

no options were exercised during 2011. total exercise price for options exercised 
in 2010 was noK 22.9 million. the fair value of the shares at the time of exercise 
was noK 25.6 million. 
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note 28 
otHer operAtInG eXpenSeS

other operating expenses consist of:

2011 2010

distribution 1,281 1,294 

commissions 942 957 
rent, maintenance, office expenses and 
energy 621 580 

pr, advertising and campaigns 1,051 845 

printing contracts 416 442 

editorial material 357 332 

professional fees 617 494 

travelling expenses 228 209 

other operating expenses 600 549 

total 6,113 5,702 

note 29 
FInAnCIAl IteMS

Financial income and financial expenses consist of:

2011 2010

interest income  32  29 

net foreign exchange gain  -  17 
Gain on sale of financial assets  
available for sale  16  109 

dividends received  32  22 

other financial income  2  3 

total financial income  82  180 

interest expenses  (156)  (134)

net foreign exchange loss  (11)  - 
impairment loss financial assets 
 available for sale  -  (6)

impairment loss loans and receivables  -  (2)

other financial expenses  (23)  (49)

total financial expenses  (190)  (191)

contains a service condition throughout the three-year period. this applies to 
the performance Amount and the part of Share Amount for level 1 and 2 that 
is recognised as a share-based payment transactions settled in equity. the 
remaining expense and increase in equity or liability is recognised immediately 
upon the start of the programme.

performance Amounts will vary based on the degree of achievement of certain 
performance targets. expenses to be recognised over the vesting period are 
estimated at the end of each reporting period based on the estimated fair value 
of the liability for transactions that are settled in cash and based on the number 
of equity instruments that is expected to vest for transactions settled in equity.

estimated total expense of the lti programme’s maturity (3 years):

2011 
 programme

2010 
 programme

Value Share Amount at grant date 11 8

Value performance Amount at grant date 22 18

Adjustment to performance Amount - 6

estimated total expense over the pro-
gramme's maturity 33 32

2011 
 programme

2010 
 programme total

recognised in personnel expense 
in 2010 - 15 15
recognised in personnel expense 
in 2011 15 8 23
to be recognised over the 
 remaining vesting period 18 9 27

in case a minimum performance target is reached, the estimated total expense 
for performance Amount can vary by 50 per cent compared to value at grant 
date. if the minmum performance target is not met, the performance Amount 
will be noK 0.

assumptions used for calculating the value of lti programme:

2011 2010

dividends  3.25  3.06 

closing price used for bonus shares 
granted 30.6  172.60  126.00 

Average price 1.1–31.12  148.98  144.01 

closing price 31.12  148.90  172.00 

risk-free interest rate 2.51% 3.52%

Model  Monte carlo  Monte carlo 

share programme
employees in the Group are given the opportunity each year to buy shares for 
noK 7,500 at a 20 per cent discount.
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the Group’s calculation of the effective tax rate is presented below: 

2011 2010

profit (loss) before taxes 1,331 3,399 
estimated tax charge based on nominal 
tax rate in norway 373 952
tax effect share of profit of associated 
companies (11) (10)

tax effect impairment loss goodwill 34 21
tax effect gain from remeasurement of 
previously held equity interest in business 
combination achieved in stages - (412)

tax effect other permanent differences 14 (98)
change in unrecognised deferred tax 
assets 95 8

effect of tax rate differential abroad 2 7
effect of adjustments recognised related 
to prior periods  (8)  - 

taxes recognised in profit or loss 499 468 

permanent differences include, in addition to non-deductible operating 
expenses, tax-free dividends and gains on sale of shares as well as non-
deductible impairment losses related to shares. Such gains are included in 
other revenues and expenses with regard to gains on the sale of subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associated companies and in Financial income with regard 
to gains on the sale of shares categorised as Shares available for sale. 
impairment losses related to shares are included in Financial expenses.

the Group’s net deferred tax liabilities (assets) are made up as follows:

2011 2010

current items  (13)  (20)

pension liabilities  (385)  (397)

other non-current items  1,194  1,104 

unused tax losses  (442)  (408)

calculated net deferred tax liabilities 
(assets) 354 279

unrecognised deferred tax assets 386 376

net deferred tax liabilities (assets) 
recognised 740 655

of which deferred tax liabilities 798 757

of which deferred tax assets  (58)  (102)

the Group’s unused tax losses are mainly related to operations in norway, 
Sweden, France, Spain and italy as well as other countries in which Schibsted 
classified Media has established online classified operations. the majority of 
the tax losses can be carried forward for an unlimited period. Approximately 
20 per cent of the unused tax losses expire in the period up and until 2020. 

net foreign exchange gain (loss) consist of:

2011 2010

net foreign exchange gain (loss) on 
receivables and borrowings  (9)  5 
net fair value gain (loss) on forward 
contracts through profit or loss  (2)  12 

net foreign exchange gain (loss)  (11)  17 

in 2010 Gain on sale of financial assets available for sale mainly related to 
sale of shares in point carbon.

Schibsted hedges its currency exposure in SeK and eur by using loans and 
derivatives, see note 9 Financial risk management. As a result of this, foreign 
exchange gain (loss) effects in the income statement will normally be limited. net 
foreign exchange loss in 2011 and net foreign exchange gain in 2010 are primarily 
related to currency effects in the Group’s businesses outside the eurozone.

Financial income and expenses include the following amounts of interest 
income and interest expenses related to financial assets and liabilities that are 
not included in the category financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss:

2011 2010

interest income 31 27

interest expenses  (156)  (134)

note 30 
tAXeS

the Group’s income tax charge comprises the following:

2011 2010

current income taxes 420 349

deferred income taxes 81 118

taxes (including taxes recognised in 
comprehensive income) 501 467

of which recognised in profit or loss 499 468
of which recognised in comprehensive 
income 2 (1)

the Group’s effective tax rate differs from the nominal tax rate in countries 
where the Group has operations. 
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2011 2010

profit (loss) attributable to owners of  
the parent  742  2,794 
Average number of shares outstanding 
(diluted)  106,154,342  103,441,680 

diluted earnings per share (noK)  6.99  27.01 

earnings per share – adjusted is calculated as profit (loss) attributable to 
owners of the parent adjusted for items reported in the income statement  
as other revenues and expenses and impairment loss, adjusted for taxes and 
non-controlling interests. the number of shares included in the calculation is 
the same as the number for earnings per share and diluted earnings per share, 
as described above.

2011 2010

profit (loss) attributable to owners of the 
parent  742  2,794 

other revenues and expenses  50  (1,909)

impairment loss  191  110 
tax and non-controlling effect of other 
 revenues and expenses and impairment loss  (54)  10 

profit (loss) attributable to owners of 
the parent – adjusted  929  1,005 

Average number of shares outstanding  106,020,714  103,337,507 

earnings per share – adjusted (noK)  8.76  9.72 
Average number of shares outstanding 
(diluted)  106,154,342  103,441,680 

diluted earnings per share – adjusted (noK)  8.75  9.71 

the development in the recognised net deferred tax liabilities (assets) is 
as follows:

2011 2010

As at 1.1 655 318

change included in tax charge 81 118
change from purchase and sale of 
subsidiaries 8 241

translation differences  (4)  (22)

as at 31.12 740 655

deferred tax assets are recognised when it is likely that the benefit can be 
realised through expected future taxable profits. the Group’s deferred tax assets 
recognised are mainly related to operations in norway and Spain. the Group’s 
unrecognised deferred tax assets are mainly related to operations abroad where 
the utilisation must be against the operation’s own future taxable profits.

deferred tax liabilities and assets are offset for liabilities and assets in 
companies which are included in local tax groups. 

note 31 
eArnInGS per SHAre

average number of shares outstanding (diluted) is calculated as follows:

2011 2010

Average number of shares outstanding  106,020,714  103,337,507 
Adjustment for dilutive effect shares 
outstanding  133,628  104,173 

average number of shares  outstanding 
(diluted)  106,154,342  103,441,680 

the dilutive effect is calculated as the difference between the number of shares 
which can be acquired on exercise of outstanding options and the number of 
shares which could be acquired at fair value (calculated as the average price of 
the Schibsted share in the period) for the consideration which is to be paid for 
the shares which can be acquired based on outstanding options.

earnings per share is calculated as profit (loss) attributable to owners of the 
parent divided by the average number of shares outstanding. 
 

2011 2010

profit (loss) attributable to owners of  
the parent  742  2,794 

Average number of shares outstanding  106,020,714  103,337,507 

earnings per share (noK)  7.00  27.04 

diluted earnings per share is calculated as profit (loss) attributable to owners of 
the parent divided by the average number of shares outstanding, adjusted for the 
dilutive effect of all potential shares. 
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note 32 
JoInt VentureS

significant operations reported as joint ventures are specified below:
 

ownership 

company 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 location operating segments Business

romerike Mediadistribusjon AS 34% 34% Kjeller Media houses Scandinavia distribution

20 Minutes France S.A.S 50% 50% paris Media houses international Free newspapers

AS Ajakirjade Kirjastus 50% 50% tallinn Media houses international Magazines

AS Sl Õhtuleht 50% 50% tallinn Media houses international newspapers

express post AS 50% 50% tallinn Media houses international distribution

701 Search pte. ltd. 50% 50% Singapore online classifieds classifieds on the internet 

Willhaben internet Service Gmbh 50% 50% Vienna online classifieds classifieds on the internet 

these amounts are included in the Group’s income statement and balance  
sheet from joint ventures subject to using proportionate consolidation:      

2011 2010

operating revenues  429  675 

operating expenses  (463)  (559)

Gross operating profit (loss)  (34)  116 

profit (loss) before taxes  (46)  89 

non-current assets  49  52 

current assets  240  198 

total assets  289  250 

non-current liabilities  40  40 

current liabilities  150  146 

total liabilities  190  186 

net assets  99  64 

in 2010 Willhaben acquired 100 per cent of the shares in the Austrian car portal  
car4You Gmbh.

in november 2010 Schibsted implemented a total agreement with Spir  
communications where Schibsted acquired 50 per cent of the shares of ScM  
France SAS and sold 50 per cent of the shares of car & boat Media. After  
the implementation of the agreement ScM France SAS is a 100 per cent owned  
subsidiary in Schibsted.
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the liquidity effect of sales consists of:

2011 2010

cash in sold companies  12  36 

carrying amount other current assets  19  46 

carrying amount non-current assets  3  815 

aggregate carrying amount assets  34  897 

equity and liabilities transferred  (18)  (145)

Gain (loss)  5  478 

Gross sales price  21  1,230 

cash in sold companies  (12)  (36)
Sales price settled in other than cash  
and cash equivalents  (10)  - 

proceeds from sale of subsidiaries, 
net of cash sold  (1)  1,194 

note 34 
trAnSACtIonS WItH  
relAteD pArtIeS

For remuneration to management, see note 27 personnel expenses and share-
based payment.

For loans to associated companies and joint ventures, see note 15 other non-
current assets.

christian ringnes, member of the board, controls the company from which 
Schibsted’s subsidiary eesti Meedia hires offices in tallinn. in 2011, income 
from the office rental amounts to noK 7 million.

note 33 
SuppleMentAl InForMAtIon  
to tHe ConSolIDAteD 
 StAteMent oF CASH FloWS  

interest and dividends included in the consolidated statement of cash 
flows are as follows:   

2011 2010

in cash flow from operating activities:

interest paid  (132)  (144)

interest received  32  29 

dividends received  42  35 

in cash flow from financing activities:

dividends paid to owners of the parent  (324)  (155)
dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests  (61)  (201)

Schibsted’s consolidated statement of cash flows presents net payments and 
receipts on the acquisition and sale of subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures.

the liquidity effect of acquisitions consists of: 

2011 2010

cash in acquired companies  23  97 

Acquisition cost other current assets  14  38 

Acquisition cost non-current assets  189  3,533 

aggregate acquisition cost assets  226  3,668 

equity and liabilities assumed  (75)  (439)

Gross purchase price  151  3,229 
Gain from remeasurement of previously 
held equity interest in business combina-
tion achieved in stages  -  (1,518)

cash in acquired companies  (23)  (97)
purchase price settled in other than cash 
and cash equivalents  (20)  - 

acquisition of subsidiaries and joint 
ventures, net of cash acquired  108  1,614 
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note 35 
SuBSIDIArIeS

the following subsidiaries were directly and indirectly owned as at 31.12.:

location 2011 2010

media Houses scandinavia

Media norge AS (previously Media norge ASA) ** bergen 100.00% 82.31%

Aftenbladet distribusjon AS Sandnes 100.00% 82.31%

Aftenbladet eiendom AS Stavanger 100.00% 82.31%

Aftenbladet trykk AS Sandnes 100.00% 82.31%

Aftenposten AS oslo 100.00% 82.31%

Aftenposten distribusjon AS oslo 100.00% 82.31%

AS Farsund Aktiebogtrykkeri Farsund 86.20% 70.95%

Askøyværingen AS Askøy 100.00% 82.31%

Avisprodukter AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

bergens ringen dA bergen 100.00% 82.31%

bergens tidende AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

bergensopplevelser AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

bt respons AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

bt trykk AS Godvik 100.00% 82.31%

btV AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

bygdanytt AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

din Mat AS Stavanger 83.90% 69.06%

distribution innovation AS oslo 60.00% 49.39%

duplo Media AS oslo 70.00% -

Fanaposten AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

Forlaget Strilen AS lindås 100.00% 82.31%

FV trykk AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%

Fædrelandsvennen AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%

Fædrelandsvennen distribusjon AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%

Kristiansand Avis AS Kristiansand 49.00% 40.33%

let's deal AS oslo 48.94% -

lindesnes AS Mandal 100.00% 82.31%

lokalavisene AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

Media AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%

Media norge trykk AS oslo 100.00% 82.31%

Media norge trykk oslo AS oslo 100.00% 89.39%

Mediatrykk AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

radio lindesnes AS lindesnes 41.67% 34.30%

radio Sør AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%

Schibsted Vekst AS oslo 95.95% 90.65%

Schibsted tech polska sp z.o.o Krakow 100.00% -

Stavanger Aftenblad AS Stavanger 100.00% 82.31%

Strandgaten og eilertsbakken eiendomsselskap AS Farsund 86.20% -

Søgne og Songdalen budstikke AS Søgne 57.62% 47.43%

Sør distribusjon AS Mandal 95.45% 78.56%

Sørlandspakken Vest AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%
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Sørlandssamkjøringen AS Mandal 62.00% 51.04%

tV Sør AS Kristiansand 100.00% 82.31%

Vestnytt AS Fjell 100.00% 82.31%

Woldcam AS Stavanger 100.00% 82.31%

Åsaneposten AS bergen 100.00% 82.31%

Scanpix Scandinavia Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

oÜ Scanpix baltics *** tartu - 100.00%

Schibsted eiendom AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Stålfjæra 5 AnS oslo - 100.00%

Schibsted Forlag AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Katapult bøker AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted Förlag Ab helsingborg 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted Magasiner AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted Sverige Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Aftonbladet hierta Ab Stockholm 91.00% 91.00%

Aftonbladet Kolportage Ab Stockholm 91.00% 91.00%

destinationpunktse Ab Stockholm 100.00% 90.52%

e24 näringsliv Ab (previously Svenska dagbladet executive club Ab) Stockholm 100.00% 99.41%

e24 näringsliv hb Stockholm - 100.00%

hard hat Ab Stockholm - 70.00%

hb Svenska dagbladets Ab & co Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

Jobb 24 hb Stockholm 100.00% 94.31%

K lartpunktse Väderlekstjänst Ab Stockholm 100.00% -

Kundkraft i Sverige Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

lendo Ab Stockholm 97.00% 97.00%

Mediateam bemanning Ab Stockholm 51.00% 51.00%

Mini Media Sweden Ab Stockholm 51.00% 51.00%

Mintur Ab Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

personal Finance Sverige Ab (previously destination redaktionell produktion Ab) Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

priceSpy Media ltd Manukau 70.00% 70.00%

prisjakt Sverige Ab Ängelholm 70.00% 70.00%

resdagboken Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

rörlig bild Sverige Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted centralen Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted Sök Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted tillväxtmedier Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%
Schibsted tillväxtmedier Annonsförsäljning Ab (previously Aftonbladet tillväxtmedier An-
nonsförsäljning Ab) Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

ServiceFinder Sverige Ab (previously Service response europe Ab) Stockholm 69.95% -

Skivklubben Alfa Ab Skara - 46.41%

Suredo Ab (previously lendo development Ab) Stockholm 97.00% 97.00%

Svenska dagbladet Annons Ab Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

Svenska dagbladet digitala Medier Ab Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

Svenska dagbladet distribution Ab Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

Svenska dagbladet holding Ab Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

Svenska dagbladets Ab Stockholm 99.41% 99.41%

tasteline Sweden Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

tVnu Sweden Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Webtraffic norge AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%
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Webtraffic Sverige Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Si Företagstjänster holding Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Si Företagstjänster Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

tesked Ab Varberg 97.98% 92.42%

Mötesplatsen i norden Ab Varberg 97.98% 92.42%

Verdens Gang AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Absolutt Fotball AS oslo - 80.87%

Avisretur AS oslo 50.10% 50.10%

dine penger AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

e24 næringsliv AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Mittanbud.no AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

VG Mobil AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

VG Multimedia AS * oslo - 100.00%

Ada digital Annonsering AS (previously Adwise network AS) *** oslo - 100.00%

e24 international Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

european Media Ventures AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Gratisavisen avis1 AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Media norge Salg AS oslo - 65.85%

Schibsted Multimedia AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted print Media AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted it AS oslo 100.00% -

Schibsted payment AS oslo 100.00% -

trafikkfondet AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

location 2011 2010

media Houses international

20 Min holding AG Zurich 100.00% 100.00%

20 Min international b.V. rotterdam 100.00% 100.00%

20 Minutes online Sl Madrid 99.87% 99.87%

20 Minutos españa S.A. Madrid 100.00% 100.00%

carrie & Serena S.l. Madrid 63.92% -

diario 20 Minutos Sl Madrid 99.87% 99.87%

linea 20 revistas Sl Madrid 99.87% 99.87%

Multiciudad Sl* Madrid - 100.00%

Multiprensa Y M@s S.l. Madrid 99.87% 99.87%

20 Min holding AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

regional independent newspapers north-West Moscow - 79.41%

AS eesti Meedia tartu 100.00% 100.00%

AS Kanal 2 tallinn 100.00% 100.00%

AS Kroonpress tartu 99.90% 99.90%

AS postimees tallinn 100.00% 100.00%

AS Schibsted baltics tallinn 100.00% 100.00%

Järva teataja oÜ * paide - 66.00%

oÜ den za dnjom Kirjastus * tallinn - 100.00%

oÜ Webplanet (previously oÜ Majandusuudised) tallinn 100.00% 100.00%

oÜ Meediasüsteemid tartu 100.00% 100.00%

postimees online oÜ * tallinn - 100.00%

pärnu postimees oÜ * pärnu - 66.00%

Sakala Kirjastus oÜ * Viljandi - 66.00%
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SiA tvnet riga 100.00% -

Soov Kirjastus ou    tallinn 100.00% 100.00%

uAb 15 Minuciu Vilnius 99.90% 99.90%

uAb 15 Minuciu online Vilnius 99.90% 99.90%

uAb ekstra Zinios Vilnius - 98.88%

uAb plius Vilnius 100.00% 100.00%

uAb Zurnalu leidybos Grupe Vilnius 100.00% 100.00%

Valgamaalase Kirjastus oÜ * Valga - 66.00%

Virumaa teataja oÜ * rakvere - 66.00%

Ühinenud Ajalehed AS tartu 66.00% 66.00%

e24 France SAS paris 100.00% 85.00%

Schibsted AG berlin 100.00% 100.00%

location 2011 2010

online classifieds

Finn.no AS oslo 89.88% 81.04%

eiendomsprofil AS bergen 40.58% 36.11%

Finn bil.no AS oslo 89.88% 81.04%

Finn eiendom.no AS oslo 79.56% 70.81%

Finn Foto AS oslo 79.56% 70.81%

Finn Jobb.no AS oslo 89.88% 81.04%

Finn oppdrag AS oslo 89.88% 81.04%

Finn reise AS oslo 89.88% 81.04%

Finn torget AS oslo 89.88% 81.04%

Flytteportalen AS oslo 39.86% 35.48%

penger.no AS oslo 92.92% -

Schibsted classified Media AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

Anuntis chile, S.A. Santiago de chile 76.22% 76.22%

Anuntis perú, S.A.c lima 76.22% 76.22%

Anuntis Segundamano Argentina holdings SA buenos Aires 76.23% 76.23%

Anuntis Segundamano Argentina S.A buenos Aires 76.23% 76.23%

Anuntis Segundamano españa Sl barcelona 76.23% 76.23%

Anuntis Venezuela S.A. caracas - 72.65%

ASM clasificados de México SA de cV Mexico city 76.22% 76.22%

blocket Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

bom negócio Atividades de internet ltda rio de Janeiro 100.00% -

byt bil nordic Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

custoJusto unipessoal, lda lisbon 100.00% 100.00%

donedeal ltd Wexford 50.09% -

editora balcão ltda rio de Janeiro 99.99% 99.89%

editora urbana, ltda. bogotá 68.61% 68.61%

editora Anuntis Segundamano online do brazil ltda Sao paulo 76.22% 76.22%

hebdo Mag brazil holdings bV Amsterdam 100.00% 100.00%

hebdo Mag brazil holdings ltda rio de Janeiro 99.99% 99.99%

infoJobs italia S.r.l Milan 72.89% 72.89%

infoJobs S.A. barcelona 98.50% 98.50%

inmobolsa Factory Sl* barcelona - 76.23%

it competence center S.l barcelona 76.23% 76.23%

Kapaza bV Amsterdam 100.00% 100.00%
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Kapaza! belgium nV brussels 100.00% 100.00%

Kapaza! holding bV Amsterdam 100.00% 100.00%

lbc France, SAS paris 100.00% -

Schibsted chile, SpA Santiago de chile 100.00% -

Schibsted classified Media hellas Mepe Athens 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted classified Media hungary Kft budapest 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted classified Media ireland ltd dublin 100.00% -

Schibsted classified Media nV Amsterdam 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted classified Media Switzerland AG (previously Schibsted classified Media Schweiz AG) Zurich 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted españa S.l. barcelona 100.00% 100.00%

Schibsted ibérica S.l Madrid 100.00% 100.00%

ScM France, SAS paris 100.00% 100.00%

ScM local, SArl paris 100.00% -

ScM northern europe Ab Stockholm 100.00% -

ScM Suomi oy helsinki 100.00% 100.00%

ScM Ventures Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

ScM Ventures bV Amsterdam 100.00% 100.00%

SFi holding AS oslo 96.96% 94.31%

Sibmedia interactive S.r.l. Sibiu 55.00% -

Subito.it S.r.l Milan 100.00% 100.00%

hittapunktse Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

location 2011 2010

other

Sandrew Metronome Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Ab Sandrew-Ateljéerna Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

produktion S. bauman Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Film 86 Kb Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Film 87 Kb Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Film 97 Kb Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Metronome danmark A/S copenhagen 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Metronome distribution Finland oY helsinki - 100.00%

Sandrew Metronome distribusjon norge AS oslo 100.00% -

Sandrew Metronome distribution Sverige Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Metronome international Ab Stockholm 100.00% 100.00%

Sandrew Metronome norge AS oslo - 100.00%

Sandrew Metronome Video Finland oY helsinki 100.00% -

Selskabet af 2/9 1999 ApS copenhagen 100.00% 100.00%

premiärpaketet lance Ab Stockholm - 100.00%

Schibsted Movie AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

location 2011 2010

Headquarters

Schibsted Finans AS oslo 100.00% 100.00%

* Merged with other companies in the Schibsted group.

** in May 2011 Media norge ASA merged with the fully owned Schibsted company Media norge AS.

*** As at 31.12.2011 associated company.
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SCHIBSteD ASA  
InCoMe StAteMent For  
tHe YeAr enDeD 31 DeCeMBer   
(noK million) note 2011 2010

operating revenues 2 47 46

personnel expenses 3  (128)  (121)

depreciation and amortisation 4  (1)  (3)

other operating expenses 5  (131)  (110)

operating profit (loss)  (213)  (188)

Financial income 6  1,631  1,486 

Financial expenses 6  (84)  (48)

net financial items  1,547  1,438 

profit (loss) before taxes  1,334  1,250 

taxes 7  (220)  (156)

profit (loss) 1,114 1,094 
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SCHIBSteD ASA  
BAlAnCe SHeet  
AS At 31 DeCeMBer
(noK million) note 2011 2010

assets

deferred tax assets 7 47 40 

tangible assets and licences 4 6 7 

intangible assets and tangible assets 53 47 

investments in subsidiaries 8 4,817 4,769 

investments in associated companies 8 1,414 1,414 

investments in other shares 8 144 144 

non-current receivables 9 720 719 

Financial assets 7,095 7,046 

non-current assets 7,148 7,093 

receivables 10 2,306 909 

cash and cash equivalents 11 13 20 

current assets 2,319 929 

total assets 9,467 8,022 

eQuitY anD liaBilities

Share capital 108 108 

treasury shares  (1)  (4)

Share premium reserve 1,289 1,289 

other paid-in capital 125 121 

paid-in capital 1,521 1,514 

other equity 5,354 4,094 

retained earnings 5,354 4,094 

equity 13 6,875 5,608 

pension liabilities 14 155 129 

provisions 155 129 

non-current liabilities 9 705 704 

current liabilities 15 1,732 1,581 

total equity and liabilities 9,467 8,022 

oslo, 29 March 2012
Schibsted ASA’s board of directors

ole Jacob Sunde
chairman of the board

eva berneke Anne lise von der Fehr Gunnar Kagge

christian ringnes

Monica caneman

Karl-christian Agerup Marie ehrling

rolv erik ryssdal 
ceo
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SCHIBSteD ASA  
StAteMent oF CASH FloWS  
For tHe YeAr enDeD 31 DeCeMBer
(noK million) 2011 2010

casH FloW From operatinG actiVities

profit (loss) before taxes 1,334 1,250 

depreciation and amortisation 1 3 

reversed previous impairment losses  -  (76)

impairment losses of shares 17 3 

Gain on sale of non-current assets  -  (25)

Share-based payment 4 4 

Group contributions included in financial income  (1,482)  (763)

change in current receivables 111  (22)

change in current liabilities  (2) 18 

difference between pension cost and cash flow related to pension plans 26 10 

other accruals  - 1 

net cash flow from operating activities 9 403 

casH FloW From inVestinG actiVities

purchase of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment  -  (1)

Sale of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment  - 1 

change in non-current receivables  -  (703)

Acquisition of subsidiaries  (587)  (133)

payment of merger receivables  989  - 

Sale of shares  - 302 

net cash flow from investing activities 402  (534)

casH FloW From FinancinG actiVities

change in non-current interest-bearing borrowings  - 703 

change in current interest-bearing borrowings  (135)  (956)

Group contributions received (net) 201 314 

dividends paid  (324)  (155)

purchase / sale of treasury shares  (160) 72 

net cash flow from financing activities  (418)  (22)

net cash flow for the year  (7)  (153)

cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 20 173 

cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 13 20 
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tABle oF ContentS  
noteS to tHe SCHIBSteD ASA  
FInAnCIAl StAteMentS 2011      
All amounts are in noK million unless otherwise stated

note 1: accountinG policies
note 2: operatinG reVenues
note 3: personnel expenses anD man-Years
note 4: propertY, plant anD eQuipment anD licences
note 5: otHer operatinG expenses
note 6: Financial items
note 7: taxes
note 8: inVestments in sHares
note 9: non-current receiVaBles anD non-current 

 liaBilities
note 10: receiVaBles
note 11: casH anD casH eQuiValents
note 12: sHareHolDer structure
note 13: eQuitY
note 14: pension plans
note 15: current liaBilities
note 16: Guarantees anD proVisions oF securitY
note 17: eVents aFter tHe reportinG perioD
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note 1 
ACCountInG polICIeS

the financial statements of Schibsted ASA have been prepared in accordance 
with the provisions of the norwegian Accounting Act and Generally Accepted 
Accounting principles in norway.

revenue recognition 
operating revenues are recognised when the goods are delivered or the service 
rendered. 

classification 
Assets and liabilities related to the normal operating cycle are classified as 
current assets and current liabilities. receivables and liabilities not related 
to the normal operating cycle are classified as current if they are of a short-
term nature, normally due within one year. Shares and other investments not 
intended for continued use or ownership are classified as current assets. other 
assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.

shares
Shares are measured at cost and impairment loss is recognised if the carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable amount. the impairment is reversed if the 
basis for the write-down is no longer present.

Group contributions received are included in financial income provided that 
the Group contribution received does not represent a repayment of capital 
invested. Group contributions that represent a repayment of capital invested 
are accounted for as a reduction in the cost of investments in subsidiaries. net 
Group contributions payable (gross Group contributions less the associated tax 
effect) are included in the cost of investments in subsidiaries. dividends from 
subsidiaries and associated companies are included in financial income. 

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment. property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets with limited economic lives are depreciated 
over the expected economic life. An impairment loss is recognised if the 
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. the recoverable amount 
is the higher of net sales value and the present value of future cash flows 
expected to be generated. impairment losses are reversed if the basis for  
the impairment is no longer present. 

leasing 
leasing agreements are classified as finance leases or operating leases based 
on the actual content of the agreement. Agreements transferring substantially 
all the financial rights and obligations related to the leased object to Schibsted 
are classified as financial. non-current tangible assets held under finance 
lease agreements are recognised in the balance sheet and depreciated over 
the estimated economic life of the asset. the present value of lease payments 
is included in non-current interest-bearing borrowings. the borrowings are 
reduced by the amount of lease payments less the effective interest rate. 
other lease agreements are classified as operating leases and the annual 
leasing fee is charged as a leasing expense. 

Foreign currency 
Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the closing rate at the date of 
the balance sheet. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported in the income 
statement in the lines Financial income and Financial expenses respectively.

trade receivables 
trade receivables are measured at fair value including allowance for bad debt.

treasury shares 
the cost of acquisition and proceeds from sale of treasury shares are offset 
against equity. 

pension cost
pension liabilities related to defined benefit plans are measured at the net 
present value of future pension benefits earned at the balance sheet date 
and calculated on the basis of assumption for, among others, the discount 
rate, expected future wage growth and pension adjustments. plan assets 
are measured at fair value. net pension liabilities related to under-funded 
plans are recognised as provisions, while the net assets of over-funded plans 
are recognised as non-current financial assets. net pension expense, which 
is gross pension expense less the estimated return on plan assets adjusted 
for past service cost and the effects of changes in estimates, are included 
in personnel expenses. changes in pension liabilities due to amendments in 
pension plans are included in net pension expenses over the vesting period or 
immediately if the benefits are immediately vested.

changes in pension liabilities and plan assets, due to changes in and deviations 
from the calculation assumptions, are included in net pension expense over 
the average remaining working lives of the participants for the part of the 
accumulated effect that exceeds 10% of the greater of plan assets or pension 
liabilities. in the case of pensions plans, defined for accounting purposes as 
defined contribution plans, the premiums are recognised as pension expenses 
for the period.

Schibsted ASA use, in accordance with the accepted solution under generally 
accepted accounting principles in norway, the iFrS standard iAS 19 on 
accounting for pension liabilities.

share-based payment 
in equity settled share-based payment transactions with employees, the fair 
value of the employee services and the corresponding equity increase are 
measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. 
the fair value of equity instruments granted is measured at grant date, and 
recognised as personnel expenses and equity increase immediately or over  
the vesting period when performance vesting conditions require an employee 
to serve over a specified time period. 

the estimated number of equity instruments expected to vest are beeing 
remeasured at each reporting date. the amount recognised as an expense is 
adjusted to reflect the number of equity instruments which are expected to be, 
or actually become vested. 

in cash settled share-based payment transactions with employees, the 
employee services and the incurred liability are measured at the fair value 
of the liability. the employee services and the liability are recognised 
immediately or over the vesting period when performance vesting conditions 
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note 3 
perSonnel eXpenSeS  
AnD MAn-YeArS

personnel expenses consist of:

2011 2010

Salaries and wages 80 78

Social security costs 13 15

net pension expense (note 14) 23 18

other personnel expenses 3 4

Share-based payment 9 6

total 128 121

the company has 91 full-time equivalents, including trainees, in 2011. 
note 27 personnel expenses and share-based payment to the consolidated 
financial statements contains further information concerning auditor’s fee and 
remuneration to management, including share-based payment.

note 4 
propertY, plAnt AnD 
 eQuIpMent AnD lICenCeS

equipment, 
 furniture, vehicles  licences

cost as at 1.1.2011  30  4 

Additions  -  - 

disposals  -  - 

cost as at 31.12.2011  30  4 

Accumulated depreciation and 
 amortisation 1.1.2011  (23)  (4)

depreciation and amortisation for the year  (1)  - 

accumulated depreciation and 
 amortisation 31.12.2011  (24)  (4)

carrying amount 31.12.2011  6  - 

depreciation method Straight line Straight line

depreciation period 3–10 years 3–5 years

the depreciation and amortisation for the year include depreciation of leasehold 
improvements of noK 0.2 million. operating lease payments of noK 29 million 
are expensed in 2011 and are mainly leased office premises with a remaining 
lease term of three years with an option to extend for another five years.

require an employee to serve over a specified time period. until the liability is 
settled, the fair value of the liability is revised at each balance sheet date and 
at settlement date, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

restructuring costs
restructuring costs are recognised in accordance with the matching principle 
and therefore expenses not related to revenues in future periods are 
charged to expense when incurred. restructuring costs are incurred when a 
restructuring plan is approved and announced.

taxes
the tax charge is calculated from the profit (loss) before tax and comprises tax 
payable and the change in deferred taxes. deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are calculated in accordance with the liability method without discounting and 
provided for all differences between the carrying amount in the balance sheet 
and the tax base of assets and liabilities, and for unused tax losses. deferred tax 
assets are recognised only when it is expected that the benefit can be utilised 
through sufficient taxable profits from expected future earnings. 

contingent liabilities 
contingent liabilities are recognised when it is more probable than not that the 
liability will become effective. the best estimate of the amount to be paid is 
included in other provisions in the balance sheet. other obligations, for which 
no liability is recognised, are disclosed in notes to the financial statements. 

Dividend
the dividend for the financial year, as proposed by the board of directors, is 
recognised as a liability at 31.12.

statement of cash flows
the statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. cash and 
cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and other monetary instruments 
with a maturity of less than three months at the date of purchase. 

note 2 
operAtInG reVenueS

operating revenues consist of:

2011 2010

operating revenues 47 46

total 47 46

operating revenues consist of consultant fees and income from lease of 
office premises, as well as fees for subsidiaries’ participation in programs for 
management and organisational development.
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note 7 
tAXeS

set out below is a specification of the difference between the profit 
before taxes and taxable income of the year:

2011 2010

profit (loss) before taxes 1,334 1,250 
dividends and tax free group contribu-
tions received  (595)  (628)

other permanent differences 63  (65)

change in temporary differences 25 6

taxable income 827 563 

tax rate 28% 28%

taxes payable and taxes charged to expenses is calculated as:

2011 2010

calculated current taxes 232 158 
current tax payable related to Group 
contributions payable  (225)  (158)

taxes payable 7  - 

taxes payable 7  - 

change in net deferred tax asset  (7)  (2)

tax recognised in equity  (5)  - 
tax related to Group contributions 
payable 225 158 

taxes 220 156 

the net deferred tax asset consists of the following:

2011 2010

temporary differences related to:

property, plant and equipment  (2)  (2)

pension liabilities  (155)  (129)

other current liabilities  (10)  (11)

total basis for deferred tax asset  (167)  (142)

tax rate 28% 28%

net deferred tax liability (asset)  (47)  (40)

effective tax rate is a result of:

2011 2010

profit (loss) before taxes 1,334 1,250 

tax charged based on nominal rate 374 350

tax effect permanent differences  (149)  (194)

taxes recognised in equity  (5)  - 

taxes 220 156 

note 5 
otHer operAtInG eXpenSeS

other operating expenses consist of:

2011 2010

rent, maintenance, etc (note 4) 31 28

office and administrative expenses 20 16

professional fees 46 38

travel, meetings and marketing 34 28

total 131 110

note 6 
FInAnCIAl IteMS

Financial income consists of:

2011 2010

interest income 37 7

Group contributions received 1,482 763

dividends from subsidiaries  - 549

dividends from associated companies 88 17

dividends from other companies 24 48

reversed previous impairment losses  - 76

Gain on sale of shares  - 25

other financial income  - 1

total 1,631 1,486 

reversed previous impairment losses of shares in 2010 relates to Schibsted 
Movie AS. Gain on sale of shares in 2010 relates in its entirety to the sale of SFi 
holding AS to Schibsted classified Media AS. dividends from subsidiaries are 
from Media norge in 2010.

Financial expenses consist of:

2011 2010

interest expenses 47 14
interest expenses cash pool system 
(note 11) 18 29

impairment losses of shares 17 3

other financial expenses 2 2

total 84 48

impairment losses of shares in 2011 relate to 20 Min holding AS and 
trafikkfondet AS. the impairment losses of shares in 2010 relate to 20 Min 
holding AS. interest expenses of noK 33 million in 2011 relate to bond issues. 
other financial expenses relate to foreign exchange losses in 2011 and 2010.
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Market prices are available for shares in polaris Media ASA. the fair value of the 
shares in polaris Media ASA is noK 396 million based on the last market price.

Schibsted ASA has increased its ownership in Media norge AS from 81.94% to 
100%. the increased ownership is a result of a purchase of shares in January 
and in May, the merger of Media norge ASA and nye Media norge AS, where 
Schibsted ASA has 100% ownership. the settlement to the non-controlling 
interests of Media norge ASA was two thirds Schibsted shares and one third cash. 
the total cash consideration to the non-controlling interests was noK 561 million. 
For further information see Group note 4 changes in the composition of the group.

note 8 
InVeStMentS In SHAreS

 ownership % 
31.12.2011  location 

carrying 
amount

shares in subsidiaries

20 Min holding AS 100.00  oslo  - 

Media norge AS 100.00  bergen 1,349

Schibsted eiendom AS 100.00  oslo 142

Schibsted Finans AS 100.00  oslo 392

Schibsted Forlag AS 100.00  oslo 46

Schibsted Movie AS 100.00  oslo 214

Schibsted Multimedia AS 100.00  oslo 2,033

Schibsted print Media AS 100.00  oslo 546

Schibsted Sverige Ab 100.00  Stockholm 67

trafikkfondet AS 100.00  oslo 1

Verdens Gang AS 100.00  oslo 25

Schibsted it AS 100.00  oslo 2

Schibsted payment AS 100.00  oslo -

total 4,817

Group contributions payable to subsidiaries, noK 578 million (net) is 
capitalised as part of investments in subsidiaries.

Group contributions from Media norge AS of noK 800 million is considered to 
represent repayment of capital invested and thus recognised as a reduction in 
the carrying amount of the shares in Media norge AS.  

shares in associated companies
 ownership % 

31.12.2011  location 
carrying 
amount  equity profit (loss)

Finn.no AS 39.87 oslo 1,413 456 364

Svanedamsveien 10 AS 25.00 Kristiansand 1 65 3

total 1,414

other shares

polaris Media ASA 7.10  trondheim 31

polaris Media ASA – agreement with 
continuing financial involvement  trondheim 110

Scanpix Scandinavia Ab 13.32  Stockholm 2

Schibsted Vekst AS 10.00  oslo 1

Schibsted tech polska sp. z.o.o 1.00  Krakow -

total 144

29 September 2011, Schibsted ASA entered into an agreement regarding the sale 
of shares in polaris Media ASA. Schibsted has agreed with the buyers of the polaris 
Media shares that they have a right, but not an obligation, to resell the shares to 
Schibsted at the price between noK 26 and 27, adjusted for dividends. the shares 
may be sold to Schibsted within a period of one month from 29 September 2012.

According to the agreement Schibsted ASA has financial assets and financial 
liabilities representing the rights and obligations Schibsted has towards the 
counterpart. Assets of noK 110 million are included in Financial assets and 
obligations of noK 298 million are included in current liabilities. See note 15 
current liabilities.
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note 11 
CASH AnD CASH  
eQuIVAlentS

total cash and cash equivalents of noK 13 million include noK 0.5 million 
pledged as security for trading on nASdAQ oMX oslo ASA.

Schibsted ASA’s bank account is included in the Schibsted Group’s cash pool with 
danske bank. the cash pool system has been established to contribute to an 
optimal liquidity management for the Schibsted Group. As at 31.12.2011 Schibsted 
ASA had drawn noK 181 million on sub-accounts in the cash pool system, which 
is managed and controlled by Schibsted Finans AS. the overdraft is included as 
current liabilities in the balance sheet. note 9 Financial risk management and note 
18 cash and cash equivalents to the consolidated financial statements contain 
further information concerning financial market risk.

note 9 
non-Current reCeIVABleS  
AnD non-Current lIABIlItIeS

non-current receivables consist of:

2011 2010

receivables from Group companies 700 700

other receivables 20 19

total 720 719

receivables from Group companies are in their entirety loans to Schibsted 
Finans AS. the loan amounts and terms are identical to what Schibsted ASA 
has on the bond loans with norsk tillitsmann ASA.

non-current liabilities consist of:

2011 2010

liabilities Group companies 1 3

bond issues 700 700

other liabilities 4 1

total 705 704

Schibsted ASA issued two unsecured bonds in the norwegian bond market at a 
total of noK 700 million in december 2010. the first loan, iSin no001059325.4 
of noK 300 million will reach maturity in december 2013 and carries an interest 
of 3 months nibor plus 150 basis points. the second loan, iSin no001059326.2 
of noK 400 million will reach maturity in december 2015 and carries an interest 
of 3 months nibor plus 205 basis points.

note 10 
reCeIVABleS

receivables consist of:

2011 2010

current receivables from Group companies 2,291 787

other receivables 15 122

total 2,306 909

other receivables in 2010 include a receivable of noK 90 million from Seb 
enskilda related to a trS-agreement in force at that time related to shares in 
polaris Media ASA.
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number of shares owned by the Board of Directors and the Group 
 management:  

 number of shares 

Karl christian Agerup  11,082 

eva Merete Søfelde berneke  2,125 

Monica caneman  - 

Anne-lise Mørch von der Fehr  201 

Marie elisabeth ehrling  - 

Frank Johan Johansen  312 

Arve Jakobsen  - 

Gunnar Gjerdrum Kagge  226 

hege lyngved odinsen  469 

christian ringnes  135,200 

Øystein robert Marensius Simensen  - 

ole Jacob Sunde  121,244 

rolv erik ryssdal  14,263 

trond berger  20,936 

Sverre Munck  18,539 

Gunnar Strömblad  12,407 

camilla Jarlsby  3,285 

terje Seljeseth  6,891 

didrik Munch  1,793 

total Board of Directors and Group management  348,973 

the total number of issued shares in Schibsted ASA was 108,003,615 and the 
number of shareholders was 5,342, as at 31.12.2011. Foreign ownership was 43 
per cent Schibsted ASA owned 1,061,958 treasury shares at 31.12.2011. the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting has given the board of directors authorisation to 
acquire treasury shares up to 10,800,361 shares (10%). the authorisation was 
renewed at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 13 May 2011 for a period until the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting in 2012. At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 
11 May 2012 the board will present a resolution to extend the authorisation to 
the board of directors for the purchase and disposal of up to 10 per cent of the 
share capital in Schibsted ASA in accordance with the norwegian public limited 
liability companies Act based on the conditions presented in the notification to 
the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.  

note 12 
SHAreHolDer StruCture

the 20 largest shareholders as at 31 December 2011: 

 number of shares  share in % 

blommenholm industrier  28,188,589 26.1%

Folketrygdfondet  9,124,470 8.4%

JpMorgan chase bank, nordea  7,778,536 7.2%

nWt Media AS  4,545,815 4.2%

bank of new York Mellon  3,951,315 3.7%

State Street bank And trust co.  1,768,830 1.6%

Skandinaviska enskilda banken  1,511,290 1.4%

JpMorgan chase bank  1,479,457 1.4%

clearstream banking  1,339,555 1.2%

Shb Stockholm clients Account  1,313,601 1.2%

citibank nA london  1,224,912 1.1%

Shb institutional Sales  1,216,000 1.1%

Schibsted ASA  1,061,958 1.0%

State Street bank And trust  1,056,917 1.0%

bnp paribas Secs Services  1,053,749 1.0%

odin norge  877,571 0.8%

orkla ASA  865,895 0.8%

Montague place custody Services  863,835 0.8%

Verdipapirfondet handelsbanken  720,000 0.7%

Fidelity nordic Fund  658,023 0.6%

total 20 largest shareholders  70,600,318 65.3%

For further information regarding the ownership, see the chapter Shareholder 
information in Schibsted’s annual report.
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note 13 
eQuItY

the development in the company’s equity in 2011 is as follows:

 share capital treasury shares
share premium 

reserve
other 

 paid-in capital other equity total

equity as at 31.12.2010 108  (4) 1,289 121 4,094 5,608
change in treasury shares  - 3  -  - 524 527
Share-based payment  -  -  - 4  - 4

profit (loss)  -  -  -  - 1,114 1,114
dividend  -  -  -  -  (374)  (374)
other  -  -  -  -  (4)  (4)

equity as at 31.12.2011 108  (1) 1,289 125 5,354 6,875

Schibsted ASA’s share capital consists of 108,003,615 shares of noK 1 par value. 
the par value of treasury shares is presented on a separate line within paid-in 
capital with a negative amount. 

no shareholder may own or vote at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting for more 
than 30% of the shares. 

note 14 
penSIon plAnS

the company is obliged to have an occupational pension scheme in accordance 
with the Act on Mandatory company pensions («lov om obligatorisk tjenest-
epensjon»). the company’s pension scheme meets the requirements of the Act.

As at 31.12.2011 the company’s pension plan had 103 members. note 21 pension 
plans to the consolidated financial statements contains further description of the 
pension plans and the principal assumptions applied.

amounts recognised in profit or loss:

2011 2010

current service cost 13 15

interest cost 9 9

expected return on plan assets  (3)  (3)

Actuarial gains or losses recognised 1 3

past service cost  -  (12)

net benefit expense – defined benefit 
plans 20 12
benefit expense – defined contribution 
plans 3 6

net benefit expense 23 18
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note 16 
GuArAnteeS AnD  
proVISIonS oF SeCurItY

2011 2010

Guarantees for loans and drawing 
 facilities on behalf of Group companies 5,368 5,131 
other guarantees on behalf of Group 
companies 261 324 

other guarantees 107 91 

total 5,736 5,546 

noK 2 billion of the total of noK 5.4 billion of guarantees for loans and 
drawing facilities were drawn at the end of 2011. At the end of 2010 a total of 
noK 1.8 billion was drawn.

A guarantee of noK 216 million to danske bank is included in other 
guarantees on behalf of Group companies. the guarantee relates to 
guarantees for tax withholdings and other guarantees, guarantees regarding 
subsidiaries’ unsecured pension liabilities of noK 37 million related to key 
management personnel, as well as a guarantee of noK 8 million to Grensen 
5–7 AS regarding office lease. A parent company Guarantee (pcG) to entra 
eiendom AS was provided by unsecured Schibsted ASA. the guarantee covers 
security for payment of office lease.

other guarantees include a guarantee of noK 97 million to barclays regarding 
primerama S.l’s loan. Guarantees of loans to employees in the Group of noK 5 
million and unfunded pension liabilities of noK 4 million are also included. note 
27 personnel expenses and share-based payment in the consolidated financial 
statements contains further information regarding loans to members of the 
Group management.

note 17 
eVentS AFter tHe  
reportInG perIoD

the board of directors has decided to sell Schibsted Forlag AS and Verdens 
Gang AS to Media norge AS.

amounts recognised in the balance sheet:

2011 2010

present value of funded defined benefit 
obligations 78 62

Fair value of plan assets  (60)  (51)

present value (net of plan assets) of 
funded defined benefit obligations 18 11
present value of unfunded defined bene-
fit obligations 199 141

unrecognised actuarial gains or losses  (62)  (23)

net defined benefit obligation 155 129

Social security tax included in present 
value of defined benefit obligations 27 19

changes in net defined benefit obligation:

2011 2010

As at 1 January 129 119

net benefit expense 20 12

contributions / benefits paid 6  (2)

as at 31 December 155 129

note 15 
Current lIABIlItIeS

current liabilities consist of:

2011 2010

trade creditors 9 7

public duties payable 11 8

dividends accrued 374 324
current liabilities Group company  
(cash pool system) (note 11) 181 316

current liabilities to Group companies 818 587
Financial liabilities related to trS- 
agreements and agreements with 
 continuing financial involvement (note 8) 298 308

taxes payable 7 -

other current liabilities 34 31

total 1,732 1,581 
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DeClArAtIon BY tHe BoArD  
oF DIreCtorS AnD preSIDent 
AnD Ceo

We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the financial statements for the 
period from 1 January to 31 december  2011 has been prepared in accordance 
with applicable accounting standards and gives a true and fair view of the Group 
and the company’s consolidated assets, liabilities, financial position and results 
of operations, and that the report of the board of directors provides a true and 
fair view of the development and performance of the business and the position 
of the Group and the company together with a description of the key risks and 
uncertainty factors that they are facing.

oslo, 29 March 2012
Schibsted ASA’s board of directors

ole Jacob Sunde
chairman of the board

eva bernekeAnne lise von der Fehr

Gunnar Kagge

christian ringnes

Monica caneman

Karl-christian Agerup

Marie ehrling

rolv erik ryssdal 
ceo
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